
 

 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

Thursday, 17 July 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

09.00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Sarah Beasley 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8032 

CELG.committee@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

Private pre-meeting (09.00-09.15) 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2 Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) 

Bill:  Evidence  Session 1: Lesley Griffiths, Minister for Local Government 

and Government Business (09.15-10.45) (Pages 1 - 222)  

Lesley Griffiths AM, Minister for Local Government and Government Business  

Lynne Schofield, Head of the Violence Against Women and Domestic Abuse Team  

Rhys Davies, Lawyer  

3 Papers to note  (Pages 223 - 232) 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for the following business: Items 5 and 6   

5 Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

Bill -  Discussion of evidence and future evidence sessions (10.45-

11.00) (Pages 233 - 236) 

6 Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill: Key Issues (11.00 - 12.00) (Pages 

237 - 267) 



Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
CELG(4)-23-14 Paper 1 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Pack Page 2



Gender-based Violence, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence

(Wales) Bill

Policy intent of regulations and 
other subordinate legislation 

made under the Bill

July 2014

Pack Page 3



2

Contents

Introduction 2

Policy Intent Statements

Directions under section 5 (review of local strategies)- 3

Regulations under section 6 (regarding additional information -
which must be taken into account in preparing local strategies)

5

Directions under section 16 (to secure compliance with guidance -
issued under section 12)

7

Order under section 22 (appointing day for provisions to come-
into force date)

8

Pack Page 4



3

Introduction

This document provides an indication of the current policy intent for 
subordinate legislation and directions which the Welsh Ministers may wish to 
make using the powers in the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill (‘the Bill’) if enacted.

The statements are presented in the order in which the relevant provisions 
appear in the Bill, and all section references within the statements likewise 
relate to section numbers in the Bill, as introduced.

The Bill contains five provisions which provide the Welsh Ministers the power 
to make directions, regulations, orders and guidance. However the guidance 
provision is not referenced in this document as separate draft guidance has 
been provided, indicating the policy intent of the Welsh Ministers.

This document also outlines the Assembly procedure, if any, attached to each 
provision.

This statement should be read in conjunction with the Bill and Explanatory 
Memorandum as published on introduction.

The tables overleaf provide the policy intentions for each of these provisions 
in the Bill. 

Pack Page 5



4

DIRECTION RELATING TO: To review local strategies 
SECTION: 5(3)(b)
DESCRIPTION OF THE POWER

Section 5 places duties on Local Authorities and Local Health Boards as to when 
they must publish and review their local strategies.

Section 5(3)(b), provides the Welsh Ministers the power to direct Local Authorities 
and Local Health Boards to review their strategy.

This power is not subject to any Assembly procedure.

WHY THE POWER IS REQUIRED

Section 5(3)(b) provides the Welsh Ministers with the flexibility to direct Local 
Authorities and Local Health Boards to review their strategy in the event 
circumstances suggest a review should take place, for example in the event the 
Welsh Ministers decide to review the National Strategy.

As it relates to the review of local strategies, the circumstances in which the direction 
would be used may change from time to time. The direction power in the Bill is not 
the subject of any Assembly procedure before it can be exercised. This is to ensure 
the Welsh Ministers have the flexibility to react quickly to changes in circumstances 
ensuring the timely review of strategies at a local level. For example, local 
circumstances could dictate that the strategy of a particular area should be reviewed.

POLICY INTENTION OF THE POWER

The policy intention for the direction power is to allow the Welsh Ministers, on an
occasion when a significant change or event has taken place and the local strategies 
are not due to be reviewed imminently, to direct Local Authorities and Local Health 
Boards to review their strategies with regards to gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse or sexual violence.

An example of when this power could be used would be in the event the Welsh 
Ministers decide a review of the National Strategy was required, possibly following 
an Assembly Election, and it is also decided local strategies should be reviewed to 
take into account the changes to the National Strategy. It could also be exercised 
where a significant issue has arisen in a particular area and the review of the 
strategy could assist in dealing with any particular issue.

It is considered at this time, this is likely to be a direction which will rarely be 
exercised as Local Authorities and Local Health Boards are already under a duty to 
review their strategies after each ordinary election under section 5(2). They also 
have the flexibility of reviewing their strategies themselves at any other time they 
deem appropriate. However, it is still important for this power to be in place when 
required.

Pack Page 6



5

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:

N/A

INTERDEPENDENCIES AND LINKS TO OTHER POWERS/REGULATIONS:

N/A

Pack Page 7



6

REGULATIONS RELATING TO: Power to prescribe additional matters which 
must be taken into account in preparing local 
strategies and to require further assessments 
to be conducted by a Local Authority or Local 
Health Board.

SECTION: 6(2)
DESCRIPTION OF THE POWER

Section 6 outlines a number of matters to which Local Authorities and Local Health 
Boards must have regard in preparing or reviewing their local strategy, including 
needs assessments required under section 14 of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014, and strategic assessments prepared in accordance with 
regulations made under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, relating to 
crime and disorder, substance misuse and re-offending.

Section 6(2) provides the Welsh Ministers the flexibility to prescribe additional 
matters and to conduct further assessments which must be taken into account in 
preparing local strategies.

Before these Regulations come into force they would be laid before the Assembly 
under the negative procedure.

WHY THE REGULATION POWER IS REQUIRED

Section 6(2) provides for the Welsh Ministers to prescribe additional matters or 
further assessments be conducted by a Local Authority and Local Health Board if 
they consider this is required to ensure the full issues on gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence have been considered. Then any further 
information must be taken into account in preparing their local strategy.

It is proposed these regulations are subject to the negative procedure as they will
prescribe technical matter of detail which may change from time to time.

POLICY INTENTION OF THE REGULATIONS

The policy intention for this regulation power is  it would be used if the Welsh 
Ministers decide after Local Authorities and Local Health Boards have considered 
their needs and strategic assessments (undertaken under the regulation powers of 
the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and Crime and Disorder Act 
1998), they were inadequate for the purpose of informing the development of local 
strategies on the issues of gender-based violence, domestic abuse  and sexual 
violence specifically. The Welsh Ministers would, therefore, be able to exercise the 
regulation power in subsection (2) to prescribe additional information or further
assessments be undertaken, if the combination of these needs assessments proves 
insufficient. 

Pack Page 8



7

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:
The arrangements for local needs and strategic assessments are prescribed by the 
following legislation:

Section 14 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; and-
Regulations made under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.-

INTERDEPENDENCIES AND LINKS TO OTHER POWERS/REGULATIONS:

N/A

Pack Page 9



8

DIRECTIONS RELATING TO: In certain circumstances, to direct relevant 
authorities to comply with statutory guidance.

SECTION: 16(2)
DESCRIPTION OF THE POWER

Section 16 (2) gives the Welsh Minister’s power to direct a relevant authority to take 
any action which the Welsh Ministers consider appropriate for the purpose of 
securing the exercise of functions by the authority in accordance with the statutory 
guidance issued to the relevant authority.  

The power can only be exercised if, in relation to a policy statement issued by a 
relevant authority (under section 15 of the Bill), the Welsh Ministers consider the 
authority’s alternative policy for the exercise of functions (in whole or in part) is not 
likely to contribute to the pursuit of the purpose of the Bill.

The Welsh Ministers may direct the relevant authority to take any action for the 
purpose of securing the exercise of functions by the authority in accordance with the 
statutory guidance issued to the authority in accordance with this Act.

This power is not subject to any Assembly procedure.

WHY THE POWER IS REQUIRED

This direction power provides that a relevant authority, subject to a direction under 
this section, must comply with it, and provides the Welsh Ministers with the flexibility 
to react quickly to secure compliance with guidance issued under section 12 where 
appropriate.

POLICY INTENTION OF THE POWER

Using as an example the draft guidance provided for scrutiny, this power could be 
used if a relevant authority chose not to follow an element of the National Training 
Framework as provided by the Welsh Ministers under section 12. For example, a 
relevant authority determined they were not going to undertake level 1 training 
amongst their staff and instead issued a policy statement outlining an alternative 
approach. Unless the alternative approach offered a comparable or better outcome 
in terms of its contribution to the pursuit of the purposes of the Bill, the Welsh 
Ministers could direct the authority to follow the guidance and ensure all staff receive 
level 1 training. For example, if the authority simply issued a policy statement setting 
out their approach was not to train staff, but instead rely on an internal publicity 
campaign, this is unlikely to achieve the outcomes sought. If their alternative 
approach was to undertake a more detailed level of training with all staff, then this 
would achieve more than is sought in the guidance. The intention is therefore to 
ensure compliance with guidance issued under section 12 unless a better alternative 
is proposed.

Pack Page 10



9

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:

N/A

INTERDEPENDENCIES AND LINKS TO OTHER POWERS/REGULATIONS:

Section 12 – Power to issue statutory guidance

Section 14 – Duty to follow the statutory guidance

Section 15 - Policy statements: requirements and ancillary powers

Pack Page 11



10

POWERS RELATING TO: Commencement
SECTION: 22(3)
DESCRIPTION OF THE POWER

Section 22 provides for the commencement of the Bill provisions if the Bill is 
enacted.

Section 22(3) sets out the Welsh Ministers may by order appoint a day for the
coming into force of sections of the Bill not otherwise specified in section 22.

This order will be confined to commencement and is technical in nature, therefore no 
Assembly procedure will be required for this power.

WHY THE POWER IS REQUIRED

This is an order making power which provides the flexibility for the Welsh Ministers
to decide the coming into force date of certain provisions within the Bill where it 
cannot currently be determined when the suitable date would be at this point.

POLICY INTENTION OF THE POWER

This commencement power will be used for sections 2-10, 19 and 20 of the Bill. It 
has not yet been determined when these provisions will come into force after the Bill 
is enacted and therefore the commencement provision provides for the Welsh 
Ministers to provide when they will come into force which will be at a later, 
appropriate date.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:

N/A

INTERDEPENDENCIES AND LINKS TO OTHER POWERS/REGULATIONS:

This Order relates to all the provisions within the Bill which are not specified in 
sections 22(1) or (2).

Pack Page 12



EXAMPLE DRAFT: JULY 2014

Effective multi agency 
collaboration

Guidance on convening and maintaining effective strategic, operational and case-
focused partnerships in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 

sexual violence

Pack Page 13



1

Collaboration between organisations for the purposes of ending gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is a broad, far reaching concept. 

This guidance explores the necessary stages of collaboration and identifies good 
practice in establishing partnership arrangements.1  In order to offer an effective 
impact for those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence collaboration must occur at all levels of organisations- within 
strategic leadership, operational management and amongst those at the 
frontline.

This guidance first outlines the value of multi agency collaboration in relation to 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and the key 
components necessary for effective partnerships.  

The guidance then moves to focus on three types of collaboration: the strategic 
partnership, the operational partnership and multi agency fora.  It then details what 
is required within agencies to deliver on their partnership commitments and embed 
a robust response to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
within their agency.  

Under section 12 the Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to a relevant authority 
on how the authority should exercise its functions with a view to contributing to the 
pursuit of improving arrangements for the prevention of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, improving arrangements for the protection of 
victims and improving the support for persons affected by such violence and 
abuse. 

These relevant authorities, by virtue of section 14 of the Bill, must follow this 
guidance when exercising their functions unless there is good reason for the 
authority not to follow the guidance. If a relevant authority considers there is good 
reason not to follow the guidance it must decide on an alternative policy for the 
exercise of its functions in respect of the subject matter of the guidance. It must 
then issue a policy statement as to how it intends to exercise its functions and the 
reasons for not following the guidance. 

The rest of the guidance is intended to offer explanatory content and 
guidance on good practice in relation to collaborative working and the 

                                               
1 This guidance should be viewed as an early draft only. Scrutiny and further public consultation will 
go towards informing the final version of any guidance issued before the Assembly. This guidance 
is not presented as a final version and should not be read in such a way.  Formal consultation on 
this document is planned and comments on its content will be welcomed through this process.

Within each chapter of the guidance a boxed section indicates the 
guidance which is intended to be issued under section 12 of the Gender-
based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill to 
relevant authorities.  

Pack Page 14



2

forming of multi agency arrangements to tackle gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

The Welsh Government recognises this guidance may be of benefit to 
organisations other than the relevant authorities under section 12 of the Bill. 
The Welsh Government will therefore take steps to actively encourage other 
organisations to consider their role within multi agency fora. This document 
would also be of assistance to any such organisation who are considering 
the creation of a multi agency fora or considering their role in an existing 
fora.

Pack Page 15



3

Contents

Executive summary 4

Introduction 7

Why multi-agency collaboration? 9

Collaborative working in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence  

13

Collaborating strategically 16

Collaborating operationally 20

The role of the organisation representative in collaboration 24

Multi-agency fora for responding to individual cases 27

Project development model for client focussed multi-agency fora 30

Glossary and abbreviations 37

Appendices 40

1. Multi-agency fora operating in Wales today 40

      2.  Resources for building a better multi-agency  
response

45

References
47

Pack Page 16



4

Executive Summary

Violence and abuse in any form is unacceptable. Anyone who experiences 
gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be provided 
with an effective and timely response by relevant authorities. Evidence 
suggests women are more likely to experience gender-based violence and as 
such the guidance acknowledges violence against women is the most prevalent 
form of gender-based violence.

This acknowledgement, however, by no means suggests any victim of such 
violence and abuse should be excluded from accessing the help and support 
they require.  Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
experienced within same sex relationships, between family members and by 
men who are abused by women and, as such, this guidance provides a 
process which is inclusive of all potential victims of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

It is well acknowledged an effective response to gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence requires Multi-Agency collaboration. Those who have 
experienced these issues tell us multi agency responses work because they 
only have to tell the story of their abuse once, they get help the first time they tell 
anyone and they receive the same response from all agencies.
Wales has a long history of innovation and drive in tackling gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence. At a client focussed level, Welsh innovation 
created the MARAC (Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference) model, which is 
now utilised and practiced internationally.  Strategically, we also demonstrate best 
practice in examples of partnerships including the Right to Be Safe Implementation 
Board. 

The Welsh Government wish to develop this strong track record to further 
encourage collaboration between public services to enable a holistic and 
effective response to promoting the safety of individuals at risk.  

A strategic and operational focus

In the consideration of work within a multi agency context it is important to consider 
strategic leadership in partnership and operational collaboration which drives 
progress and ensures effectiveness.  

Partnership work requires communication, meetings and planning in several 
spheres: to develop strategic and operational frameworks and a united care 
pathway for all the strands of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence; to share information and develop coordinated interventions in particular 
cases; and then to monitor the care pathway and review outcomes to develop the 
response.  

Pack Page 17



5

Partners will need to return to their own agencies and be the link between the 
multi-agency collaboration and their own agencies, ensuring their internal 
processes complement and enhance the multi-agency work. Individual agency’s 
involvement in multi-agency work and interventions will need to be supported by 
their own agency’s strategic commitment, operational systems and management.

A victim focus

Given the generally well embedded MARAC model and continued Welsh and UK 
Government support for this work, it is particularly important proven Welsh 
creativity is focussed on integrating and developing responses to those who are 
not identified to be at high risk in order to provide earlier identification and 
prevention based services to those at lower risk. 

Whilst the Welsh Government aims to promote needs led development at a local 
level it is important nonetheless to ensure consistency and quality assurance.  In 
doing so it is crucial partners test their proposals against a series of developmental 
milestones to ensure the proposed model meets its objectives and provides the 
required solution to the identified problem.  Models of multi agency work should not 
be created for their own sake, they must be purpose focussed and effective.

Twelve key components for effective partnership work are recognised in “In Search 
of Excellence: A Guide to Effective Domestic Violence Partnerships”i, based on 
visits to 10 partnerships in England and Wales.  When the original visits were 
undertaken, the partnerships were aimed primarily at tackling domestic abuse.  A 
second tranche of visits have now been completed and the guidance is being 
updated to include insights from these further 30 visits.  The new guidance 
incorporates partnership experiences of expanding to include violence against 
women and girls and the lessons about commissioning gleaned from the local 
authorities visited.

The following outlines the essential components for strategic and operational 
collaboration and will be useful in the consideration of new partnership proposals 
and in reviewing the effectiveness of ongoing partnership work.

Effective partnership working: Good practice:

Pack Page 18



6
Pack Page 19



7

Introduction

For multi-agency fora to be effective, partner agencies need to work together 
strategically and operationally. Information must flow from the frontline, through
operational groups to strategic groups, via effective communication systems, to 
ensure decisions are informed and timely, collaboration is supported and the 
purpose of the collaboration is driven at all levels to improve outcomes for those 
who are experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.

This guidance first outlines the value of multi agency collaboration in relation to 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and the key 
components necessary for effective partnerships.  

The guidance then moves to focus on three types of collaboration: the strategic 
partnership, the operational partnership and multi agency fora.  It then details what 
is required within agencies to deliver on their partnership commitments and embed 
a robust response to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
within their agency.  

Finally, the guidance outlines the four pillars of an effective multi-agency fora
intervention and the process for engagement within an organisation.  When the 
work to end gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is
formulated and embedded in this way, multi-agency fora are more likely to be 
successful in their aims.

1) Strategic partnerships which 
are created to address common 
goals, identified through strategic 
needs analysis. (e.g. Local Service 
Boards). 

2) Operational partnerships which 
ensure the goals agreed at the 
strategic partnership are delivered.  
Those in the operational 
partnership provide leadership and 
direction to those who are 
performing the actions which deliver 
goals.

3) Multi agency fora which bring 
front line professionals together to 
share information to promote the 
safety of those affected by gender-
based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.

Pack Page 20



8

The individuals who will benefit from effective multi-agency work are referred to 
variously as individuals at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, victims, survivors, clients and service-users.  Different partners 
use different words to define their relationship to the person at risk and so the 
guidance reflects this.

It is the aim of the Welsh Government to encourage services which are effective, 
maintained and of a consistently high standard across Wales. Evidence-based 
interventions are key to ensure those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence are getting the most effective services 
possible.

There is evidence showing the value of some interventions, such as those of 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) and the Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC).  For some of the newer innovations such as 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs (MASH), the evidence has not yet been collected 
and analysed, partly because the interventions vary in their focus and practice from 
area to area.  

As areas develop their local responses to gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence, they will need to collate data to identify how they are 
performing and which interventions are best for keeping victims of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence safe in the short and long term.  

Pack Page 21



9

Why multi agency collaboration?

Multi-agency partnerships, collaboration and robust information sharing processes 
are considered essential for an effective response to those experiencing gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  Wales has long shown 
innovation and drive in tackling gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, both at an operational level where partnership working developed such 
interventions as MARACs (Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conferences) and 
strategically; the Welsh Government’s ‘Right to be Safe Strategy’. 

This section outlines the evidence base for a collaborative response to gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence to support the improvement 
of work in this area. 

Improved effectiveness  
To improve victims’ safety, a number of agencies need to be involved.  Safety in 
Numbers2, a study of the work of Independent Domestic Violence Advisors 
(IDVAs) in 7 locations and with more than 2,000 victims of domestic abuse, found 
the intensity of support (number of contacts with an IDVA) and the number of 
interventions (provision of services and support by other agencies) correlated to 
reductions in the severity and frequency of abuse. So, with more contact and a 
greater variety of support, victims experienced abuse less often and it was less 
severe.3  The study also found victims needed not only specialist IDVA services, 
but a ‘model of continuing safety’ to address the many needs which develop over a 
period of abuse4.    

The types of intervention which were engaged and the frequency of the use of 
each are seen in the following table5.

Pack Page 22



10

This illustrates the variety of support and help those suffering domestic abuse may 
need to reduce the harm they face. This is also likely to be true for victims of 
gender-based violence and sexual violence.

Better protected children and vulnerable adults
In research by CAADA6 on the work of MARACs with IDVAs, two-thirds of victims 
had children living in or visiting the home where domestic abuse was taking place.  
Most of these children were under 5 and had been living with abuse for most of 
their lives.  On average it took victims with children a year longer to access support 
than those without children. Children who live with gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence are at increased risk of behaviour problems 
and emotional trauma, as well as mental health difficulties in adult life7.

By designing a more complete response to people suffering gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, the need for help should be 
identified earlier and more resources mobilised to help, enabling a quicker,
bespoke response to victims and their children.  An earlier response should reduce 
the harm suffered by victims and their children and reduce the number of 
interventions needed to enable victims and their children to be safe.  It should also 
allow for earlier interventions to address perpetrators’ behaviour.

Vulnerable adults often have regular access to services.  Their reliance on these 
services and the carers who provide them may increase their risk of abuse and 
make them less likely to disclose abuse of any form.  This is an under-researched 
area, but a study found 50% of disabled women in the UK may have experienced 
domestic abuse in their lives8.  A multi-agency approach will allow for the greatest 
possible input to create an appropriate response for these victims of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

Improved outcomes for those with complex needs: substance misuse and 
mental health
Domestic abuse and other abuse is the most prevalent cause of depression and 
other mental health difficulties in women9 and results in self-harm and suicide rates 
among survivors which are at least four times higher than the general female 
population.10

Where victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
suffer from mental health problems – whether as a result of the abuse or where the 
mental health problems make them more vulnerable – psychological interventions 
are unlikely to improve their lives without addressing the abuse or violence, 
assessing risk and helping clients to be safe. The psychological impact of the 
abuse also needs to be acknowledged in the therapy. At the time of writing, in 
Wales, 70% of MARACs have regular mental health attendance which provides an 
invaluable additional resource when planning actions for service users. 

The link between problematic substance misuse and abuse has been established 
through a number of studies.  Research has shown women who have experienced 
abuse against women are 5.5 times more likely to be diagnosed with a substance 

Pack Page 23



11

use problem over their lifetime11 and a perpetrator’s chronic use of alcohol or drugs 
is a risk factor when assessing the risk to domestic abuse victims.  

In some areas, the issues of substance misuse, mental health and gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence continue to be addressed 
separately.  In the Home Office’s review of Domestic Homicide Reviews, one of the 
common themes was the need to raise awareness and understanding of how best 
to work with those suffering abuse who also have mental health or substance 
misuse needs.12  An approach which combines the expertise of specialists in 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and in substance 
misuse work, mental health professionals, and other agencies is needed. 
  
A consistent response to individuals at risk 
Regardless of the agency or professional a victim or perpetrator approaches first, 
they should get the same response.  All agencies should give victims the same 
messages: gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are not 
tolerated, the victim is not at fault, and there is help available.  

The same messages can be publicised through awareness-raising campaigns, in 
public offices, to staff and to victims when they disclose. This Bill is a step towards 
a culture change where gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence are as unacceptable as child abuse.  Only by working together to 
harmonise processes and responses can these messages be reliably consistent, 
giving victims’ confidence in the response they will get.

Reduced, shared costs 
The work of Sylvia Walby has helped improve the understanding of the costs of 
domestic violence.  In her original research (2004), she identified the total cost to 
England and Wales of domestic violence.  In 2009 she updated this work and, 
based on this research and population-based estimates, the costs of domestic 
violence in Wales was estimated to be £303.5 million annually - £202.6 million for 
service costs and £100.9 million in lost economic input.  

In the later research, she found the total cost of domestic violence had fallen by 
£23 billion to around £16 billion per year.  She found the reduction in costs had 
been partly a result of the development and increased use of public services, 
showing investment in public services’ responses had been cost effective.13

Better information and improved planning
For a number of strands of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, e.g. FGM and “honour”-based violence, under-reporting has resulted in 
unreliable statistics which make it difficult to assess through a needs analysis.  
With increased awareness and more developed responses from all public bodies 
to these issues, the evidence base will be stronger and inform better planning and 
improved services.

Pack Page 24



12

Shared responsibility  
By working together to address gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, partner agencies will be aware of the changes in other services 
which affect the care pathway. By working together, changes can be flagged, 
publicised and addressed so victims do not fall through the cracks when services 
reduce, expand, or change their remits.  This close working will enable the 
partnership to manage any growth, reduction or changes in services so the overall 
outcomes continue to be realised.

Identification of and a response to service-generated risks  

A problem with multi-agency work which is often unnamed and unaddressed is that 
of ‘service-generated risks’14 or ‘intervention-generated risk’15.  This describes 
occasions when the systems or practice of professionals creates or increases the 
perpetrator’s risk to the client, or creates additional obstacles for the client.  By 
working together and including a step in planning which asks whether the actions 
intended will increase the perpetrator’s risk or difficulties the client faces, the 
partnership can ensure they are working with a more complete picture of the
victim’s risk.

Identifying a service-generated risk is not a reason to step back from action, but 
should prompt agencies to safety plan further in an individual case and to address 
and alter any structures which regularly generate such risks. 

This term arose in the course of understanding where multi-agency work around 
domestic abuse can go wrong, but will apply to all structures around any form of 
gender-based violence and sexual violence. 

Value of collaboration to victims
People who have experienced gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence identify the value of partnership work to them include the following:

 they only have to tell the story of their abuse once;
 they get help the first time they tell anyone;
 they receive the same response from all agencies;
 they obtain support to navigate the different rules and criteria for different 

agencies; and  
 they are led, through a route map, to safety and a better, more equal, 

life. 

A victim’s understanding it is their right to be free of fear and abuse is 
confirmed when they get the same, consistent response everywhere.  They 
understand their community and the services which support it are working to 
ensure those rights.

Pack Page 25



13

Collaborative working in relation to gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.

Collaborative work in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence is often focussed on multi agency fora which bring organisations 
together to support and case manage those at risk.  This is a fundamental and 
requisite element of an effective response to those at risk and this guidance will 
outline how such fora should be developed and maintained.  However, client 
facing, multi agency fora only work when led strategically and when monitored 
and governed by operational groups.  Only when a combined and co-ordinated 
response is delivered across the public service do victims of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence receive a response which is 
consistent, effective and sustained.

Where does the partnership sit?
Local areas will need to determine where partnerships on gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence sit within the local government 
framework.  Any partnership will need robust connections to Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, Adult Safeguarding, the Community Safety Partnership, 
Health and Well-being Boards, the Local Service Board and the Supporting 
People Regional Collaborative Committee.  Strategic partners will need to 
understand how gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence fit 
into all the other agendas and ensure partners on those boards see the 
connections too.

A strategic group planning and 
monitoring a considered vision to end 

gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence

An operational group who drive forward the 
actions resulting from the strategic vision and 

who monitor and trouble shot issues or 
escalate to strategic group as necessary.

Multi agency fora with clear purpose and remit to 
intervene with families to improve the risk, safety and 
wellbeing of those directly affected by gender-based 

violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence

C
om

m
itm

en
t f

ro
m

 a
ll 

re
le

va
nt

ag
en

ci
es

Linked to other 
strategic boards and 

partnerships

R
ob

us
t c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
flo

w
 b

et
w

ee
n 

ea
ch

 le
ve

l

Placed appropriately within local government or health 
board frameworks (e.g. Community Safety 
Partnerships)

Pack Page 26



14

A common weakness in such partnerships is they mirror statutory boards by 
focusing on statutory obligations and the activities they directly fund.  They often 
ignore activities and contributions which they do not fund or control.  The 
provision of services for victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence has, for decades, been delivered by the specialist sector and 
these organisations have developed an expertise which should be fundamental 
to this partnership work.  All the services and agencies which work with victims 
and perpetrators in any capacity, devolved, non-devolved, publicly-funded or 
specialist sector, should be part of the partnership at some level.  By creating 
this broad partnership, all the services will link up and complement each other, 
providing a comprehensive service for those experiencing gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

Who are partners?  
Strong partnership work goes beyond the relevant authorities, set out within the 
Bill- all services, whether devolved, statutory, non-statutory or voluntary are 
needed. Core partners, required for a robust response to gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence  are the Police, Children’s Social 
Services, Adult Social Services, the Probation Services, Housing, Mental 
Health, Substance Misuse Services, Education, Health Services (A&E, NHS 
trusts, Welsh Ambulance Trust, Maternity Services, GPs) Youth Services, Flying 
Start and Team around the Family co-ordinators and the specialist sector.

Particular partners have, to date, been identified as having a duty to participate 
in specific multi-agency work, e.g. Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) and Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs).   

The role of the specialist sector

Multi-agency forum work should involve the specialist sector. The sector 
provides specialists in the different strands of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence and they understand, through their work with clients, 
where the obstacles in the systems lie.  They can provide the experience of the 
victim to any multi-agency group. 

Where the specialist sector agencies have been commissioned to do so, they 
are delivering the partnership’s strategic aims.  Outside of centralised and local 
funding streams, specialist sector agencies will also identify additional needs 
within the community they work with.  To do this they will often undertake 
independent fundraising, contributing to the amount of money spent on gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence locally and increasing local 
provision.  

Given this contribution and the innovation often demonstrated by the specialist 
sector it is crucial for partnerships to collaborate carefully in planning.  
Consistent provision is key, as is joint enterprise towards clear outcomes. 

The wheel shows the partners necessary for a coordinated community response 
to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

Pack Page 27



15
Pack Page 28



16

Collaborating strategically

Strategic partnerships are created to address common goals linked to particular 
community need.  These goals are best identified through strategic needs 
analysis such as those carried out by the Local Service Boards (LSBs). 

Those who sit on a strategic partnership group to target gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence will, ideally, be the Directors and Chief 
Executives of their organisations, Chairs of the operational group and particular 
sub-committees or task and finish groups.  They need to have the authority in 
their own organisation to connect the work of any partnerships with their own 
local strategy on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
(for local authorities and Local Health boards, these will be the local strategy 
required under the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Bill) so they reflect, complement and enhance each other.  
They need to provide leadership within the partnership and their organisation 
and clear any systemic barriers to delivering the goals of this group.

The membership of this group should include the core partners required to 
deliver a gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence response 
including devolved, non-devolved and specialist sector organisations to ensure 
this group has the widest possible perspective and range of information.  

The requirements of strategic collaboration
At the outset it is important there is agreement and clarity on what partners 
agree is the basis for their collaboration, what the commitment entails and how 
accountability will be managed. This is often best outlined in a memorandum of 
understanding or similar document.

It will also be useful to create and agree a workable partnership structure with 
reporting systems and regular service-user input.

Relevant authorities are required to:

Engage in strategic partnerships focussed on gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Ensure the representative of the relevant authority at such partnerships is 
authorised to act and make decisions on behalf of their organisation.

Deliver and be accountable for actions and responsibilities identified 
through any established partnerships.

Ensure, where appropriate, any collaborative work and actions are reflected 
in local strategies.

Pack Page 29



17

Determination of strategic aims
The Welsh Government will publish guidance on preparing a gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence strategy.  A short overview is 
provided here.

Local authorities and Local Health Boards will undertake a needs analysis under 
section 14 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 which will
identify services and activities required by the local population area. Further, the 
results of strategic assessments undertaken under regulations made under the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 will also be taken into account.   

Both local authorities and Local Health Boards should have identified 
responsibilities within their local strategy under the Bill which are monitored, 
reported on and analysed by both authorities.  They will need to agree a 
common, integrated set of outcomes and a joined-up data set to inform their 
oversight of the delivery of the strategy.

The needs assessments and work in preparing local strategies will inform local 
authorities and Local Health Boards as to what collaboration is required to 
address any identified needs. 

Evidence gathering and outcomes monitoring

This work will require the development of a coherent set of data which monitors 
the care pathway and reveals whether the strategic objectives are being met.  

Partners will need to distinguish between monitoring data and outcomes.  Data
from along the care pathway will need to be monitored to see if there is a 
significant change along the way.  For instance, the journey from reporting a 
crime to successful prosecution has many places where data and information 
can be collected to review the process.  The processes will need to work to get 
the outcomes for individuals but are not outcomes in themselves.  

Outcomes tell us whether individuals at risk of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence are being made safer.  This is a challenging area for 
partner agencies and one where regional and national collaboration will be vital.  
Outcomes should always include information from service users.

Fora which are developed to meet the needs of this client group should be
gathering and providing data to assess the impact of this work for victims and 
thus the strategic aims.

Embedding gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
into all agendas
Strategic partners will be expected to champion gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence work and service provision on other Boards 
and ensure this work is linked to other agendas. The strategic partnership will 
create accountability (where appropriate) and communication mechanisms to 

Pack Page 30



18

other strategic boards, e.g., Local Service Board, Local Safeguarding Boards, 
the Wales Anti-Slavery Leadership Group16.  It will be important to ensure 
strategic drives and initiatives complement each other and any conflicts or 
duplication are spotted and resolved quickly. 

There will also be benefit in regional communication to share learning and in 
doing so; provision for those at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence and responses to those who perpetrate these abuses will 
be unified.  This may also enable maximised use of resources.  Partners should 
look to link to emerging regional leadership structures such as the Gwent ‘G7’, 
the Cwm Taf Collaboration Board and the North Wales Regional Leadership 
Board.

Funding
A particular challenge for strategic partnerships is to ensure funding is sourced 
to deliver the strategic aims of the group and it is spent according to the 
identified need and objectives.  They will also identify and secure funding to 
support Multi Agency fora with administrative support, data-collection, and 
analysis.  It will be their task to identify and secure long-term funding for 
successful Multi Agency fora interventions.

There has been a move to commissioning gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence services over the last few years and further interest 
in the benefits of joint commissioning.  Pooling of funds offers opportunity to 
avoid duplication of services, ensure value for money and efficiency, develop 
coordinated services and share best practice, expertise and intelligence about 
needs.  This is a challenging area for partners but can maximise the impact of 
their contributions.  

Cost-benefit analyses can help to identify the agencies which will benefit most 
from an investment.  As a starting point, an estimated cost for each local 
authority area is available. 17  It breaks costs down for physical and mental 
health care, criminal justice, social services, housing and refuges, civil legal 
services, and lost economic output, as well as human and emotional costs. 
Some authorities have gained an additional perspective on their partnership by 
working from an overview which included the investment specialist sector 
organisations were making into local provision through their own fund-raising 
activities and money provided by grant-making trusts.  In one area, that was as 
high as 30% of the investment locally.   

Funding will need to reflect the local need and geography, such as the cost of 
delivering in a rural area, and the particular needs of different populations.  
Commissioners will also need to work with providers and partners to determine 
whether needs around the lesser-developed strands of gender-based violence
and sexual violence are best met through funding training for existing services 
or commissioning new, dedicated services.

When commissioning services, the partnership should consider the expertise 
and structure offered within existing public services and the value added by 
specialist organisations.

Pack Page 31



19

One of the hidden costs of providing specialist services is the loss of provision 
through short funding cycles where time and money is lost through reapplying 
and adapting services to changing specifications.  When commissioning 
services, partners should acknowledge these difficulties for services and seek to 
minimise them by, for example, being as transparent as possible, streamlining 
the process where this can be achieved and reviewing and lengthening funding 
cycles, if feasible. 

Specialist sector innovation

As noted, in strong partnerships, the specialist sector is funded to deliver 
specific services and also continues to fund-raise to launch projects which, if 
successful, will meet the further needs of their service-users.  The strategic 
partnership can support such services to apply for such external funding and
thereby increase local provision. 

By alerting the partnership to these new ventures and involving them in the 
planning, such pilots can be supported through referrals and local partnership 
recommendations, as well as feedback.  They can also ensure innovation
contributes to local strategic direction. The partnership will gain additional 
services which are influenced by the partnership’s aims and an idea of the 
services they might commission in the future.

Accountability
Partnership work requires a level of commitment and engagement to this 
agenda which may be new to some – a commitment which means partners may 
hold them and their agency accountable, for instance, for the following:

 engaging at the right level, that is, ensuring their organisation engages 
with partnership groups – strategic, operational or Multi Agency fora –
and t those attending have the authority to speak for their organisation on 
those issues;

 participating in appropriate multi-agency work;

 providing leadership to adapt own agencies’ work practices to prioritise 
the safety of those suffering gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence improve agency responses, and eliminate service-
generated risks;  

 keeping the group informed of relevant matters;

 contributing to the agreed common integrated data set which contributes 
to the partnership understanding of local need and provision;

 providing funding, where appropriate; and 

Pack Page 32



20

 working with partners and supporting the work of the Ministerial Adviser 
to raise awareness and to monitor, coordinate and improve provision and 
practice.

Pack Page 33



21

Collaborating operationally

An operational multi-agency partnership ensures the issues of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are being addressed.  Those in 
the operational partnership provide leadership and direction to those who are 
performing the actions which ensure those issues are being addressed.  They 
are Heads of Services or are at Assistant Director level who understand the 
practical implications of the strategic aims. 

This group will mirror the strategic group in membership, utilising the expertise 
of specialist gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
services to achieve any identified strategic objectives. 

The operational partnerships are likely to have responsibility for the following:

Creation of a Care pathway

The partnership will need to ensure multi-agency protocols and procedures are 
in place to support multi-agency work and hold organisations to account.  In 
particular, the operational partnership will ensure there is a care pathway for all 
partners to use for those suffering gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.  This care pathway should include local and national service 
provision and existing arrangements for further information and guidance for 
staff.

Fundamental to this work is an agreed information-sharing protocol between 
partners.  Guidance on information sharing will be published by the Welsh 
Government.
Creating and driving an action plan which meets the strategic aims
The operational partnership should collaborate to deliver the strategic aims 
through an action plan and address any problems which arise, escalating 
concerns to the strategic group where they cannot be resolved.  The agencies
collaboration should be solution focussed and identify and address any service-
generated risks.

Relevant authorities are required to:

Engage in operational partnerships focussed on gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Ensure the representative of the relevant authority is authorised to act and 
make decisions on behalf of their organisation.

Identify other relevant bodies with which you should collaborate to deliver 
the strategic aims and address any problems which arise.

Gather, analyse and monitor all performance information against the aims 
of any established partnerships.

Pack Page 34



22

The operational group must understand how and where the existing processes 
need to change to include gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence responses and identify when the action plan is slipping behind 
schedule or where it is not meeting the strategic aims. 

All partners should have actions in the plan and partners should hold each other 
to account for the delivery of their part of the plan. When circumstances or 
outcomes require a change to the action plan, this group should be well-
positioned to propose an alternative method of achieving the same outcome.

Overseeing multi-agency fora
The operational group will oversee multi-agency responses to ensure they 
further the aims of the strategic group. 

This group will be able to support fora by identifying those with a duty to 
participate, i.e. professionals in relevant agencies which are involved with an 
individual and/or have a professional interest or potential professional interest in 
any individual who is the subject of a multi-agency forum.  The operational 
group can assist in ensuring the forum has the appropriate engagement and 
membership – from devolved agencies and relevant non-devolved and specialist
sector organisations.  The operational group should monitor attendance and 
highlight any consistent absences for the attention of the strategic group. 

The operational group can also link related fora, for instance, they can ensure  
the processes and protocols of local multi agency fora complement one another 
and link both into a wider care pathway.

Enabling voices within the partnership
To address new issues, smooth the care pathway or bring particular voices into 
the partnership, the operational group may, where necessary, create task and 
finish groups or standing sub-groups or committees as required. A task and 
finish group might be asked to review existing fora against identified needs.  
Such a group could report on how an existing multi-agency forum might be 
adapted to address a wider client group, or review the need for a new forum.  A 
task and finish group might also be formed to review existing services against 
the new action plan.  It is likely such groups will have a clear objective and will 
be time limited.

Standing sub-groups of such operational partnerships may include the following: 
• MARAC Steering Committee – this group oversees the MARAC process, 

ensures accountability of the participating agencies, promotes 
sustainability, and demonstrates it is a process which delivers equality 
and outcomes for victims

Pack Page 35



23

• Health sub-group – for health services to address common issues 
together and provide a strong health voice in the gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence partnership. A common theme in 
DHRs is the need for improved training and awareness on domestic 
abuse for GPs and healthcare professionals.18

• Criminal Justice sub-group – to ensure the courts’ systems are 
responsive to the particular needs of this client group and deliver the best 
possible service for this client group.  This group might also gather and 
report on the criminal justice outcomes for this client group.

• Specialist Advisory Group – this is a group of those delivering specialist 
services directly to victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence This group will be composed of commissioned and non-
commissioned services and work to ensure the care pathway runs 
smoothly for all victims, spotting and addressing any gaps in and 
between services early.  They can share and develop best practice and 
provide expertise to the partnership.

• Service-user groups - for empowering those who have needed the 
services and gathering input from them about how to improve those 
services. Service users can tell providers and funders where the money 
is best spent. The Welsh Government provided funding in 2013-14 to set 
up regional service user groups and issued best practice guidance, in 
September 2013, on how to establish such groups.

Monitoring performance
The operational group should gather information from frontline practice and 
ensure issues are resolved at the right level and systems are adapted as 
required to meet the goals.  They will identify and promote good practice.  

The operational group should gather, analyse and monitor all performance 
information against the action plan. They can also review performance to ensure 
funds are being used in the best way.  They can assess if the training partners 
have received has led to better engagement of service-users, or increased 
identification and referrals, for instance. 

The operational group will also see where issues may require developing 
processes and practices with neighbouring regions or partnerships.  For 
instance, the MARAC may want to make a referral to a neighbouring MARAC 
and transfer information there, partners may want intelligence on serial 
perpetrators from another area or the partnership may want to establish a 
referral route to a specialist organisation which is constituted to serve a different 
area or region.  

The following are examples of several basic monitoring questions the 
operational partnership may ask and the significance of them:

• is the value of training reflected in more disclosures and referrals? If not, 
are partner agencies supporting staff to ask and respond to disclosures?

Pack Page 36



24

• do the number of disclosures and referrals reflect the expected number, 
based on population? If not, how can it be made easier for people to 
disclose?

• do the number of people accessing specialist services correlate to the 
number of people referred?  If there is a significant drop in numbers 
between those referred and those seen by specialist services, the people 
at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
not getting the response they need to be safe. 

Informing and reporting to the strategic group
The operational group ensures the strategic group gets the information it needs 
to make decisions, changes and improvements. It reports on the delivery of the 
action plan, and flags any deviation from the plan. The performance measures 
are analysed and provided to the strategic group with comments and 
recommendations. The operational group should highlight areas which require 
strategic intervention to resolve.  
The operational partnership should provide not only data, but case studies, 
service user input, and knowledge of issues identified and resolved. The 
operational group may also propose adaptations to the action plan when 
circumstances or outcomes suggest a different approach might be needed to 
meet the strategic aims of the partnership.

Pack Page 37



25

The role of the organisation representative in collaboration
Collaborative working goes beyond attendance at meetings and fora.  When 
partners return to their own organisations, they have a responsibility to carry on the 
work of the partnership and ensure their agencies’ work reflects the collaborative 
goals.

The principles of representing an organisation well in partnerships are similar 
whether the partnership is strategic or operational. In each partnership group, 
individual partners are the voice of their agency, identifying where their own 
agencies’ objectives support and add to the partnership objectives, where working 
together improves the effect and makes the links to other strategies.

Partner agencies may wish to appoint a gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence lead to oversee the agency’s efforts and provide strategic 
drive within the organisation.

Leadership
Organisational representatives will need to provide leadership and use their 
influence with colleagues and staff to make gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence core business, by encouraging and training frontline 
professionals to ask service users about their experiences, by requiring managers 
to support staff to do this and by gathering information to analyse and reflect on the 
agency’s work in this area.  They will need to develop internal policies and 
procedures, clearly outlining their organisation’s expected approach and 
commitment.19

The representative will also need to lead in developing information-sharing 
protocols in line with the WASPI framework.  For some partner agencies, these 
protocols may require a change in culture and understanding of their 
responsibilities to services users.  Such changes will need to be introduced with 
thought and care so staff confidence is not undermined. 
The strategic leaders should act on behalf of the partnership within their 
organisations by:

 committing to active participation in partnership at all levels;
 incorporating gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence

work into their internal performance management systems;
 ensuring their own agency has an internal care pathway for victims of 

gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence which links to 
the partnership one;

 ensuring pursuit of their own organisation’s strategic aims do not obstruct
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence goals; and

 problem-solving with partners to clear the care pathways.

Pack Page 38



26

Responsive systems

Partners in both operational and strategic collaboration will need to build 
responsive systems within their own organisations to ensure the goals of the 
partnership are met.  
These will include reviewing the National Training Framework and ensuring 
appropriate, recognised training is provided for staff.  Partners should consider 
requiring continuing professional development through multi-agency training on 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence for all staff who come 
into contact with the public. 
Partners will need to reinforce the training staff receive with internal discussions 
and training on internal processes.  This will include identifying a confidential space 
in which to “Ask and Act”.  For organisations which have been identified as hosting 
the priority professions for ‘Ask and Act’, strategic partners will need to oversee the 
development of this change in practice. Separate guidance on ‘Ask and Act’ has 
been published by the Welsh Government.
Every local authority and local health board has a workplace policy for violence 
against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence which should outline the 
support offered to those at risk and address behaviours of staff perpetrating these 
issues. This is good practice and other partner agencies should follow this lead.20   

Partners should ensure their employment practices universally support staff who 
disclose abuse by acting to keep staff safe at work and supporting them to stay 
safe outside work.21 Staff should be briefed on this and this message should be 
repeated to staff regularly.

Monitoring performance
Performance data will be vital in the work to improve services.  It will also be 
essential information for the partnership to have and combine with data from other 
partner agencies to understand the whole picture of what is being achieved 
through collaboration.

All partners should regularly review their gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence work to identify areas which are working well or which require 
improvement.

Partners will need to create internal systems for recording and sharing information 
with partner agencies as part of fora work, but they may also need to expand their 
systems to accommodate their work in support of the action plan and any further 
contributions they are making to help those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Partners should collect data which reflects their work along the care pathway, for 
example, the number of people who were asked about gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, the number who disclosed, number of safety 
plans created, number of people referred and to which service.  

Pack Page 39



27

Partner agencies may also contribute data as evidence of outcomes, for example, 
the reduction in clients’ risk or perpetrators successfully prosecuted.

All this information should be gathered and used within agencies to inform and 
improve their services, as well as providing it to their partners.  Partner agencies’ 
own performance management indicators should include ones associated with this 
work.

Within their own agency, strategic partners will also need to commit resource to 
facilitate the strategic goals. This may include funding for training staff, as well as 
ensuing they have time to participate in such learning.  Partners will need to 
ensure the training they provide fits the National Training Framework.

Supports the work of multi agency fora
All partners who have contact with people at risk of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence and have information to share should 
contribute to multi agency fora.  These fora are formed to share information and 
promote the safety of individuals at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence.

For staff to participate appropriately with these fora, their agency will need to: 
• identify a person with responsibility for engaging with the forum; 
• determine what relevant information and data the agency has to share;
• align internal data protection policies and forum information-sharing policies 

and processes;
• decide how and by whom information will be extracted from the system for 

this work and how any information gained through the forum will be 
recorded and stored;

• update internal systems to meet these new responsibilities, e.g. by creating 
the capacity to flag a file or adding a new field in an electronic system to 
allow a particular search;

• ensure staff attending the forum are the right level and have appropriate 
information;

• feed the results of the forum process back into own systems to enhance the 
quality of the agency’s work with people at risk of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence; and

• include a review of this process and its impact on the work of the agency as 
part of performance reviews of the work and staff participating.

Pack Page 40



28

Multi agency fora for responding to individual cases

Relevant authorities are required to:

Look at existing collaborative arrangements in relation to gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and seek to make the best 
use of these.

Where an existing fora is not in place, collaborate with other relevant 
authorities to consider their response to those victims of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  This will be particularly 
necessary in relation to those who are not identified as at high risk of 
imminent, serious harm to intervene earlier and identify potential 
escalation.

In considering whether to establish any new multi-agency fora, a relevant 
authority must follow the Project development model for client focussed 
multi agency fora (outlined below) to ensure it is monitored for purpose, 
effectiveness and outcome.

In relation to existing fora, established locally to tackle gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence relevant authorities are 
required to:

Ensure systematic methods of identifying clients who require a multi 
agency response is implemented throughout the organisation and this 
process replicates and compliments other relevant authority processes and 
the process of the fora.

Ensure this identification leads to appropriate referrals by publishing and 
publicising the referral criteria for the Multi Agency fora to staff teams 
regularly.

Ensure participation in a referral pathway to specialist gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence service providers to ensure 
all identified victims have access to specialist support.

Sign up to any local Information Sharing Protocols to ensure legal and 
appropriate information sharing through the forum.  

Take steps to increase staff confidence in information sharing and to 
publicise the purpose of the information sharing protocol.

Pack Page 41



29

In order to provide a comprehensive response to those experiencing gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence it is important all relevant authorities 
contribute and attend local multi agency fora which facilitate information sharing 
and promote the safety of individuals at risk.  

These fora are particularly valuable, as noted above, for addressing many aspects 
of clients’ lives: the harm they face, the harm their children face, the systems they 
must negotiate to get help, as well as personal vulnerabilities which heighten their 
risk.  A primary purpose of these meetings is to share information and work 
together to support victims and identify perpetrators to bring them to justice.

An active commitment to these fora requires the agencies involved and the boards 
they are part of to integrate the work of these groups into their internal structures, 
accountability mechanisms and data collection systems, as outlined above.

As partner agencies benefit from training and are able to identify victims of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence more readily through a 
process of ‘Ask and Act’, they will want to understand and contribute to the 
partnerships which help those who have experienced gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Key Elements of Multi-Agency Fora
It is well acknowledged an effective response to gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence requires Multi Agency collaboration. Several forums 
exist to provide such a response and appropriately address issues of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  These forums also allow 
consideration of additional vulnerabilities and wide engagement with services (a list 
of which is provided in appendix 1).

Relevant authorities are required to:

Nominate representatives of relevant departments who will represent 
these departments at the multi agency fora.  These departments should 
include but are not limited to: pregnancy and post partum services, 
Accident and Emergency, Children’s social care, adult social care, 
mental health services, substance misuse services, education, housing 
and youth offending teams.

Ensure deputy representatives are in place to maintain consistent 
attendance at multi agency fora and informed representation. 

These representatives must be of a suitable level to offer actions and 
take decisions at the fora, on behalf of the relevant organisation.

Offer relevant actions to the fora in order to safeguard victims and 
children experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.

Pack Page 42



30

The most established form of multi-agency fora in Wales is the MARAC. MARACs 
have been running in Wales for over 10 years and have proved a successful 
example of multi agency fora, providing a collaborative response to those identified 
to be at “high risk” of significant harm or death due to domestic abuse.  There is 
national coverage of MARACs and during 2013-2014 the cases of 6000 high risk 
adult victims were dealt with, which included 7000 children.22

The MARAC process focusses on providing a priority response to those at the 
highest risk to prevent further escalation and serious harm to victims and children.  
Although not a statutory process, the MARAC process is now well embedded with 
established outcomes and development processes.  

Local areas are now developing responses to those who are not identified to be at 
high risk in order to provide earlier identification and prevention based services to 
those at lower risk. This is an important area of practice and local areas are 
demonstrating innovation and creative thinking in order to develop responses.  
These include potential development of Multi Agency Safeguarding Hubs, the use 
of conference calls and multi intervention triggers.  This innovation is crucial in 
responding to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence but it is 
important to achieve consistency of response across Wales.

Whilst areas may choose to develop their own models it is important each relevant 
authority considers its response to those victims of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence who are not at high risk of imminent, serious 
harm to intervene earlier and identify potential escalation.

In doing so it is crucial relevant authorities test their proposals against a series of 
developmental milestones to ensure the proposed model meets its objectives and 
provides the required solution to the identified problem.  Models of multi agency 
work should not be created for their own sake; they must be purpose focussed 
and effective.

Relevant authorities, in considering whether to establish any new multi-agency 
fora, must follow the following procedure to ensure it is monitored for purpose, 
effectiveness and outcome.

The guidance focusses on the following headings:

 reviewing an existing forum or setting up a new response – asking the right 
questions to define your approach and purpose;

 what will be required from relevant authorities;

 factors to monitor to maximise the benefits of the forum; and

 creating an evaluation framework – gathering and analysing information to 
ensure  the intervention is making a difference in the lives of those it seeks 
to help.

Pack Page 43



31

Project development model for client focussed multi agency fora

Reviewing an existing forum or setting up a new response

Deciding on objectives
• What does the forum want to achieve
• What do individuals at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence want and need?
• How will you know you are succeeding?

What structures does the forum need?
• Who needs to be there?
• Who is the lead organisation?
• What legal and procedural framework documents are needed?
• How will effective, safe and legal information-sharing be enabled?
• Who is responsible for the day-to-day organisation and coordination of this forum?
• How will the work of this forum be explained to those it seeks to help?

Governance and funding
• What process or group is in place to oversee this forum?
• What are the responsibilities and obligations of partners?
• How will you hold each other to account for their part?
• How will this MA forum be resourced in the short term and the long term?

Connections to existing fora and organisations
• How does this forum link to other MA work and boards?
• How does this forum work alongside related agencies and other existing MA for 

and statutory MA meetings such as the MAPPA?
• Has the forum researched and reviewed other fora with similar goals/client groups?

Creating an evaluation framework

What does success look like for this intervention?
How and when can you collect service users’ assessment of the change in their situation?
Do these outcomes link to the strategic aims?
Consider the cost of this intervention against the benefits for clients and agencies

What will be required from 
partners

Identification
Key worker
Service user engagement
Referral procedures
Research and information-sharing
Action planning
Action and reporting 

Factors to monitor to maximise 
the benefits of the forum

Referrals
Membership
Volume
Equality and diversity

Pack Page 44



32

Reviewing an existing forum or setting up a new response

Deciding on the objectives
• What does the forum want to achieve?  Partners should agree on the goal 

of the forum, and consider risk, safety, client wellbeing and holding
perpetrators to account.  When reviewed, partners should determine if the 
forum is meeting its objective and whether it still supports the strategic aims 
of the partnership.

• What do individuals at risk of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence want and need?  This should be derived from a needs 
analysis and from consultation with service user groups and should inform 
the planning and review of fora.

• How will you know you are succeeding? Determine and collect salient 
information to analyse qualitative and quantitative outcomes.  Agree or 
reconsider what is expected from the intervention.  How will you monitor and 
evaluate?

What structures does the forum need?
• Who needs to be there?  Agree on appropriate partners and the level of 

seniority needed to achieve the forum’s goals.  When reviewing, consider 
new partners and the level of engagement of existing partners.  

• Identify a lead organisation for operational matters. In a refresh, consider if 
the lead organisation or individual is still able to provide the leadership 
required or whether this responsibility should pass to another.

• What legal and procedural framework documents are needed? Create joint 
policies and procedures – identifying service-generated risks and 
eliminating them.  One of the common themes in DHRs is the need for a 
consistent approach to risk identification, assessment and management for 
all professionals.23 When appraising an existing forum, review the 
framework documents: are they still adequate? Are partners still using 
them?  If partners no longer have a common understanding of key elements 
of the forum and their approaches are inconsistent, the governing group 
should revisit the fundamentals to re-create uniformity.

• How will effective, safe and legal information-sharing be enabled? Will you 
seek and need the consent of the individual to share information? Another 
common theme in DHRs is the need for improved information-sharing about 
risk between agencies. There will be separate guidance on this and fora 
should review their existing policies in light of this new advice.

• Who is responsible for the day-to-day organisation and coordination of this 
exercise?  Who will resource this?  As with the lead organisation above, 
these questions should be reviewed regularly.

• How will this intervention, the work of this forum, be explained to those it 
seeks to help?  Partners should agree on an explanation of this work and 

Pack Page 45



33

provide an explanatory sheet to those whose cases are being discussed, if it 
is safe to do so, to support their engagement.

Governance and funding
• What process or group is in place to oversee this forum? The forum 

governance structure should link and report to the partnership operational 
and strategic groups.

• What do partners expect of each other? What are the responsibilities and 
obligations of partners?  As an example, partners should use the agreed 
forms and processes; they should provide particular data and information to 
the forum; and partners should complete their agreed actions within a 
specific time period.

• The forum partner agencies should agree how they will hold each other 
accountable.  They will also need to ensure their own agency expects them 
to report back regularly to their own organisation.  For a refresh, consider 
whether these accountability mechanisms are working and address any 
lapses.  

• How will this forum be resourced in the short term and the long term?  
Information and outcomes should gathered and be fed to the strategic 
partnership so they can seek funding.  Start with linking the outcomes and 
benefits to responsibility for funding.

Connections to existing fora and organisations
• How does this forum link to other multi agency work and boards? Avoid 

duplication and coordinate and highlight the work to all relevant and 
responsible organisations and authorities.   

• How does this forum work alongside related agencies and other existing 
Multi Agency fora and statutory meetings such as the Multi Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA)?24  Are there arrangements for 
transferring information between fora, for example, are there MARAC-to-
MARAC transfer procedures in place? If the same people are being 
discussed at several different fora, is this necessary?  What processes are 
in place to ensure the information shared is consistent and the action plans 
are compatible and completed with knowledge of the other process?  

• Has the forum done its research?  Does the group know about other 
interventions in the locality, the region, or in Wales which have similar goals 
or client groups, or use innovative processes which might work to achieve 
the same goals?  

What will be expected from relevant authorities?

Once the purpose, procedures and partnership commitment have been agreed, the 
systems for each forum will need to be developed.  There are several key steps to 
any multi agency intervention. These steps are outlined below, with examples from 
the MARAC process, the most widespread and established of multi-agency 
interventions. 

Pack Page 46



34

Steps of an 
effective 
multi-
agency 
intervention

Explanation Questions participants and their 
organisations need to ask:

Examples of 
practice and 
resources from 
MARAC25

Identification  A specific 
assessment 
process or 
tool is used 
by all 
partners to 
find those 
who will 
benefit from 
the 
intervention

Partners 
should aim 
for a common 
assessment 
tool 

Does the organisation have a 
systematic way of identifying clients 
who would benefit from the multi 
agency for a?

Is this process replicated across 
partners?

How will the organisation identify 
people suitable for this 
intervention?

CAADA DASH Risk 
Identification 
Checklist

Key worker Victims will 
have a key 
worker who 
provides 
support and 
is or can link 
to specialist 
gender-based 
violence, 
domestic 
abuse and 
sexual 
violence
provision and 
the multi 
agency fora. 

Who will provide the specialist 
support for each strand of gender-
based violence gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence?

Have established referral pathways 
been established with local and 
national services to offer effective 
support efficiently?

Trained IDVA

Service user 
engagement

Service users 
will need to 
be contacted 
for up-to-date 
information, 
their views 
and to alert 
them to the 
fora meeting, 
if safe to do 
so

How does the organisation 
encourage and engage clients in 
this process? 

Can the organisation or the forum 
meet victims’ expectations: their
views are heard, they are kept 
informed and the process is 
transparent, (where it is safe)? 

How do you capture this 
information?

How is the user’s experience used 
to improve the process?

Trained IDVA

Information for 
victims referred to 
MARAC

Service user 
feedback

Pack Page 47



35

Steps of an 
effective 
multi-
agency 
intervention

Explanation Questions participants and their 
organisations need to ask:

Examples of 
practice and 
resources from 
MARAC25

Referral 
Procedures 

A clear care 
pathway with 
steps and 
forms for 
providing 
victims with 
appropriate 
sources of 
help and 
providing 
appropriate 
information to 
the forum

Does the organisation have a clear 
pathway for frontline workers to 
follow when clients have been 
identified?

Is this process well publicised?

Is there a standard referral route 
into the fora?

MARAC Referral 
Form

MARAC-to-MARAC 
Referral Form

Research 
and 
information 
sharing 

Partners 
search their 
files and 
attend 
meetings with 
appropriate 
and full 
information

Is the organisation signed up to the 
relevant Information Sharing 
Protocol?

Is information shared with the 
forum in line with this and the
legislative framework?

What information does the 
organisation hold which can be
shared to provide a better service 
for the client

MARAC Research 
Form

Information-sharing 
without consent form

FAQ – disclosure of 
information at 
MARAC

Action 
planning 

Everyone 
contributes to 
the action 
plan and has 
the capacity 
to deliver on 
actions.  
Action plans 
prioritise risk.

What actions can the organisation
offer?  

Are they SMART?

Can you work jointly to improve the 
responses to the victims?  

How can you utilise and coordinate 
with the work of other partners

MARAC Minutes 
and Action Plan 

Action and 
reporting

How is the forum informed actions
are completed?

Is the implementation of multi 
agency action planning core 
business to the organisation

Action-tracking form 
for use by MARAC 
Coordinator 

Information and data 
gathered and 
analysed to 
evidence the impact 
of MA work.  

Pack Page 48



36

Factors to monitor to maximise the benefits of the forum

For a forum to meet an identified need, particular factors are important, though are 
not indicators of success in themselves.  Relevant organisations should monitor 
points along the care pathway and indicators of partnership engagement.  These 
are aspects which, should they start to slip, are likely to affect the overall success 
of the intervention.   

This is a short list of such factors.  Relevant organisations may find there are 
additional key factors for their multi-agency forum.  When performance against 
these start to deteriorate, the governing body will want to address the issues.  
Where such factors remain poor, the governing body may wish to return to the 
review questions above and the outcome measures to reassess whether the 
established forum is the best way to meet the identified needs of the client group.

Factor Why it is important What can go wrong Remedy

Referrals All partners need to be 
identifying victims of 
gender-based 
violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual 
violence

Partners can assume 
someone else will make 
the referral or it is 
someone else’s 
responsibility.  Partners 
may also make 
inappropriate referrals for 
a number of reasons.

Monitor referrals 
from all agencies 
and assess and 
address low 
referrals, drops or 
increases in 
referrals. 

Membership 
(devolved and 
non-devolved) 
and 
attendance 

Clients will have a 
variety of needs which
require the 
involvement of a 
variety of 
organisations.  Without 
their involvement, the 
quality of the combined 
intervention will be 
poorer.

Key organisations do not  
attend

Voluntary services are not 
invited or do not attend

Those attending do not 
have the authority to 
commit resources

Monitor 
attendance and 
lead agency 
and/or governing 
body address 
absences.  
Explore why the 
attendance has 
changed and 
address 
problems.

Volume The number of people 
referred to the multi-
agency forum is 
commensurate with 
your local population 
and/or criminal activity, 
e.g. modern slavery.

The number of people 
referred drops or 
increases significantly

Referrals only from one or 
two agencies

Explore the 
reasons why – is 
it a systemic 
problem or linked 
to a particular 
local issue or 
event

Equality & 
diversity

So that the multi-
agency forum is a 
process which delivers 
equality for all 
members of the 
community

Hard to reach 
communities do not 
engage with the process

Review 
membership of 
forum to invite 
specialist 
organisations

Create task and 
finish group to 

Pack Page 49



37

address 
weakness

Creating an evaluation framework

Key indicators and outcomes are determined for the intervention, data is collected 
and analysed regularly.  Forum partners will need to agree on baseline data and 
collect this as an initial step.   This is likely to be a process rather than a decision 
as IT systems and paperwork may need to be created or adapted to capture 
indicative data.

When developing a set of outcomes for a multi-agency forum, think about:

 what does success look like for this intervention?  How do you evidence the 
effectiveness of the intervention, that is, the changes and improvements in 
people’s situations and lives;     

 service users’ assessment of the change in their situation – how and when 
can you collect this information?  

 do these outcomes link to the strategic aims?
 consider the cost of this intervention and weigh that against the benefits for 

clients and agencies26

As a multi-agency forum intervention develops and the partner agencies’ 
understanding and practice become more sophisticated the outcome measures are 
likely to develop too. The governing group should re-visit the set of outcomes 
regularly to be sure to capture the full value of the work. Build flexibility into the 
outcomes model so the value of the intervention is not lost through a rigid 
adherence to the original forecast.  

Once the multi-agency forum has been running for a significant period of time, it is 
useful to review the gains of the work against the costs. Can the benefits 
documented be delivered in a different, more scaled-down way?  

Pack Page 50



38

Glossary and Abbreviations

Abuse (as defined by the Bill):  Physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse

Ask and Act: “Ask and Act” is a process of targeted enquiry across the Public 
Service for gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The 
primary objective of “Ask and Act” is to require relevant professionals to “Ask” 
potential victims about the possibility of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence in certain circumstances and to “Act” so suffering and harm as 
a result of the violence and abuse is reduced.  

“Ask and Act” should apply at an organisational rather than individual level and 
take the form of targeted rather than routine enquiry.  

The term targeted enquiry describes the recognition of indicators of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse, and sexual violence as a prompt for a professional to 
ask their client whether they have been affected by any of these issues. 

Association (as defined by the Bill): A person is associated with another person 
for the purpose of the definition of “domestic abuse” if:

(a) they are or have been married to each other;
(b) they are or have been civil partners of each other;
(c) they live or have lived together in an enduring family relationship 
(whether they are of different sexes or the same sex);
(d) they live or have lived in the same household; and for this purpose a 
person is a member of another person’s household if—

(i) the person normally lives with the other person as a member of his 
or her family, or
(ii) the person might reasonably be expected to live with that other 
person;

(e) they are relatives;
(f) they have agreed to marry one another (whether or not that agreement 
has been terminated);
(g) they have entered into a civil partnership agreement between them 
(whether or not that agreement has been terminated);
(h) they have or have had an intimate personal relationship with each other;
(i) in relation to a child, each of them is a parent of the child or has, or has 
had, parental responsibility for the child.

Collaboration: The term “collaboration” refers to a co-ordinated interagency 
response via a formal structure, or fora, where the primary focus is to safeguard 
the victim, reduce secondary victimisation and hold perpetrators to account.  The 
fora, should: 

Pack Page 51



39

(a) adopt consistent, joint policies and procedures, including an agreed 
risk assessment and risk management and safety plan, which co-
ordinates and standardises the professional interventions to all those 
at risk and which reduces the risk of harm;

(b) share information to increase the safety, health and well-being of 
victims/survivors - adults and their children; 

(c) work together to reduce repeat victimisation; 
(d) improve agency accountability;
(e) improve support, including training, for all staff involved in domestic 

abuse cases; and
(f) determine whether the alleged perpetrator poses a significant risk to 

any particular individual or to the general community

DACC: Domestic Abuse Conference Call

Domestic abuse (as defined by the Bill): abuse where the victim of it is or has 
been associated with the abuser

Female Genital Mutilation: an act that is an offence under sections 1, 2 or 3
of the Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 (c. 31)

Gender-based Violence (as defined by the Bill):

(a) violence, threats of violence or harassment arising directly or indirectly
from values, beliefs or customs relating to gender or sexual orientation;
(b) female genital mutilation;
(c) forcing a person (whether by physical force or coercion by threats or 
other psychological means) to enter into a religious or civil ceremony of 
marriage
(whether or not legally binding)

Harassment: A course of conduct by a person which he or she knows or
ought to know amounts to harassment of the other; and for the purpose of this
definition:

(a) a person ought to know that his or her conduct amounts to or involves
harassment if a reasonable person in possession of the same 
information would think the course of conduct amounted to or involved 
harassment of another person; and

(b) “conduct” includes speech.

Pack Page 52



40

Independent Domestic Violence Adviser: Trained specialist worker who 
provides short to medium-term casework support for high risk victims of domestic 
abuse

Independent Sexual Violence Adviser: Trained specialist worker who provides 
short to medium-term casework support for victims of sexual abuse

Local Authority (as defined in the Bill): A county or county borough council

MARAC: Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MAPPA: Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements

The public service: Public Services are services delivered for the benefit of the 
public. This can include services delivered through the third sector, through social 
enterprise or through services that are contracted out.

Relevant authorities:  Local Authorities, Local Health Boards, Fire and Rescue 
Authorities and NHS trusts. 

Sexual exploitation (as defined by the Bill): something that is done to or in 
respect of a person which

(a) involves the commission of an offence under Part 1 of the Sexual 
Offences Act 2003 (c. 42), as it has an effect in England and Wales, or

(b) would involve the commission of such an offence if it were done in 
England and Wales;

Sexual Violence (as defined by the Bill): sexual exploitation, sexual harassment, 
or threats of violence of a sexual nature.

SWOT: Sex Workers Operational Team

Please see appendix 1 for further information on multi agency for a

Targeted enquiry: The process utilised in “Ask and Act”

Violence against women: The experience of gender based violence (as defined 
in the Bill) by women.

Pack Page 53



41

Appendix 1

Multi-agency fora operating in Wales 

Below is a sample of multi-agency fora operating in Wales.  Some fora are 
available in only one area.  

When partners are considering whether a new multi-agency group should be 
formed to address an identified need better, they should review existing fora in 
their area and ask several questions:

 If this fora is serving the same client group – could the identified need be 
met through this other group?

 What lessons can be learned from the experience of these other groups?

For information about the multi-agency work being done locally, partners can 
contact their local domestic abuse coordinator.

Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)
A MARAC is a meeting between local service providers where information is 
shared about adult victims of domestic abuse who have been assessed as being at 
high risk of murder or serious harm.  Victims can be referred by any agency who 
participates and the MARAC is commonly attended by representatives from police, 
health, child protection, housing, specialist domestic abuse services, probation, 
mental health, substance misuse and other specialists from the statutory and 
voluntary sectors. Victims are contacted before the meeting by specialist services 
(IDVAs), if safe to do so, and their views are represented by that specialist service, 
who also reports back from the meeting to the victim.

During the meeting relevant and proportionate information is shared about the 
current risks that the victim of domestic abuse is facing.  This information enables 
representatives to identify options to increase the safety of the victim and their 
children. A multi agency action plan is developed at the meeting, the aim of which 
is to reduce the risk faced by the victim and their children and to tackle the risk 
posed by the perpetrator of the abuse.

The Home Office’s Research Report 55 (2011) found that MARACs (and IDVAs) 
had the potential to improve victim safety and reduce re-victimisation reported on 
the effectiveness of MARACs.  CAADA’s Saving Lives, Saving Money27 reports 
that early analysis showed that up to 60% of domestic abuse victims reported no 
further violence.

Partner agencies can access information about their local MARAC through the 
local domestic abuse coordinator, usually based in the local Community Safety 
Partnership.  Practical tools can be downloaded from the CAADA website: 
www.caada.org.uk.

Pack Page 54

http://www.caada.org.uk


42

Domestic Abuse Conference Call (DACC)
Domestic abuse conference calls are chaired by the police and take place every 
day to discuss the domestic abuse incidents which were reported overnight.  The 
calls involve a number of relevant professional agencies. The information is posted 
on a secure web site which can be accessed by statutory partners to share 
information safely, freely and quickly.

During the call a risk management plan is agreed to protect the victim and the 
wider family and to address the behaviour of the perpetrator.  The aim of the calls 
is to intervene earlier (before risk escalates), share information efficiently and 
responsibly for each case across a range of agencies.

Partners find it beneficial to gain information early, increased identification and 
referral of victims to specialist services.  Interventions offered to victims at all levels 
of risk were smarter, as they were more timely and appropriate to the specific 
needs of the individuals, agencies were more aware of the serial perpetrators and 
victims and able to offer more holistic interventions.28  When agencies engage with 
victims at lower risk levels, less harm as been caused and the outcomes are 
expected to be better for the victim and the victim’s children.  Perpetrators are also 
identified and held accountable29.

Benefits of the Domestic Abuse Conference Call (from Gwent police website): 

• early intervention opportunities to make victims safer;
• fast and effective information sharing;
• greater scrutiny and supervision;
• shared responsibility and accountability;
• improved referral to SSD; 
• raising DA on agenda for all agencies;
• early identification of risk, threat and harm issues;
• cementing the principles of ‘working together’; and
• early analysis has shown a 28% drop in repeat victims.

Sex Workers Operational Team (SWOT) 
The SWOT undertakes a similar role to the MARACs with a focus on sex workers. 
The SWOT brings together professionals from Police, Health, Probation, DIP, 
Housing, Substance Misuse Services and the specialist sector to share information 
and coordinate work in relation to sex workers.

Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
The MASH is a very recent innovation and the acronym is being used to describe 
several different models of work.

Most MASHs have a focus on safeguarding children and often provide the physical 
location for a team of professionals from a range of agencies including police, 
probation, fire, ambulance, health, education and social care. These professionals 

Pack Page 55



43

share information to ensure early identification of potential significant harm, and 
trigger interventions to prevent further harm.  In some places the MASH serves a 
triage function where, with the information gathered from every agency, they 
determine which agency is in the best position to engage and hold that case.  In 
other places, MASH staff use the gathered information to decide the most 
appropriate intervention to respond to the child’s identified needs.  Some models 
are developing to include adults coming to notice as safeguarding concerns.  

Virtual MASHs and MASHs with a specific focus on specialist areas (including 
domestic abuse) are also functioning.

A study of the impact of MASHs in London in December 2013 reviewed MASHs in 
5 London boroughs30.  The 5 core elements of these MASHs were:

• all notifications relating to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children to go through the MASH;

• a co-located team of professionals from core agencies (Children’s Social 
Care, Police, Health, Education, Probation, Housing and Youth Offending 
Service) delivering an integrated service with the aim to research, interpret 
and determine what is proportionate and relevant to share; 

• the hub is fire walled, keeping MASH activity confidential and separate from 
operational activity and providing a confidential record system of activity to 
support this;

• an agreed process for analysing and assessing risk, based on the fullest 
information picture and dissemination of a suitable information product to 
the most appropriate agency for necessary action; and

• a process to identify potential and actual victims, and emerging harm 
through research and analysis.

Though the MASHs were very young, or launched in the course of the review, the 
study found the mean turnaround time for referrals to safeguarding services at all 
levels of risk was halved or nearly halved.  There was evidence that more children 
were receiving services appropriate to their needs following referrals.  There were 
concerns from those outside the MASH system about information-sharing, the 
limited contribution that some non-social care staff were invited to make, and the 
lack of feedback about outcomes to referring agencies.

One-stop shops
One-stop shops gather a group of professionals together to allow a victim of 
domestic abuse to access a variety of agencies in one place, for instance legal 
advice, housing information, police contact and specialist advisors and workers.  

In some models, the IDVA provides a central resource that provides access to 
other services that a person might need and becomes a virtual ‘one-stop shop’.

Pack Page 56



44

Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC)
A SARC is a one-stop location where victims of rape, sexual abuse and serious 
sexual assault, regardless of gender or age can receive medical care and 
counselling, and have the opportunity to assist a police investigation, including 
undergoing a forensic examination, if they so choose.   As such they contribute to 
the work of both the NHS and Police. Existing services have developed in a variety 
of ways over time with different governance arrangements, funding regimes and 
approaches to service provision.

Wales Anti-Slavery Leadership Group
The Wales Anti-Slavery Leadership Group provides strategic leadership for the 
delivery of tackling slavery in Wales. This Group coordinates collaboration between 
devolved and non-devolved partners and NGOs to plan and support delivery in 
Wales.  One of its aims is to provide an evidence base on the scale of slavery in 
Wales.  

The group is chaired by the Welsh Government and includes relevant partners 
such as ACPO Cymru, National Crime Agency, Wales Regional Intelligence Unit, 
Gangmasters Licensing Authority, Home Office, Crown Prosecution Service, 
Wales Probation, Youth Justice Board, Department of Work and Pensions, Welsh 
Local Health Boards, Local Authorities, Welsh Local Government Association 
(WLGA), Wales Anti-Slavery NGO Forum, Bawso and the Children’s 
Commissioner for Wales.

Regional Anti Slavery Fora 
There are now regional groups established across Wales, in Gwent, South Wales, 
Dyfed Powys, North Wales and Western Bay.  They are composed of relevant 
partners, including Community Safety, Serious Organised Crime, police, NOMS, 
Youth Justice Boards, Health Boards, local authorities, and Bawso meet monthly to 
report progress against the delivery plan and to share information and 
intelligence31.  

Wales Anti-Slavery NGO Forum 
This consists of Barnardos Cymru, Bawso New Pathways, Safer Wales and the 
Welsh Refugee Council – frontline agencies working together to raise awareness 
and improve services and support for people who have been trafficked in Wales.

National Crime Agency’s UK Human Trafficking Centre (UKHTC).  
Partners should have a process, a care pathway, to follow where frontline staff 
think the client they are talking to may be a potential victim of trafficking (PVoT).  
There are identified First Responders who have had training to respond to those 
who may be modern slaves. There is a prescribed National Referral Mechanism 
with forms and frameworks for decision-making to identify whether a person is a 
modern slave and routes to resources to help them.   

Pack Page 57



45

Domestic Homicide Reviews 

Since April 2011, local community safety partnerships have been obliged under 
Section 9 (3) of the Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004 to instigate 
domestic homicide reviews into deaths where ‘a person aged 16 or over has, or 
appears to have, resulted from violence, abuse or neglect by (a) a person to whom 
he was related or with whom he was or had been in an intimate relationship, or (b) 
a member of the same household as himself, held with a view to identifying the 
lessons to be learnt from that death.’  The agencies required to be part of these 
reviews are:

 Chief officers of police for police areas in England and Wales;
 Local authorities;
 NHS Wales Commissioning (since April 2012);
 Clinical Commissioning Groups (since April 2012);
 Providers of probation services;
 Local health boards; and 
 NHS Trusts

These reviews require partner agencies and those who have had contact with the 
victim or perpetrator to review the circumstances of a death together to establish 
what lessons are to be learned regarding the way local professionals and 
organisations work together to safeguard victims and implement changes to 
prevent domestic abuse homicides and improve intra and inter-agency service 
responses for all domestic abuse victims and their children.

Wales Strategic Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) Leadership Group

The Wales Strategic FGM Leadership Group is made up of key strategic decision 
makers from statutory devolved, and non-statutory devolved organisations and 
from other organisations including the voluntary sector.  It is co-chaired by the 
police and the  Crown Prosecution Service and attended by Welsh Government 
representatives (Health, Education, Safeguarding Children), the Youth Justice 
Board, Welsh Local Health Boards, Welsh Local Government Association, Bawso, 
NSPCC and the Children’s Commissioner Wales. 

The aim of the Leadership Group is to provide strategic direction for the delivery of 
tackling FGM in Wales. The Group is in a unique position to add value by co-
ordinating collaboration between partners to plan and support delivery in Wales, 
thereby maximising the opportunities presented by the delivery landscape. 

The All Wales FGM Forum

This group provides a forum for statutory, specialist sector and community 
representatives to work collaboratively to end FGM through education and 
awareness and through improving policy and practice to protect women and girls.

Pack Page 58



46

Its core membership includes representatives from BAWSO, NSPCC, Welsh 
Refugee Council, Children in Wales, Migrant Help, Welsh Migration Partnership, 
Health (Primary and Secondary care), Public Health Wales (Safeguarding), 
Community representatives, Social Services, Police, Education, Welsh 
Government, Welsh Women’s Aid, Islamic Social Advisory Network, Henna 
Foundation and the Welsh Centre for Voluntary Action.

Pack Page 59



47

Appendix 2

Resources for building a better multi-agency response

Intervention Resource
MARAC Practical tools for participation in 

the MARAC:
o CAADA ACPO DASH risk 

indicator checklist
o MARAC referral forms
o MARAC to MARAC transfer 

forms
o Agency-specific guidance
o Toolkits

www.caada.org.uk

Best Practice Guide for working 
with potential victims of trafficking

www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/a
bout-us/what-we-do/specialist-
capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-
centre/best-practice-guide

Modern 
Slavery

National referral forms for potential 
child and adult victims of trafficking 
whether First Responder or not.  

www.gov.uk/government/publicatio
ns/human-trafficking-victims-
referral-and-assessment-forms

Mental health 
and 
substance 
misuse

The Stella Project addresses the 
overlapping issues of domestic and 
sexual violence, drug and alcohol 
use and mental health.

www.avaproject.org.uk

Calculator for the cost of DA to a 
business

Resources for employers

www.caadv.org.ukEmployers

Guidance for employers and 
colleagues for supporting victims at 
work

www.caada.org.uk

Partnership 
work

Guidance on multi-agency 
partnership

www.standingtogether.org.uk

Developing 
service user 
groups

Welsh Government provided 
funding and guidance direct to 
Local Authorities

Pack Page 60

http://www.caada.org.uk
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/human-trafficking-victims-referral-and-assessment-forms
http://www.avaproject.org.uk
http://www.caadv.org.uk
http://www.caada.org.uk
http://www.standingtogether.org.uk


48

References
                                               
iwww.standingtogether.org.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/standingUpload/Publications/
HOP_-_guidance-_final_July_2011.pdf. 
2 Howarth, E, Stimpson, L., Barran, D., Robinson, A., Safety in Numbers: A Multi-
Site Evaluation of Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Services, November 
2009.  http://caada.org.uk/policy/Safety_in_Numbers_full_report.pdf Information 
was gained from IDVAs in 7 services in urban, suburban and rural locations.  
Information was gathered from 2567 victims at the point of referral and from 1247 
at the close of the casework or after 4 months, whichever came first.
3 Follow-up was limited to case closure or 4 months after engagement and 
recorded only on those that remained engaged.
4 Howarth, et al., p. 93.
5 Howarth, et al., p. 10. 
6 A Place of Greater Safety, CAADA, 2010. www.caada.org.uk
7 NSPCC (2010) ‘The Impact of Abuse and Neglect on the Health and Mental 
Health of Children and Young People’. London: NSPCC.
8 Magown, P. “The impact of disability on women’s experience of abuse: an 
empirical study into disables women’s experiences of, and responses to, domestic 
abuse.” PhD Research, University of Nottingham, 2004.
9 Astbury, J. (1999) Gender and Mental Health (Paper prepared under the Global 
Health Equity Initiative Project based on the Harvard Centre for Population and 
Development Studies); O’Keane, V. (2000) “Unipolar depression in women” in 
Steiner, M. et al. (2000) Mood Disorders in Women (London: Martin Dunitz, Ltd.)
Humphreys, Cathy (2003) Mental Health and Domestic Violence: A research 
overview. Paper presented at the “Making Research Count” Seminar on Domestic 
Violence and Mental Health, Coventry, 2003; Humphreys, Cathey and Thiara, 
Ravi, (2003) “Mental Health and Domestic Violence: “I call it symptoms of abuse”, 
British Journal of Social Work 33, pp.209-226; Vidgeon, N. (2003) Are support 
services failing victims of domestic violence? Unpublished Master’s Thesis. Anglia 
Polytechnic University, Cambridge. 
10 Humphreys, Cathy and Thiara, Ravi (2003) Mental Health and Domestic 
Violence: ‘I call it symptoms of abuse’, British Journal of Social Work, 33, 209-226; 
Golding, J. (1999). Intimate partner violence as a risk factor for mental disorders: a 
meta-analysis. Journal of Family Violence. 14:2, 99-132
11 Rees, S. et al (2011) ‘Lifetime prevalence of gender-based violence in women 
and the relationship with mental disorders and psychosocial function, ‘ Journal of 
American Medical Association, 306/5: 513-521.
12 Home Office Report, Domestic Homicide Reviews: Common Themes Identified 
as Lessons to be Learned. 
13Walby, Sylvia.  The Cost of Domestic Violence: Update 2009, p. 9 – 10.
14 From the Caledonian System’s Women’s Services’ Framework for Safety 
Planning14, part of the Caledonian System, a perpetrator programme in Scotland

Pack Page 61



49

                                                                                                                                              
15 Pence and Sadusky’s The Praxis Safety and Accountability Audit Tool Kit, Praxis 
International.
16 Established in February 2013 and made up of key strategic decision makers 
from statutory devolved and non-statutory devolved organisations and other 
organisations including the voluntary sector.  Its purpose is to provide strategic 
leadership and inform decision-making and co-ordinate activity aimed at tackling 
human trafficking.
17www.avaproject.org.uk/media/60461/costs%20of%20dv%20by%20local%20auth
ority.pdf  
18 Home Office, Domestic Homicide Reviews: Common Themes Identified as 
Lessons to be Learned, 2013. 
19 See Responding to Domestic Abuse:  Guidance for General Practices, a joint 
publication from the Royal College of General Practitioners, the IRIS project, and 
CAADA at 
http://www.caada.org.uk/dvservices/CAADA_GP_guidance_manual_FINAL.pdf
20 Resources: Responding to colleagues experiencing domestic abuse: Practical 
guidance for line managers, Human Resources and Employee Assistance 
Programmes, a joint publication by the Department of Health and CAADA: 
www.caada.org.uk/documents/DH_DV_Employers_guidance_FINAL.pdf
21 For example: Responding to colleagues experiencing domestic abuse: Practical 
guidance for line managers Human Resources and Employee Assistance 
Programmes, and a joint publication by the Department of Health and CAADA. 
There is a linked publication for staff called: Responding to colleagues 
experiencing domestic abuse: Practical guidance for employees experiencing 
domestic abuse.  Both are in the Resources section at www.caada.org.uk
22 www.CAADA.org.uk
23 The Home Office, Domestic Homicide Reviews:  Common Themes Identified as 
Lessons to be Learned.
24 MAPPA Guidance 2012: 
www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/offenders/mappa/mappa-guidance-2012-part1.pdf.
25 www.caada.org.uk
26 Examples of this include the Outcomes Star (www.outcomesstar.org.uk) and the 
MARAC measure of reduction in repeat incidents reported to all agencies.
27 www.caada.org.uk. 
28 Robinson (2012) Task & Finish Group report, p. 46 and 47
29 Thomas and Allen (2012) Evaluation of the Gwent Domestic Abuse Conference 
Call.
30 Crockett, R., Gilchrist, G., Davies, J., Menshall, A., Hoggart, Ls., Chandler, V., 
Sims, D., Webb, J., Assessing the Early Impact of Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Hubs (MASH) in London, December 2013.
31 Annual Report of the Welsh Government’s Anti Human Trafficking Co-ordinator, 
2013

Pack Page 62



EXAMPLE DRAFT: JULY 2014

The Wales National 
Training Framework 

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence

Pack Page 63



1

This document lays out the National Training Framework on gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence1.  The National Training Framework has been 
developed to offer proportionate training across the public service on these subject 
areas to strengthen the response provided across Wales to those experiencing
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

This document provides information on the design of the Framework and an 
overview of how the Framework will look. It provides detailed explanation of each 
level of the Framework and its purpose, including the aim of each level, the required 
audience, the content of the training, delivery style and accreditation options. 

The National Training Framework has been developed in close partnership with 
stakeholders to create a package of training aimed at several different professional 
groups which will strengthen the response provided to those who experience gender 
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence. It is also the intention the 
Framework could be of assistance to local authorities and Local Health Boards in
preparing and implementing their local strategies as required under the Gender-
based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill. The training of 
staff who come into contact with persons affected by gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence could be a key objective in some local 
strategies.

Under section 12 the Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to a relevant authority on 
how the authority should exercise its functions with a view to contributing to the 
pursuit of improving arrangements for the prevention of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, improving arrangements for the protection of
victims and improving the support for persons affected by such violence and abuse. 

These relevant authorities, by virtue of section 14 of the Bill, must follow this 
guidance when exercising their functions unless there is good reason for the 
authority not to follow the guidance. If a relevant authority considers there is good 
reason not to follow the guidance it must decide on an alternative policy for the 
exercise of its functions in respect of the subject matter of the guidance. It must then
issue a policy statement as to how it intends to exercise its functions and the 
reasons for not following the guidance.

                                               
1 This guidance should be viewed as an early draft only.  Scrutiny and further public consultation will 
inform the final version of any guidance issued before the Assembly.  This guidance is not presented 
as a final version and should not be read in such a way.  Formal consultation on this document is 
planned and comments on its content will be welcomed through this process.

Within each chapter of the guidance a boxed section indicates the 
guidance which is intended to be issued under section 12 of the Gender-
based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill to 
relevant authorities.  

Pack Page 64



2

The rest of the guidance is intended to offer explanatory content and guidance 
on the purpose of the National training Framework and how it seeks to 
improve the knowledge and skill set of the public service in relation to gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

The Welsh Government recognises the Framework may be of benefit to 
organisations other than the relevant authorities under section 12 of the Bill. 
The Welsh Government will therefore take steps to actively encourage other
organisations to consider whether the Framework could be provided within 
their organisation and which levels of the framework are relevant to them. This 
document would also be of assistance to any such organisation who are 
considering if and how to implement the Framework in their organisation.  

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are pervasive issues 
which have far reaching impacts on the health, wellbeing and safety of those who 
experience them.  It is important all organisations give consideration to how they can 
raise awareness of these issues and improve the response they offer to victims.

Pack Page 65



3

The Wales National Training Framework on gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.

Contents

Executive summary 4

Introduction 6

The Content Development Group 7

The Framework 8

Level 1 15

Level 2 20

Level 3 26

Level 4 29

Level 5 37

Level 6 40

Delivery plan and dissemination 45

Definitions 46

Pack Page 66



4

Executive summary

Violence and abuse in any form is unacceptable.  Anyone who experiences 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be provided 
with an effective and timely response by relevant authorities. Evidence suggests 
that women are more likely to experience gender-based violence and as such 
this guidance acknowledges violence against women is the most prevalent form 
of gender-based violence.

This acknowledgement, however, by no means suggests any victim of such 
violence and abuse should be excluded from accessing the help and support 
they require.  Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
experienced within same sex relationships, between family members and by men 
who are abused by women and, as such, this guidance provides a process which 
is inclusive of all potential victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.

Those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
are some of the most vulnerable in our society.  They utilise a broad range of public 
services whose staff must each be skilled to identify the indicators of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, “ask and ask”, engage clients 
effectively and provide services to families.

Those whose profession it is to provide specialist services to victims of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be expert, offering the 
highest standard of care and working in services with strong leadership.

The National Training Framework has been mapped against the “victims journey” to 
ensure a consistent standard of care for those who experience gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and an unfailing standard of service 
throughout the public service to this client group.  

The Framework is in two parts:

1) Consistent, proportionately disseminated training for the relevant 
authorities to fundamentally improve the understanding of the general 
workforce and, therefore the response to those who experience gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

2) Alignment of existing specialist training to further professionalise the 
specialist sector, to improve consistency of specialist subject training 
provision nationally and to set core requirements of specialist service 
provision.

Pack Page 67



5

Domestic abuse, sexual abuse, 
Forced Marriage, “Honour” 
Based Violence, Female Genital 
Mutilation, slavery, stalking and 
harassment

 What is it?
 What should be done 

about it?
 Who can help?

Those who 
provide specialist 
crisis 
intervention 
(IDVA, Refuge)

Those who provide 
specialist 
intervention 
(Outreach, floating 
support)

All staff, all public bodies, 
devolved, non devolved, third 
sector

Those who will provide 
a service (within a 
general role) to those 
experiencing abuse, 
e.g. safeguarding leads

Public 
education

Risk identification

Immediate Safety

Care pathways and 
multi agency work

Skills  for specialist engagement with 
victim:, risk, safety, multi agency work, 
partnership working, The Criminal 
Justice system (Police, CPS, Probation), 
health impacts, substance use, mental 
health, homelessness, stalking, HBV/FM, 
FGM, civil legal systems, child 
safeguarding, work with CAFCASS, 
finance, No recourse to Public funds

General minimum standards (10,000 safer lives) Specialist service standards for GBVDASV service 
provision

Level 6 STRATEGIC ENGAGEMENT: Strategy, Policy, Effecting change

Prevention Awareness raising Ask and Act (further response) Specialist

Those likely to be 
meeting those 
experiencing abuse

Signs/symptoms/risks

“Ask”: Broaching the 
subject

Act: Information 
sharing
Signposting/referring

Care pathways and 
multi agency work

Improved awareness Increased disclosure Improved engagement Effective support   Long term cessation/shorter abusive 
relationship

Statutory, mandatory training: safeguarding children (refreshed every 3 years), Safeguarding vulnerable adults

National Occupational Standards Accreditation

Level 5 management 
training

Prevention Disclosure Engagement Recovery 

Healthy relationships               Level 1                                            Level 2                  Level 3       

Support

The Victims journey

P
ack P

age 68



6

Introduction

In its White Paper consultation on legislation to end violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, the Welsh Government proposed the 
introduction of a National Training Framework on these issues. In doing so the 
Welsh Government aimed to consolidate a variety of training programmes into a 
single, centrally managed funding resource.

The White Paper presented The National Training Framework in four levels:

The White Paper recognised there was no consistent standard of training for either 
public sector or third sector specialist service professionals in Wales.  The aim was, 
therefore, to ensure the availability of quality and consistent training to raise 
awareness, change attitudes and improve the nature and quality of the support 
provided to victims.  

Also, and crucially, there was a clearly identified need to support professionals to 
feel confident in asking about and acting on gender-based violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence. This lack of confidence and knowledge in recognising such 
violence or abuse can have a significant impact on professionals’ ability to respond 
appropriately to disclosures, support victims to recover and prevent repeat 
victimisation.

There was strong support for a National Training Framework as outlined in the White 
Paper, with the majority of respondents agreeing this would support a consistent 
approach to training. 

Subsequent review of the White Paper and the consultation responses received has 
led to a revised Framework being developed which is set out in detail in this 
document.

Awareness raising training to a wide 
audience, delivered via an efficient method, 
such as eLearning.

Training to equip relevant professionals to 
implement ‘ask’ and ‘act’.

Specialist accredited qualifications for any 
professional who has a lead responsibility 
for their profession (e.g. IDVA, ISVA,
safeguarding nurses, specialist social.
workers).

Strategic training for leaders and agents of 
change (e.g. head teachers, lead nurses, 
local authority leads).

Pack Page 69



7

The Content Development Group

A Content Development group was convened by the Welsh Government in February 
2014 to provide practical, expert led advice on the proposed National Training 
Framework on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and 
make recommendations on the required content of the Framework.

Membership of the Content Development Group includes those with responsibility for 
the learning, development and training function of their organisation and subject 
experts. 

Membership comprises representatives from the following organisations:

Police;
Probation Service;
Social Care;
Welsh Local Government Association;
Local Health Boards;
Public Health Wales;
Chartered Institute of Housing;
The violence against women and domestic abuse sector;
The Sexual Violence Sector; 
Wales Migration Partnership; and
The NSPCC

Pack Page 70



8

The Framework

The Welsh Government proposes to introduce a National Training Framework on 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence to key public and 
specialist service providers and in doing so aim to consolidate a variety of training 
programmes into a single, centrally managed resource.

The aim of a National Training Framework for Wales is to create a consistent 
standard of care for those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence and an unfailing standard of service throughout the public 
service to this client group.  

The National Training Framework is formed of six levels:

Relevant authorities are required to:

Ensure the required training of all staff under the Framework is considered 
by local authorities and Local Health Boards in the preparation and 
implementation of their local strategies

Ensure all relevant training on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, provided to relevant authority staff is endorsed through 
the National Training Framework

Pack Page 71



9

Content, learning outcomes and required competencies have been developed for 
each level of the Framework and these have been mapped to proposed audiences 
and to relevant National Occupation Standards.

The Framework is essentially in two parts:

1) Consistent, proportionately disseminated training for the relevant 
authorities to fundamentally improve the understanding of the general 
workforce and, therefore the response to those who experience gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

2) Alignment of existing specialist training to further professionalise the 
specialist sector, to improve consistency of specialist subject training 
provision nationally and to set core requirements of specialist service 
provision (Levels 4 and 5).

 Level 1

                Level 2

            Level 3

     Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Awareness 
raising and 
practical 
guidance

Ask and Act

Enhanced training for non 
specialist practitioners 
with a pivotal role in client 
support

Specialist accredited 
qualifications and training for 
those professionals 
responsible for specialist 
support

Strategic engagement 
with Public Service
leaders

Strengthening leadership 
within the specialist 
sector

Pack Page 72



10

The content of levels 1, 2 and 3 of the Framework builds on preceding levels, i.e. 
level 2 requires completion of level 1 and level 3 requires completion of level 2.  

Together these levels provide training which supports non-specialist professionals 
working in relevant authorities to recognise abuse and provide enhanced support to 
those experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

Levels 4 and 5 of the Framework relate specifically to those whose specialism is 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence or to specialist subject 
areas.

Level 6 relates to relevant authority leadership and will provide input to the most 
senior staff to support improvement of the organisational response to those 
experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, either as 
members of the workforce or as service users.

Audience

This guidance is issued under section 12 of the Gender-based Violence, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill and relevant authorities must follow the 
guidance by virtue of section 14. The Welsh Government will work with other
organisations (devolved, non devolved and non statutory) to encourage participation 
within the Framework and all organisations with an interest in the subjects covered 
by the Framework will be able to access its resources and courses.

Outcomes 

In order to gain the fullest understanding of the effectiveness of any Welsh 
Government commissioned/endorsed training programmes the following evaluation 
measures will be utilised2.

 Reaction criteria

This will gauge how trainees were affected by the training and any resulting 
attitudinal change.

  

                                               
2 KirkPatrick (1959, 1976, 1996)

General 
workforce 
management

Specialist workforce and 
management

All relevant staff, including general 
Public Sector workforce

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Level 6

Pack Page 73



11

 Learning criteria

This will measure against the learning outcomes of the training.  It will consider 
learner perception of knowledge, confidence and intention to implement.

 Behavioural criteria

This will identify the effects of the training on actual performance.  This will involve a 
follow up measure.

 Results criteria

This will involve consideration of the longer term impact of the training, how useful it 
is perceived to be by the relevant authorities and how relevance the impact of the
training is seen to be on practice change.

All training courses will utilise pre and post course questions.  Additional follow up 
measures of implementation will be considered where appropriate.

Pack Page 74



12

The National Training Framework

Training aim
Proposed learning outcomes: Following completion of this training 
participants will:
Understand what gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence is.

• The learner can describe forms of  gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence

Recognise the signs of gender-based violence,  domestic abuse and 
sexual violence

• The learner can recognise the types of behaviours linked to gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence

• The learner can recognise some simple signs of the impact of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence on those who 
experience it

Le
ve

l 1

Participants 
will have 
heightened 
awareness of 
gender-based 
violence, 
domestic 
abuse and 
sexual 
violence

Understand their role in tackling gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence

• The learner is aware of the helpline number and Live Fear Free website 
as a professional resource (in addition to a service user resource).

• The learner knows they have a workplace policy, its purpose and where 
to find it.

Pack Page 75



13

Le
ve

l 2

Level 1 + 
Recognise 
signs and 

symptoms, 
respond 

appropriately 
to 

unprompted 
disclosure, 

ask 
appropriate 

questions and 
respond to 

answer.

Recognise the signs and symptoms of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence 

 The learner can recognise the signs and symptoms of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

 The learner can describe how gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence can affect anyone and the experience of it is not 
linked to any particular culture, religion or socio-economic status.

Understand the purpose of targeted enquiry and the reasoning for it

 The learner can state the reason the targeted enquiry is required and 
their role in this work.

Demonstrate knowledge of information sharing legislation and the duty of 
confidentiality

 The learner can reference information sharing legislation 

 The learner demonstrates understanding of their duties/ ethical 
considerations in relation to confidentiality and data sharing.

Be able to demonstrate how to broach the subject of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence

 With client safety as primary concern; the learner can ask questions of 
those displaying signs and symptoms which relate to their possible 
experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.

 The learner displays confidence to ask the question safely.

 The learner can respond to the client’s response appropriately.

 The learner can describe additional diverse and complex needs they 
will consider as they ask questions.

Pack Page 76



14

Be able to identify risk in appropriate cases of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence

 The learner understands the purpose of Risk Identification Checklists.

 The learner can use a nationally agreed Risk Identification Checklist 
with the client to identify the level of risk they are facing.

 The learner understands the importance of immediate risk 
identification and can utilise pathways to facilitate this.

Be able to implement the targeted enquiry care pathwayi

 The learner is aware of the service choices, referral options and multi 
agency fora available to those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

 The learner can explain these to their clients and facilitate referrals 
based on the choice of the client.

Where the client or related person is at risk of serious harm the learner 
can demonstrate the action they will take to safeguard those at risk, 
including children.

Consider gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence in 
the context of a family

Have an ability to assess risk in appropriate cases of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, including those faced by 
the victim, posed by the perpetrator and experienced by children

Have an ability to address the immediate safety requirements of family 
members experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence either through action or referral.

Le
ve

l 3 Understand the role of their agency and that of the agency representative 
with multi agency operational fora.

Level 1 and 2 
+ Consider 

the risk posed 
to the client, 

take 
appropriate 
actions for 

their 
immediate 

safety, 
engage 

appropriately 
in multi 

agency work.
Understand the link between gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence and the risk to children and take appropriate actions to 
minimise his risk

Pack Page 77



15

Specific, accredited programme with relevant accrediting body for specific 
role. 

Le
ve

l 4

Level 1, 2, 
and 3 + offer 

specific, 
expert 

interventions 
with those 

experiencing 
gender based 

violence, 
domestic 

abuse and 
sexual 

violence
issues and 

their children.

Framework of subject specific courses, endorsed by the Welsh 
Government

Understand the processes required to operationally manage a service to 
those affected by gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence

Le
ve

l 5

Tier 2: 
management 
and strategy: 

specialist 
providers

Understand the processes required to strategically manage a services to 
those affected by gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence
Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are issues 
both for service users and for the workforce.  Cultures need to be created 
where the work of the remaining levels of the NTF are acknowledged as 
crucial to the work of relevant public service departments and within the 
workplace.Le

ve
l 6

Strategic 
engagement 

plan for Public 
Service 

leadership

Pack Page 78



16

Level 1

Level 1 of the National Training Framework provides core awareness raising of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  It will be aimed at 
Public Service staff as outlined below.

Aim

Participants will have heightened awareness of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.

Audience

Level 1 of the National Training Framework will capture the widest audience, 
reaching 284,0003 public service employees at its launch.

Content

K
ey

 q
ue

st
io

ns
 

of
 tr

ai
ni

ng
.

Proposed learning outcomes: 
Following completion of this 

training participants will:

Proposed competencies
Following completion of this 

training participants will be able to:
Potential content

                                               
3 This is 85% of the total Welsh Public Service employee number and does not include DVLA, HMRC, 
MoD or Cardiff Bus.

Relevant authorities are required to:

Ensure all staff complete the level 1 eLearning package within 6 months 
of the date on which the eLearning package is provided to the relevant 
authority.

Ensure the level 1 eLearning package forms part of each relevant 
authority’s mandatory induction training to ensure that any newly 
appointed staff also complete the training.

Monitor completion rates of the eLearning package to ensure all staff 
complete the training within the specified time period.

Pack Page 79



17

Definitions and descriptions of 
gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual 
violence: 

Domestic abuse, Sexual violence, 
Stalking, forced marriage, “Honour”
Based Abuse, Female Genital 
Mutilation, Sexual exploitation

Gendered nature of experience, 
with acknowledgement gender-
based violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence can happen to 
anyone and it is important to 
acknowledge all forms of abuse. 

W
ha

t i
s 

ge
nd

er
-b

as
ed

 v
io

le
nc

e,
 d

om
es

tic
 a

bu
se

an
d 

se
xu

al
 v

io
le

nc
e?

Understand what gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence is.

 The learner can describe 
the forms of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse, 
and sexual violence

Prevalence

H
ow

 d
o 

yo
u 

re
co

gn
is

e 
ge

nd
er

-b
as

ed
 

vi
ol

en
ce

, d
om

es
tic

 a
bu

se
 a

nd
 s

ex
ua

l 
vi

ol
en

ce
?

Recognise the signs of gender-
based violence,  domestic abuse
and sexual violence

 The learner can recognise 
the types of behaviours 
linked to gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence

 The learner can recognise 
some simple signs of the 
impact of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence on 
those who experience it

Breakdown of abusive behaviours: 
Physical, sexual, psychological, 
financial and emotional abuse and 
link to coercive control

Types of impact: Safety and risk, 
health impact, emotional impact, 
finance, impact on children.

Pack Page 80



18

W
ha

t s
ho

ul
d 

yo
u 

do
 if

 y
ou

 re
co

gn
is

e 
ge

nd
er

-b
as

ed
 

vi
ol

en
ce

, d
om

es
tic

 a
bu

se
 a

nd
 s

ex
ua

l v
io

le
nc

e
Understand their role in tackling 
gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual 
violence 

 The learner is aware of the 
All Wales Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence 
helpline number and Live 
Fear Free website as a 
professional resource (in 
addition to a service user 
resource).4

 The learner knows they 
have a workplace policy, its 
purpose, where to find it and 
how to access support.

Key messages: You have a 
Workplace policy.

Helpline number/Live Fear Free 
website

Delivery

Level 1 of the Framework will be delivered in two ways:

1) Through an awareness raising campaign highlighting signs and symptoms of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and;

2) Through a short eLearning package aimed at all public facing members of the 
Public Service.

Awareness raising campaigns

The public awareness raising campaign will be run and funded by the Welsh 
Government and will provide context for the eLearning package and layer the 
influences to the audience. The campaign will focus on highlighting the indicators of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  It will involve use of 
bill boards, bus stops and train stations, washrooms (i.e.– leisure centres,  pubs, 
supermarket toilets, shopping centres) and Doctors, dentists and community health 
clinics (approximately 25% coverage of GPs in Wales)

Its aims will be:

 to raise awareness of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence is a crime and is unacceptable;

 to challenge attitudes and behaviours which can lead to an acceptance of
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence;

                                               
4 Livefearfree.org.uk 
0808 80 10 800

Pack Page 81



19

 to raise awareness of the priority given by the Welsh Government to tackling 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence;

 to highlight different types of abuse – psychological, physical, and financial;
 to raise awareness of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence and associated work, in particular to challenge out-dated and 
unacceptable attitudes about the issue; and

 to inform about services and information available to help those experiencing 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

eLearning
As outlined above the level 1 training audience is vast and in order to reach this 
number of public service staff eLearning provides an affordable and accessible 
method of training.  

In addition to being cost effective; high quality, online learning offers additional value.  
Web based tutorials, which encourage active learning practices are a useful and 
effective tool for providing information.  Where constructive feedback is offered 
through the programme this encourages independent learning. 5

The eLearning package will be basic in its content with the general aim of raising 
awareness.  It will include interactive exercises, film, sound and some self 
assessment.  

The balance of the eLearning content has been considered carefully by the Content 
Development Group.  The potentially sensitive or distressing content associated with 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be managed 
carefully to provide an engaging learning experience without triggering distress in 
those with experience of these issues.

Alongside this careful content management the eLearning programme will also
contain welfare checks which acknowledge for some participants, completion of the 
online training will prompt them to question their own relationships and possibly, 
recognise the signs and symptoms of abuse in themselves.  In order to address this, 
advice for the participant and a link to the All Wales Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Helpline will be provided.

At launch it is aimed the eLearning package will reach a substantial amount of 
people very quickly.  It will be free to access and disseminated via email and linked 
to the Live Fear Free website. The package will be accompanied by guidance on the 
desired audience and the required timeframe for completion.  Senior Public Service 
leaders will receive communication about the package ahead of launch in order to 
offer clear direction to staff in relation to the purpose of the training and the required 
completion timeframe. Completion rates should be monitored through management 
feedback and internal reporting.  

Thereafter the eLearning package must be included into mandatory induction 
training to address staff turnover.

                                               
5 Grant MJ, Brettle AK, Developing and evaluating an interactive information skills Tutorial, Salford 
Centre for Nursing, Midwifery and Collaborative Research, Institute for Health and Social Care 
Research, University of Salford, Salford UK.

Pack Page 82



20

The eLearning package will be strengthened and endorsed by an accompanying 
series of support resources which will mirror imagery used in the complementary 
awareness raising package.

These may include the following:

 quick reference materials including leaflets or booklets which summarise the 
training;

 posters which include the All Wales Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Helpline details; and

 Covert information for clients, such as the lip balms already provided through 
campaigns.

Accreditation

This level of the Framework will not be accredited.  It will conform to any relevant 
National Occupational Standards (NOS) and all reasonable measures will be taken 
to ensure it is CPD compliant across a range of professions.    

Pack Page 83



21

Level 2

t

Relevant authorities are required to:

Nominate local professionals, who meet the criteria for membership of 
the regional training consortia,  

Ensure these nominated professionals are trained on the Train the 
Trainer programme 

Ensure each of these trained trainers is released from their core duties 
to deliver training up to 6 times per year.

Prioritise the following relevant professional roles for training on “Ask 
and Act”.

Midwives
Health Visitors
General Practitioners
Accident and Emergency staff
Substance misuse staff
Community Psychiatric Nurses
Mental Health Crisis team
District nurses
Paramedics
Child Protection Social Workers
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Social Workers
Safeguarding leads in Education
School nurses
Housing, Housing options and Homelessness officers
Youth Offending Team Representatives
All firefighters with community based responsibilities

Ensure these professionals receive the training as offered through the 
regional training consortia.

Consider the ongoing training needs of the relevant professionals to 
maintain their skill set and refresh their knowledge.

Pack Page 84



22

Level 2 of the National Training Framework will provide training to support the 
principle of “Ask and Act”.  Further detailed guidance on “Ask and Act” has been 
published separately by the Welsh Government. This section concentrates 
specifically on the training element of this work.

The Welsh Public Service has a vital role to play in supporting disclosures [by 
clients] and strengthening the services they receive. A more consistent approach to 
identifying victims, assessing risk and referring appropriately is required across 
Wales.  The primary objective of “Ask and Act” is to require relevant professionals to 
“ask” potential victims about the possibility of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence in certain circumstances and to “act” so suffering and 
harm as a result of the violence and abuse is reduced.  

“Ask and Act” is a process of targeted enquiry across the Public Service for gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The term targeted enquiry 
describes the recognition of indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence, or the presence of some other information which suggest this 
experience, as a prompt for a professional to ask their client whether they have been 
affected by this issue and to facilitate appropriate referral and support for the client, 
using local and national services and existing referral mechanisms.

Aim

Participants will be skilled, able and confident to undertake “Ask and Act”.  

Audience

Level 2 of the Framework is aimed at Public Service staff in “relevant” professional 
roles.

Relevant authorities should prioritise the following relevant professional roles for training 
on “Ask and Act”. 

Pack Page 85



23

Local Health Board
Midwives
Health Visitors
General Practitioners
Accident and Emergency staff
Substance misuse
Community Psychiatric Nurses
Mental Health Crisis team
District nurses
Paramedics
Local Authority
Child Protection Social Workers
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Social Workers
Safeguarding leads in Education
School nurses
Housing, Housing options and Homelessness officers
Youth Offending Team Representatives
Fire and Rescue Authority
All firefighters with community based responsibilities

This list is not exhaustive and there may be additional roles which require training, 
based on local need.  In order to identify whether a profession should be deemed 
“priority” the following criteria should be applied:

“Priority” criteria

A priority professional is:

 in a public facing role, coming into regular contact with the general public; and

 in a role where the experience of their client group of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence complicates and impacts on the nature of 
the clients engagement with the service offered in that role.

Pack Page 86



24

Content

Proposed learning 
outcomes

Following completion of 
this training participants 
will: Proposed competencies

Recognise the signs and 
symptoms of gender based 
violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence

The learner can recognise the signs and symptoms of 
gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.

The learner can describe how gender based violence,
domestic abuse and sexual violence can affect anyone 
and that experience of it is not linked to any particular 
culture, religion or socio-economic status.

Understand the purpose of 
targeted enquiry and the 
reasoning for it

The learner can state the reason that targeted enquiry 
is required and their role in this work.

Demonstrate knowledge of 
information sharing 
legislation and the duty of 
confidentiality

The learner can reference information sharing 
legislation 

The learner demonstrates understanding of their 
duties/ ethical considerations in relation to 
confidentiality and data sharing.

Be able to demonstrate how 
to broach the subject of 
gender based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.

With client safety as primary concern; the learner can 
ask questions of those displaying signs and 
symptoms that relate to their possible experience of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.

The learner displays confidence to ask the question 
safely.

The learner can respond to the client’s response 
appropriately.

The learner can describe additional diverse and 
complex needs they will consider as they ask 
questions.

Pack Page 87



25

Be able to identify risk in 
cases of gender based 
violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence. 

The learner understands the purpose of Risk 
Identification Checklists.

The learner can use a nationally agreed Risk 
Identification Checklist with the client to identify the 
level of risk they are facing.

The learner understands the importance of immediate 
risk identification and can utilise pathways to facilitate 
this.

Be able to implement the 
targeted enquiry care 
pathway6

The learner is aware of the service choices, referral 
options and multi agency fora available to those 
experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence and related experiences.

The learner can explain these to their clients and 
facilitate referrals based on the choice of the client.

Where the client or related person is at risk of serious 
harm the learner can demonstrate the action they will 
take to safeguard those at risk, including children.

Delivery

Initial delivery of Level 2 of the Framework will be aimed at an audience of 
approximately 35,000 public service professionals in the priority groups. The delivery 
mechanism for this training is proposed as classroom training and the initial delivery
plan is phased over three years.

All options for integration of this level of the Framework with other frameworks, 
including the Continued Professional Education and Learning Framework (CPELF) 
for Social work staff and the Inter Collegiate Document for health, will be considered 
to avoid duplication of training and to acknowledge relevant prior learning.

Delivery of level 2 of the Framework will be through a regional dissemination model.  

A Welsh Government commissioned training programme and package of supporting 
materials will be procured.  The package will contain generic content on core 
practice related to Ask and Act and tailored materials which are audience specific.  
This will provide consistent training messages, learning outcomes and required 
competency for national delivery.

The commission to create a training programme and package of supporting 
materials will also include a separate requirement to write and deliver a “Train the 
Trainer” programme.  

                                               
6 This will be tailored per profession.

Pack Page 88



26

Calls for nomination of local professionals, who are representative of region, 
specialist knowledge and audience will be issued.  These nominated professionals 
will be trained on the Train the Trainer programme which will cover the key 
messages of the Ask and Act training and support and skills training on how to 
deliver these messages regionally.

These trained trainers will form the first membership of regional training consortia.  
These consortia will form part of the delivery model of several levels of the National 
Training Framework and will allow regions and organisations to take a flexible 
approach to training local professionals whilst addressing the needs of the targeted 
priority audiences.

A Welsh Government commissioned training programme and package of supporting 
materials will be procured.  The package will contain generic content on core 
practice related to Ask and Act and tailored materials which are audience specific.  
The commission to create a training programme and package of supporting 
materials will also include a separate requirement to write and deliver a “Train the 
Trainer” programme.  

The consortia will be asked to develop and implement regional training plans, 
staggered over three years through which to reach an agreed number of 
professionals.  Progress and outcomes will be monitored by the Welsh Government, 
through the Ministerial Adviser.

Outcomes

In addition to the measures described in “The Framework” section of this guidance, 
additional outcomes linked to the process of “Ask and Act” will be measured and, as 
such, will also be considered in follow up studies of the training. These outcomes will 
include:

 identification rates of gender-based violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence;

 referral rates to specialist services;
 cessation in abuse;
 repeat victimisation;
 earlier intervention; and
 abusive relationship lengths.

Accreditation

This level of the Framework will not be accredited.  It will conform to any relevant 
National Occupational Standards (NOS) and all reasonable measures will be taken 
to ensure it is CPD compliant across a range of professions.

Pack Page 89



27

Level 3

Level 3 of the Framework is aimed at those who will be required to do more than 
“Ask and Act”; those who will have a clear responsibility within their organisation for 
providing a service to a client who is affected by gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence or in supporting team members.  These professionals will 
need a strong understanding of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, the potential impact on the safeguarding of children and risk management 
of perpetrators.

These professionals will support their organisations to mitigate against risk and 
protect adult victims and their children. They may also work with perpetrators. It is 
important to offer appropriate training to lift skill and knowledge and address the 
lessons of various Serious Case and Domestic Homicide Reviews.

The following professional groups should include professionals with lead roles or 
those who are working with gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual
violence.

Social work
Housing
Youth Offending Teams
Substance misuse
Mental Health

In order to ensure a professional with enhanced understanding of gender based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is known and available to all those 
working with these issues, a minimum of 10% of the named professionals should be 
trained at level 3 in the first three years of roll out.

Relevant authorities are required to:

Select regional training consortia who meet enhanced criteria to train at 
level 3.

Ensure these nominated professionals are trained on the additional 
Train the Trainer programme 

Ensure each of these trained trainers is released from their core duties 
to deliver training up to 6 times per year.

Select champions from the following professions to receive level 3 
training: social work, housing, Youth offending, Substance misuse, and 
mental health.

Ensure these professionals access the level 3 training as provided 
through the regional training consortia.

Pack Page 90



28

Aim

Participants will be able to consider the risk and impact of the experience of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence on all family members and 
implement effective practice to mitigate this risk.

Audience

This training will be relevant to any professional who has a lead responsibility for 
their profession in terms of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence (e.g. safeguarding nurses, specialist midwives) or for those who are working 
with a client group experiencing high prevalence of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence (such as social workers, those working in mental health 
and substance use settings).  Its aim is to provide enhanced training for those with a 
pivotal role in victim and child protection.

Content 

Proposed learning outcomes: 
Following completion of this 
training participants will:

Proposed competencies

Understand the role of their 
agency and that of the agency 
representative within multi 
agency operational fora

The learner can describe the process, purpose and 
thresholds of each relevant multi agency 
operational forum and their agency role within 
these

The learner can demonstrate the information 
sharing remit for each fora

The learner can list examples of actions required 
through multi agency fora

Understand the link between
gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual 
violence and the risk to 
children and take appropriate 
actions to minimise his risk

The learner has a detailed understanding of the 
relationship between gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence and child 
abuse/maltreatment and can apply their knowledge 
to appropriate and robust safeguarding processes

Understand the implications 
for work with families where 
the perpetrator remains in the 
family home

The learner understands the risks of family 
engagement in relation to gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence

Delivery

At this level of specialism, with the additional practice implications for the work, 
direct, classroom training is proposed as the most appropriate delivery method.

Pack Page 91



29

Accreditation

Formal assessment and accreditation will be considered at this level. 

Pack Page 92



30

Level 4

*It is acknowledged the majority of specialist professions are situated outside of the 
relevant authorities, within the specialist charity sector.  The Welsh Government 
encourages all specialist workers to access appropriate training, regardless of the 
host organisation.

There are a significant amount of training courses already available across Wales.  
Some of these courses are offered as part of a national drive to professionalising the 
response to those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, whilst others are borne of local initiatives to address emerging need.  

Level 4 of the Framework sets out those professional qualifications recommended 
for particular specialist roles and seeks to consolidate a variety of training 
programmes on other specialist subjects into a single, centrally managed resource 
which offers consistency and assurance of quality, regardless of locality.

It is not the intention for those training courses which are developed to meet 
identified need to be stifled by the Framework.  It is recognised these often have a 
valuable role in responding to local circumstances but it is important nonetheless 
they align with the Framework’s aims of consistency and quality assurance.

Aim

To offer comprehensive, professional qualifications to those who deliver specialist 
services in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence,
in order to ensure clients have access to expert practitioners at the point at which 
they seek help; and

to compile gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence content, 
learning outcomes and competences into a centrally managed syllabus which offers 

Relevant authorities are required to:

Ensure any employee currently working as an Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor, Independent Sexual Violence Advisor, outreach worker, 
project worker, case worker, floating support worker, refuge worker, key 
worker, crisis worker, advocacy support worker or any other role which 
provides specialist support to those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence is trained in an appropriate course (as 
outlined in this guidance).

Ensure any employee recruited to work as an Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor, Independent Sexual Violence Advisor, outreach worker, 
project worker, case worker, floating support worker, refuge worker, key 
worker, crisis worker , advocacy support worker is trained in an appropriate 
course within 12 months of the commencement of their employment.*

Pack Page 93



31

consistency and assurance of quality, regardless of locality, resulting in uniformity in 
the resulting practice of the trained professional and improved services to those who 
experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Audience

The audience at level 4 is formed of two groups:

1) Those who require specialist accredited qualifications in order to practice in 
specific roles.  These roles include Independent Domestic Violence Advisors, 
Outreach Workers, Case Workers, Floating Support Workers, Refuge/Key Workers, 
Independent Sexual Violence Advisors and Crisis Workers.

2) Those who are not in specialist job roles but who require education on specific 
subject matters in order to respond to emerging client need.  This may include a 
health visitor who would benefit from training in Female Genital Mutilation in order to 
identify the risks of this abuse taking place and respond effectively. 

The remainder of this chapter is set out in two parts to reflect the difference in the 
audience group.

1) Those who require specialist accredited qualifications.

Content 

Several roles are utilised within the specialist sector to provide services to those who 
have experienced gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

The title, descriptions and commissioned purpose of such roles vary locally.  
However many of the roles vary more in title than in function and therefore require 
the same skill set.  It is not possible in this guidance to provide a comprehensive list 
of all local roles.  The table below categorises the roles into subject area, provides 
typical job titles linked to these and a brief summary of purpose. 

The roles included here relate to practical and advocacy based support.  Counselling 
services are not covered within this framework and should conform to the 
requirements of the relevant regulatory body.

The courses listed below provide similar content but with variances in detail and 
structure.

It is recommended the domestic abuse focussed courses provide content on:

 role definitions, remit and purpose;
 the stages of change and motivational interviewing;
 self care and vicarious trauma;
 understanding planning for and responding to the diverse needs of clients;
 risk identification, assessment and management;
 multi Agency collaboration;

Pack Page 94



32

 the Criminal Justice System (working with the police, Crown Prosecution 
Service and Probation);

 case management;
 information sharing;
 accessing civil law remedies;
 safeguarding children;
 mental health;
 substance use;
 homelessness and Housing options;
 honour based violence, forced marriage, female genital mutilation and no 

recourse to public funds;
 sexual violence;
 the impact on health;
 stalking and harassment; and
 perpetrator characteristics.

The sexual violence focussed courses should provide relevant content as above plus 
additional content on:

 the human response to trauma;
 sexual health;
 sexual violence needs assessment; and
 the layout and function of the Sexual Assault Referral Centre.

Pack Page 95



33

Specific courses for specialist roles
Role Role 

purpose
Service 
provided to 
those who 
have 
experienced:

Client 
group for 
whom 
service 
provided

Training 
requirement

Independent 
Domestic Violence 
Advisor (IDVA)

To offer 
crisis and 
medium term 
support to 
those at the 
highest risk 
and to co-
ordinate 
client 
centred, 
multi agency 
collaboration.

All client 
groups 
served.

The CAADA 
IDVA 
training7

Outreach 
Workers/Case 
Workers

To offer 
crisis and 
medium term 
support to 
those who 
are not at 
high risk.

May be 
women 
only, 
depending 
on host 
organisation

The CAADA 
IDVA 
training

WWA 
certificate

Floating Support 
Workers

To provide 
emotional 
and practical 
support in a 
clients own 
home.  May 
include 
tenancy 
support

May be 
women 
only, 
depending 
on host 
organisation

The CAADA 
IDVA 
training

WWA 
certificate

D
om

es
tic

 a
bu

se

Refuge/Key 
Workers

To provide 
practical and     
emotional 
support to 
residents 
within a 
refuge.  

Domestic 
abuse, sexual 
violence 
within 
intimate 
relationships, 
“Honour” 
based abuse,
female 
genital 
mutilation,
forced 
marriage, 
stalking and 
harassment 
within 
intimate 
relationships.

Most 
refuges are 
single sex 
only and the 
majority in 
Wales
provide 
services to 
women 
(although 
some male 
only units 

The CAADA 
IDVA 
training

WWA 
certificate

                                               
7 The Welsh Government part funds IDVA provision across Wales and this qualification is a 
requirement of the funding from 2014-15.

Pack Page 96



34

are 
available).

Independent 
Sexual Violence 
Advisors (ISVA)

To offer 
needs led 
support and 
expertise on 
the criminal 
justice 
process and 
forensic DNA 
retrieval.

Sexual 
violence 
within 
intimate 
relationships 
and where 
perpetrator is 
a stranger or 
acquaintance 
Historic 
sexual abuse.

All client 
groups 
served.

The 
Survivors 
Trust ISVA 
training

Lime Culture 
ISVA 
training

CAADA 
IDVA-ISVA 
conversion 
course

S
ex

ua
l v

io
le

nc
e

Crisis 
Workers/Advocacy 
workers

To offer 
immediate 
support at 
the time of 
report and 
through any 
forensic or 
medical 
examination 
following 
sexual 
violence.

Sexual 
violence 
within 
intimate 
relationships 
and where 
the 
perpetrator is 
a stranger or 
acquaintance

All client 
groups 
served.

The 
Survivors 
Trust ISVA 
training

Lime Culture 
ISVA 
training

CAADA 
IDVA-ISVA 
conversion 
course

Pack Page 97



35

Delivery

The courses outlined above are currently on offer to professionals working in Wales. 
Each of the courses is offered by a national provider and it is intended such an 
arrangement would remain.  Currently Home Office funding is available for both the 
IDVA and ISVA training and this is likely to be available until at least March 2015.

All new specialist workers should be trained within 12 months of taking up 
employment.

Accreditation

Each of the professional courses outlined in this chapter are accredited at either 
level 3 or Level 4 with the Open College Network or at certificate level on the 
Qualification and Credit Framework.  All specific courses for specialist roles should 
be accredited at such levels.

2) Those who are not in specialist job roles but who require education on 
specific subject matters in order to respond to emerging client need.

Content

Level 2 and 3 of the Framework will provide the fundamental content to enable non-
specialist professionals to provide an effective response to those experiencing 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  Thereafter, as part of 
ongoing Continuous Professional Development these professionals may identify 
specific areas in which they would benefit from improved knowledge.   The 
professional qualifications offered at level 4 are unlikely to be appropriate due to cost 
and time requirements but shorter, more focussed courses may be suitable.

This type of training has been offered in many parts of Wales for several years and is 
often offered by specialist service providers or through partnerships such as the 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.  

According to a short survey of Domestic Abuse Coordinators8, the following courses 
are currently available in Wales:

 domestic abuse awareness – 1 and  ½  day courses;
 domestic abuse and the effects on children;
 risk assessment and multi agency working;
 understanding perpetrators of domestic abuse;
 sexual abuse awareness;
 honour based abuse and forced marriage;
 Female Genital Mutilation; and
 violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence: the experience 

of young people

                                               
8 Welsh Government survey 2014 - 18 of the 22 Domestic Abuse Coordinators responded in time for 
inclusion in this guidance.

Pack Page 98



36

However, with the exception of domestic abuse awareness training, which is offered 
in all localities, there in no national coverage of training on these subjects.  Many of 
the subjects listed are only available in one or two Local Authority areas and the 
structure of the courses is disparate. 

Level 4 of the Framework will compile a list of essential courses, relevant to the 
Continuous Professional Development of all professionals.  It will also set out the 
learning outcomes and competences required of such courses in order to create 
consistency of content and quality.

As a priority the following courses will be compiled:

 a 1 day domestic abuse awareness course;
 a half day course on modern slavery;
 a course on stalking and harassment
 a 1 day course on sexual violence
 sessions on Honour based abuse,  forced marriage, No Recourse to Public 

Funds and Female Genital Mutilation;
 a 1 day course on gender based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 

violence: the experience of young people.

Delivery

The collation of the level 4 syllabus will outline the following requirements of subject 
specific courses to provide the required consistency and quality assurance:

 the required learning outcomes, evaluation outcomes and competences;
 the intended practice implications resulting from the course;
 the standard of materials;
 the trainer criteria for this subject (to include practice and training experience);
 the course set up (learner numbers, training method); and
 relevant National Occupational Standards (NOS).

Pre existing courses

Pre existing courses (i.e. those listed above) will be mapped against one another in 
order to agree a set of learning outcomes which represent the quality of the course 
required for Wales.  These learning outcomes will be agreed by The Content 
Development Group who provide a balanced, audience representative panel.  The 
Group will also be asked to consider the additional requirements above.

These learning outcomes and requirements will form the basis of a Welsh 
Government endorsed course on the relevant subject and therefore the 
recommended model of training on this subject.  The recommended learning 
outcomes and requirements will be made available on the Live Fear Free website 
and local training providers will be encouraged to use these models to form the basis 
of training on this subject.  

Pack Page 99



37

Useful materials and resources will also be listed with the requirements to support 
consistency of training, as will an evaluation form.  The results of this monitoring and 
evaluation will be monitored by the Ministerial Adviser to assess the impact of the 
recommended model of training and address any shortcomings on an annual basis.

New subjects or courses

Where the need for a new course is identified locally, the following steps will be 
required to list this course on the National Training Framework and therefore receive 
the Welsh Government’s endorsement of quality.

The course details should be submitted to the Content Development Group for 
consideration.  

These details should include:

 the training needs analysis which demonstrates the need for this 
course;

 the trainer criteria for this course (to include practice and training 
experience);

 the proposed audience for the course;
 the course set up (learner numbers, training method);
 learning outcomes, evaluation outcomes and materials; and
 how it maps to reliant National Occupational Standards (NOS).

The Content Delivery Group will provide a quality control process for the submission 
of training courses at level 4.  They will consider whether the course is of sufficient 
quality for listing on the Framework, whether the course overlaps with other listed 
courses, the suitability of the course for multi agency audiences and whether it links 
in appropriately with national referral pathways linked to specialist provision and Ask 
and Act.

Where a course is approved for inclusion on the Framework it becomes Welsh 
Government endorsed and therefore the recommended model of training on a 
particular subject.  

Accreditation

The subject specific courses at level 4 will be offered to a varied audience.  Courses 
should conform to any relevant National Occupational Standards (NOS) and all 
reasonable measures will be taken to ensure CPD compliance across a range of 
professions.  Formal accreditation of courses will also be considered as an option for 
the learner, as will integration of all courses into an accredited package of learning, 
accessible over time.

Pack Page 100



38

Level 5

*It is acknowledged the majority of specialist professions are situated outside of the 
relevant authorities, within the specialist charity sector.  The Welsh Government 
encourages all specialist workers to access appropriate training, regardless of the 
host organisation.

Level 5 of the Framework is aimed at those who manage specialist advocacy and 
support services for those experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.  These services are often small and rely on effective management 
in order to offer high quality, sustainable service provision.

The training will aim to equip service managers, senior or lead professionals to
implement effective case management structures, provide appropriate performance 
management data and consider staff welfare.  It will also equip them to lead their 
service through commissioning frameworks, fundraising, Domestic Homicide 
Reviews and Serious Case Reviews

Aim

This training will equip participants to understand the processes required to manage 
a service to those affected by gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence and to enhance the performance of frontline workers through strong 
management and leadership.

Audience

The posts targeted by this training would include community based service 
managers, refuge managers, team leaders and senior staff such as lead/Senior 
IDVAs.  

Relevant authorities are required to:

Ensure any employee currently working as a community based service 
manager, refuge manager, team leader or in a lead/Senior role is trained at 
level 5 of the Framework upon launch of this training.

Ensure any employee recruited to work as a community based service 
manager, refuge manager, team leader or in a lead/Senior role is trained in 
an appropriate course within 12 months of the commencement of their 
employment.*

Pack Page 101



39

Content 

Proposed learning 
outcomes

Following completion of 
this training participants 
will:

Proposed competencies

Understand the 
management and 
leadership qualities required 
of those who deliver 
gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual 
violence services.

The learner can guide their staff to maintain effective 
case management processes that are safe, legal 
and robust.

The learner understands their management role in 
supporting a workforce providing services to those 
experiencing gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence and ensuring effective 
care processes at individual and organisation levels.

Understand the Co-
ordinated Community 
Response and work 
effectively within this.

The learner can demonstrate formal and informal 
collaborative working.

The learner is equipped to lead their team through 
Domestic Homicide Reviews and Serious Case 
Reviews and understands the role of their service 
within this process.

Understand and be able to 
plan the strategic direction 
of the service.

The learner can create effective fundraising 
strategies.

The learner understands the commissioning 
framework and is aware of how to prepare for 
commissioning processes and engage effectively in 
them.

Understands the 
importance of monitoring 
and evaluation in relation to 
service provision to those 
affected by gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse
and sexual violence. 

The learner can measure the impact of service 
provision in outcomes.

The learner can demonstrate effective data 
management and use this to improve service 
delivery.

Delivery

Level 5 of the Framework will be delivered through classroom training, workshops 
and action learning sets.  These will bring together service managers from across 
Wales, providing networking opportunities and opportunities for peer support across 
the wider sector

Pack Page 102



40

Accreditation

This course will be accredited and offered at a higher level than courses at level 4 of 
the Framework.  This design provides academic progression between level 4 and 5 
of the Framework which will further professionalise the specialist sector and offer 
opportunities which contribute to the retention of skilled staff.

Pack Page 103



41

Level 6

Level 6 of the Framework will create a culture and infrastructure which provides 
leadership and management support to introduce and implement the knowledge and 
practice direction gained through levels 1 to 5.  Level 6 combines an annually 
reviewed Strategic Engagement Plan supplemented by relevant supporting 
materials. 

Level 1 and 6 of the National Training Framework will be launched together.

Aims

To engage Public Service leadership through awareness raising and education on 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence as both a workforce 
and service delivery issue.  

To create a culture and infrastructure which support the aims of the National Training 
Framework on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Audience

Level 6 of the Framework will focus on the Senior Leadership of the Public Service.  
This includes (but is not limited to) Chief Executive Officers, Council Leaders, 
Personnel Directors, Workforce Directors, Training & Development Managers, Trade 
Unions, Chief Constables, Fire and Rescue Authority Chiefs and relevant 
commissioners.

Content 

The content of level 6 of the Framework will evolve depending on strategic priorities 
and identified implementation challenges.  In the first instance it will focus on the
Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill.

Over time level 6 will provide content on:

 the relevant authority’s responsibilities arising from the Bill  which seeks to 
improve arrangements for the prevention  of gender-based violence,  
domestic abuse and sexual violence,

 as a workplace issue -  the importance of having an aware and informed 
workforce;

 “Ask and Act”-its purpose, its rationale, its importance;
 leadership in increasingly complex situations9;
 partnership working between specialist and public services;
 conducting and participating in robust needs assessments
 reviewing and monitoring Workplace polices; and
 subject specific information led by expert stakeholders.

Where appropriate, level 6 of the Framework will include feedback, case studies and, 
if suitable and safe, direct testimonials from service users.
                                               
9 Such as  managing “troubled families” or those who require multiple, cross cutting interventions.

Pack Page 104



42

Delivery 

Delivery of level 6 of the Framework will be taken forward in two work streams.  

1) A Strategic Engagement Plan 

2) The Strengthening Leadership Series

1) A Strategic Engagement Plan 

The Strategic Engagement Plan will involve direct intervention to engage Public 
Service leadership and gain commitment to particular courses of action, to raise 
awareness and to inform on policy and legislative updates.  

The Strategic Engagement Plan consists of a timetable of relevant events which are 
aimed at Public Service Leadership, which already influence strategy and direction 
and which Leadership already engage with.  A summary of the type of events this 
will include is below:

Forum type Specified activity 

Boards/meetings/
partnerships

Reform Delivery Group (RDG)
Effective Services for Vulnerable Groups Board
Meeting of the Main Delivery Group (G42)
Right to be Safe Implementation Board 
Fire and Rescue Services
Personnel and  Organisation Development Group (PODG-Fire 
and Rescue)
Workforce Partnership Council
Local Authority Counsellor Leads 
WLGA Directors of Human Resources Group
Meeting of NHS Workforce Directors
NHS confederation
Domestic Abuse Co-ordinators Forum
Ministerial meeting with PCCs.
Police Services across Wales

Welsh 
Government 
meetings

Business Group

Events
WLGA Conference
National Conference for Counsellors
Specific Bill related conference/events

Publications Councillor Connect
Municipal Journal 
Staff newsletters

Letters/
communication

Ministerial letters
CEO letters – Welsh Government Sponsored Bodies

Pack Page 105



43

It is intended Ministerial presentations, the presence of senior Government officials 
and, in time, attendance of the Ministerial Adviser, at these events will offer 
information and the opportunity to influence Public Service leadership, in the 
company of their peers, without making unnecessary additional demands on their 
time. This is likely to result in stronger engagement and wider reach.

A specific conference, aimed at Public Service leaders is also proposed, to take 
place around Royal Assent for the Bill in order to strengthen awareness of the 
legislation, clarify required duties and create impetus for practice following 
enactment.

2) The Strengthening Leadership Series

The Strengthening Leadership Series will be published to support the messages 
disseminated through the Strategic Engagement Plan.  The series will convey 
Ministerial commitment and leadership, share the expertise of the specialist sector
and provide implementation guidance on Bill and Policy content to offer regular 
communication on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
issues.

This series will contain content presented through a variety of formats, designed for 
quick access and maximum engagement.  These formats will include:

Video clips: Short vignettes which provide specific information on a topic.  This may 
include a message from the Minister on the Gender-based Violence, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill or a subject expert talking to a related issue.

Webinars: These may be recorded or live streamed and provide detailed 
consideration of a subject or area of implementation.  They may involve peer to peer 
learning and the sharing of best practice.  Live stream webinars would be interactive, 
providing for questions, answers and discussion.

Briefings: Video clips and webinars would be accompanied by briefings which would
provide additional guidance. These can used to support delegation of related tasks
such as review of the workplace policy or creation of referral pathways.

Live streaming: Where possible live events and conferences would be recorded for 
virtual access.  Moreover, recorded clips of such events would be made available 
subsequently.

The pilot delivery plan of the Information Provision Series is outlined below:

Pack Page 106



44

July August September October November January February
Video clip Ministerial 

message 
linked to Bill 
introduction

Workplace 
policies – 1 
year on

Webinar Expert led 
presentation: 
Vicarious 
Trauma.

Acknowledging 
the risk: Non 
specialist work 
with those who 
perpetrate 
violence.

Briefing Monitoring 
the 
effectiveness 
of Workplace 
policies

Vicarious 
trauma

Perpetrators 
as employees-
the 
responsibility 
of the Public 
Service.

Live 
streaming

Linked to Bill 
conference

P
ack P

age 107



45

Outcomes

In addition to the measures described in “The Framework” section of this guidance, 
additional outcomes linked to culture changes and strengthened infrastructure will be 
considered.  These outcomes will include:

 Improved awareness of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence amongst senior Public Service leadership

 Reach of events
 The number of White Ribbon organisations and Ambassadors in Wales
 Workplace policy monitoring
 Written commitment to specific areas of work

Accreditation

This level of the Framework will not be accredited.  It will conform to any relevant 
National Occupational Standards (NOS) and all reasonable measures will be taken 
to ensure it is CPD compliant across a range of professions.

Pack Page 108



46

Delivery plan and dissemination

2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018

Level 1 Design eLearning package 
and launch

eLearning package forms part 
of mandatory induction training

eLearning package forms part 
of mandatory induction training

eLearning package forms part 
of mandatory induction training

Level 2 Launch year 1 tranche of Ask 
and Act training

Launch year 2 tranche of Ask 
and Act training

Launch year 3 tranche of Ask 
and Act training

Level 3 Launch year 1 training 
programme

Launch year 2 training 
programme

Level 4
Encourage Welsh participation 
of Home Office funded training
for IDVAs and ISVAs. 10

Encourage Welsh participation 
of Home Office funded training 
for IDVAs and ISVAs.

Specific Welsh specialist 
training

Specific Welsh specialist 
training

Level 5 Launch specialist service 
management support course

Level 6

Conference

Strategic Engagement Plan

Strengthening Leadership
Series

Strategic Engagement Plan

Strengthening Leadership 
Series

Strategic Engagement Plan

Strengthening Leadership 
Series

Strategic Engagement Plan

Strengthening Leadership 
Series

                                               
10 Relevant specialist subjects will be funded where possible based on identified need.

P
ack P

age 109



47

Definitions

Abuse (as defined by the Bill): Physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse.

Accreditation: For the purposes of this guidance the term “accreditation” describes 
authority or sanction to a training course provided by an official body when 
recognised standards have been met.

“Ask and Act”: A process of targeted enquiry across the Welsh Public Service in 
relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and a 
process of routine enquiry within maternal and midwifery services mental health and 
child maltreatment settings.

Client: Client is used here as a term to describe a person experiencing gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The term encompasses the 
terms “victim”, “survivor”, “service user” and “patient”.  Different partners use different 
words to define their relationship to the person at risk and so the guidance reflects 
this.

In practical terms it is suggested a person experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence selects the term they prefer, where a term is 
required.  It should generally be possible to use a client’s name rather than other 
descriptive terms.

Domestic abuse (as defined by the Bill): Abuse where the victim of it is or has 
been associated with the abuser

A person is associated with another person for the purpose of the definition of 
“domestic abuse” if they fall within the definition in section 21(2) or (3) of the Gender-
based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill.

Female Genital Mutilation (as defined in the Bill): An act that is an offence under 
sections 1, 2 or 3 of the Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 (c. 31).

“Gender-based Violence” (as defined in the Bill)
(a) violence, threats of violence or harassment arising directly or indirectly from 
values, beliefs or customs relating to gender or sexual orientation;
(b) female genital mutilation;
(c) forcing a person (whether by physical force or coercion by threats or other
psychological means) to enter into a religious or civil ceremony of marriage (whether 
or not legally binding);

Harassment (as defined in the Bill)
A course of conduct by a person which he or she knows or ought to know amounts 
to harassment of the other; and for the purpose of this definition: 

(a) a person ought to know that his or her conduct amounts to or involves
harassment if a reasonable person in possession of the same information

Pack Page 110



48

would think the course of conduct amounted to or involved harassment of
another person, and

(b) “conduct” includes speech;

Independent Domestic Violence Adviser: Trained specialist worker who provides 
short to medium-term casework support for high risk victims of domestic abuse.

Independent Sexual Violence Adviser: Trained specialist worker who provides 
short to medium-term casework support for victims of sexual abuse

Local Authority (as defined in the Bill): A county or county borough council.

Public service: Public services are services delivered for the benefit of the public. 
This can include services delivered through the third sector, through social enterprise 
or through services that are contracted out. 

In the context of the National Training Framework the public service is defined based 
on an estimate of ‘devolved public sector workers’ in Wales – this includes the 
devolved civil service, local authorities, health, education authorities and WGSBs.
Although not devolved, Police Authorities are included as they are partly funded by 
WG.   ‘Devolved public sector workers’ excludes non-devolved civil servants (such 
as those working for HMRC and the DVLA), military personnel and people employed 
by Public Corporations (such as S4C and Cardiff Bus etc.) in Wales. 

Relevant authorities (as defined by the Bill): The Bill defines relevant authorities 
as county and county borough councils, Local Health Boards, fire and rescue 
authorities and NHS trusts.

Sexual Violence (as defined by the Bill)
Sexual exploitation, sexual harassment, or threats of violence of a sexual nature.

Sexual exploitation (as defined by the Bill)
Something that is done to or in respect of a person which

(a) involves the commission of an offence under Part 1 of the Sexual Offences 
Act 2003 (c. 42), as it has an effect in England and Wales, or

(b) would involve the commission of such an offence if it were done in 
England and Wales.

Violence against women:  The experience of gender based violence (as defined in 
the Bill) by women.

                                               
i This will be tailored per profession.

Pack Page 111



EXAMPLE AND DRAFT JULY 2014 

“Ask and Act”
Guidance to support the proposal for key public sector professionals to “Ask 

and Act” in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence

Welsh Government

Pack Page 112



1

This guidance provides an example of the type of guidance which will be issued to 
support a process of “Ask and Act”- a process of targeted enquiry which will identify
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence earlier and offer an 
effective, early intervention to victims.

This guidance should be viewed as an early draft only.  It is expected to change and 
grow through further consultation.  It is hoped by publishing the guidance alongside 
the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill it 
provides detail of what is meant by “Ask and Act”, the intricacies of such an 
approach and the value of implementation.  This guidance is not presented as a final 
version and should not be read in such a way.  Formal consultation on this document 
is planned and comments on its content will be welcomed through this process.

The guidance provides information on the types of activities which should be 
undertaken to support robust implementation of “Ask and Ask”, including the required 
training, welfare and support and monitoring.  It also provides a step by step process 
which outlines the key considerations required when practicing “Ask and Act” 
including setting, client confidentiality and asking sensitive questions.  It is the 
intention of the Welsh Government to eventually issue guidance on “Ask and Act” 
under section 12 of the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence (Wales) Bill.

Under section 12 the Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to a relevant authority on 
how the authority should exercise its functions with a view to contributing to the 
pursuit of improving arrangements for the prevention of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence, improving arrangements for the protection of 
victims and improving the support for persons affected by such violence and abuse. 
A relevant authority includes local authorities, Local Health Boards, fire and rescue 
authorities and NHS trusts.

These relevant authorities, by virtue of section 14 of the Bill, must follow this 
guidance when exercising their functions unless there is good reason for the 
authority not to follow the guidance. If a relevant authority considers there is good 
reason not to follow the guidance it must decide on an alternative policy for the 
exercise of its functions in respect of the subject matter of the guidance. It must then
issue a policy statement as to how it intends to exercise its functions and the 
reasons for not following the guidance. 

Section 13 of the Bill requires the Welsh Ministers to consult on the guidance prior to 
publication. The Welsh Government acknowledges the value in a detailed 
consultation prior to finalising draft guidance under section 12 and subsequently 
being laid before the Assembly as per the requirement in section 13.  There are 
several reasons for this:

The Welsh Government wishes to consult directly with appropriate councils, 
regulatory bodies and Royal Colleges to identify processes and requirements which 
are relevant to the varied roles within relevant authorities, For example, the work of a 
local authority based housing officer differs in structure, context and activity to the 
role of a nurse working in a triage unit within an accident and emergency 
department.  One size will not fit all in relation to “Ask and Act” and it is likely the 
requirements on local authorities will be specified to departments or professional 
groups.  We want to do this in partnership with these professional groups.

Pack Page 113



2

Recognition of, and responses to, gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence will be requirements in future guidance.  However, we acknowledge 
the processes through which to ensure these requirements are met are varied and 
can be structured in various ways, involving different structures and staff roles.  The 
Welsh Government wish to promote flexibility in applying a process of “Ask and Act” 
to allow relevant authorities to utilise existing skill sets, structures and partnerships in 
its development, whilst ensuring confident staff are equipped and ready to identify
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, know how to respond 
and are supported to do so within each organisation.

The Welsh Government acknowledges information sharing and decision making in 
relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence remains a 
challenge across relevant authorities.  Whilst it is a challenge which is being tackled 
at a local level, the difference in views across Wales remains an obstacle to 
consistent implementation of a process of “Ask and Act”.  Further partnership work 
across the relevant authorities is required to provide guidance which can be applied 
consistently across Wales. 

The selection of the priority professionals who will be prioritised for training in how to 
“Ask and Act” is a matter for further consultation.  Prior to requiring a list of 
professionals who must be trained, the Welsh Government wishes to seek the views 
of the relevant authorities and other relevant bodies to agree an approach.

Some practice is already underway in Wales which goes some way towards a 
process of “Ask and Act” as defined herein.  It is likely these processes and the 
professionals who practice them will need refined input to further develop these 
processes to reflect the additional requirements of “Ask and Act”, and to avoid 
unnecessary burden or duplication we wish to explore the overlap between such 
processes further.

Pack Page 114



3

Contents

Executive summary

1. Introduction 8

Purpose of the guidance 10

Why is a process of “Ask and Act” necessary? 11

2. The rationale 12

What is “Ask and Act”? 12

The aims of “Ask and Act” 12

3. Managing the “Ask and Act” Process – the role of the organisation    18

Key requirements of “Ask and Act” 19

Relevant professionals 21

Client confidentiality, data protection and information sharing 22

Risk assessment and Care Pathways 24

Safeguarding Children 26

Vicarious Trauma 28

Monitoring and review 30

Training 32

Cost benefit 36

4. Delivering “Ask and Act” – the role of the frontline practitioner          37

The process 38

Applying “Ask and Act” with those with diverse needs 75

Examples of current practice 80

Definitions 81

Screening tools 83

Related documents and useful links 86

Appendices 88

Pack Page 115



4

Appendix 1: The evidence base for screening 88

Appendix 2: Potential barriers to “Ask and Act” 89

References 93

Pack Page 116



5

Executive summary

Violence and abuse in any form is unacceptable.  Anyone who experiences 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be provided 
with an effective and timely response by relevant authorities. Evidence suggests 
women are more likely to experience gender-based violence and as such this 
guidance acknowledges violence against women is the most prevalent example 
of gender-based violence.

This acknowledgement, however, by no means suggests any victim of such 
violence and abuse should be excluded from accessing the help and support 
they require.  Gender- based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
experienced within same sex relationships, between family members and by men 
who are abused by women and, as such, this guidance provides a process which 
is inclusive of all potential victims of such gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.

“Ask and Act” is a process of targeted enquiry to be practiced across the public 
service for gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The term 
targeted enquiry describes the recognition of indicators of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence as a prompt for a professional to ask their client 
whether they have been affected by any of these issues. 

The aims of “Ask and Act” are:

 to increase identification of those experiencing gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence;

 to offer referrals and interventions for those identified which provide specialist 
support based on the risk and need of the client;

 to begin to create a culture across the public service where the experience of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is an accepted area 
of business and where disclosure is expected supported, accepted and 
facilitated;

 to improve the response to those who experience gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence with other complex needs such as 
substance misuse and mental health; and

 to pro-actively engage with those who are vulnerable and hidden, at the earliest 
opportunity, rather than only reactively engaging with those who are in crisis or at 
imminent risk of serious harm.

The working practices through which to offer a process of “Ask and Act” will differ 
depending on organisational structure, client group and professional roles.  However, 
one fundamental statement must support every variation of process: 

Pack Page 117



6

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence require a public 
service response.  Professional confidence to identify these issues, to ask 
about them and to respond effectively is fundamental for good clinical and 
social care practice.

The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and the World Health 
Organisation recommend a system of targeted (or clinical) enquiry across Health and 
Social Care to better identify and therefore respond to domestic abuse.1 2

The Welsh Government takes this recommendation and identified good practice 
further by supporting the use of such enquiry across the public service (to include 
those in a safeguarding roles, education, Fire and Rescue and those within housing 
services).  It also proposes a slightly wider focus on gender-based violence,
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Pack Page 118



7

The 10 principles of “Ask and Act”

1) Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence require a 
Public Service response.  Professional confidence to identify these 
issues, to ask about them and to respond effectively is fundamental for 
good clinical and social care practice.

2) Those who disclose gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence should mirror the diversity of the population of the locality.

3) The Welsh Public Service has an important role to play in addressing 
these issues, by supporting clients and strengthening the services they 
receive.  A more consistent approach to identifying those who 
experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, assessing risk and referring appropriately is required across 
Wales.

4) Clients will not always tell professionals about their experience without 
being prompted.  It is the professional’s role to consider whether it 
would be appropriate to ask direct and sensitive questions within a 
safe, confidential environment. 

5) Clients require clarity of how their confidentiality will be treated.

6) Whilst never an interrogation, “Ask and Act” is not a single intervention.
Every question is an opportunity to offer support. A process of 
targeted enquiry should include follow-up with victims beyond 
identification and repeat questions

7) Having a conversation with a client is preferable to use of a screening 
tool. A general question about someone’s experience of abuse may 
lead to a disclosure of several forms of abuse. 

8) Partnerships between public service providers and local specialist 
providers should be solidified in order to provide more comprehensive 
delivery of policy and practice.

9) Implementation of a process of “Ask and Act” must be accompanied 
and supported by training and leadership.

10)Missed opportunities to identify gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence are missed opportunities to prevent further abuse,
identify risk to children and save lives.

Pack Page 119



8

Introduction

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are large scale, 
pervasive problems, which every year causes needless deaths and damage to 
thousands of lives across Wales.

 Domestic Abuse affects 11% of women and 5% of men each year in Wales.  
This equates to approximately 140,000 victims per year. 3

 Sexual violence affects 3.2% of women and 0.7% of men.4  This equates to 
approximately 34,000 victims per year.

 1% of cases handled by the Forced Marriage Unit originate from Wales.5

 Estimates from FORWARD show around 66,000 women resident
in England and Wales had been subjected to female genital mutilation 
(FGM)6.

 Around 0.4% of all births in Wales are to women with FGM. This equates to 
approximately 140 cases per year.

Whilst the incidence of these issues is alarmingly high, those who experience 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are known to under 
report and all prevalence figures must be treated as under-estimates.

There is also a major overlap between direct harm to children and domestic abuse.  
62% of children are also directly harmed.  Moreover only half of the children exposed 
to domestic abuse and two thirds of those living with severe domestic abuse were 
known to local authority children’s social care.  Two thirds of these children were 
also directly harmed, 91% by the same perpetrator who was abusing the adult 
victim.7

In addition to the physical risk of harm, children living in households where gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is ongoing are known to 
experience negative impacts on their emotional wellbeing, social and relationship 
development and school adjustment.8

Missed opportunities to identify gender- based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence are therefore missed opportunities to identify risk to children.  

The experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence has 
serious and negative social impacts on the health of adult victims, with known 
consequences for mental health, pregnancy, eating disorders, reproductive health 
and physical wellbeing; it is also linked to homelessness and substance abuse.9 10  

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence can cause physical 
harm and, in the most serious cases, death.  Two women a week are killed by a 
partner or ex partner and a third of those who experience domestic abuse have 
considered suicide.11 12

Pack Page 120



9

Given its prevalence and its varied, direct and indirect consequences, many Public 
Services are already offering a response to those experiencing these issues.

 Over a third of women attending general practitioners have experienced 
physical violence from a partner or former partner and the issue of domestic 
abuse has been made a clinical priority by the Royal College of General 
Practitioners.13

 Tackling FGM in the UK: Intercollegiate recommendations for identifying, 
recording and reporting recognises the required Health response  to ensure 
that young girls at risk of undergoing Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) are 
protected14

 30% of domestic violence starts in pregnancy and is associated with low birth 
weight and pregnancy complications including miscarriage and still-birth15 16.

 Nearly three quarters of children on the 'at risk' register live in households 
where domestic violence occurs and 52% of child protection cases involve 
domestic violence.17

 22% of all homelessness applications in Wales are due to domestic abuse.18

The Welsh Public Service has an important role to play in addressing these 
issues, by supporting clients and strengthening the services they receive.  A 
more consistent approach to identifying those who experience gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence assessing risk and referring 
appropriately is required across Wales.

Pack Page 121

http://www.rcog.org.uk/files/rcog-corp/FGM_Report%20v10%20a~final%20forwebsite.pdf
http://www.rcog.org.uk/files/rcog-corp/FGM_Report%20v10%20a~final%20forwebsite.pdf


10

The purpose of this guidance

This guidance is written for leaders and practitioners working across the Public 
Service who will have responsibility for the implementation, management and 
practice related to “Ask and Ask”.

The term “Ask and Act” is used to describe a process of targeted enquiry for use 
across the Public Service related to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.

This document is split into four parts:

1. an introduction;
2. a summary of the aims and evidence base for this policy (the rationale);
3. guidance to Public Service leaders; and 
4. process models and practical guidance to support the implementation of 

targeted enquiry across the Public Service.  

Pack Page 122



11

Why is a process of “Ask and Act” necessary?

Whilst some of the health and social care impacts of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence are apparent and the prevalence and impacts of 
these issues alarmingly high, it is also well acknowledged those who experience 
these issues are known to under report and all prevalence figures must be treated as 
under-estimates.  

Many of those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence feel in some way responsible for what has happened to them and a sense 
of shame and stigma.  This can limit how able they feel to disclose their experiences 
without professional reassurance and support.  

It is also common for those who experience these issues to fear the impact of 
disclosing the experience.  In many cases threats will have been made of 
consequences for disclosing abuse or leaving the relationship to further close down 
reporting options for the client.  These threats should be taken seriously; in relation 
to domestic abuse, attempts to end a relationship are strongly linked to homicide and 
research suggests women are particularly at risk within the first two months of 
leaving an abusive relationship.19 20

Currently Public Services in Wales do not adhere to routine or consistent protocols to 
better identify incidents of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence, respond appropriately to the risks those who experience them face, the 
health impact, the experience of their children or to refer to specialist support.  As 
such, victims are often not identified and are not receiving vital services available to 
them through the Welsh Public Service and specialist sector.

Traditionally responsibility for the identification of, and response to, gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence has lain with the Criminal Justice 
System.  These are public protection issues and in this regard, it is right criminal 
justice agencies take a leading role in the work.  

However, evidence shows many of those who experience gender-based violence,
domestic abuse and sexual violence do not choose to report to the police at all or 
only report the most serious incidents or when the violence and abuse they 
experience escalates.21 The client group may, however, seek help for the 
consequences of their experiences through health services or by citing relationship 
breakdown, due to abuse, in a homelessness application.  

Professional confidence to identify gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence, to ask about these issues and to ensure an appropriate 
response is fundamental for good clinical and social care practice.

Pack Page 123



12

The rationale

What is “Ask and Act”?

“Ask and Act” is a process of targeted enquiry across the Public Service for gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The primary objective of “Ask 
and Act” is:

 to encourage relevant professionals to “Ask” potential victims about the 
possibility of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence in 
certain circumstances; and 

 to “Act” so suffering and harm as a result of the violence and abuse is 
reduced.  

“Ask and Act” should apply at an organisational rather than individual level and take 
the form of targeted, rather than routine, enquiry.  

The term targeted enquiry describes the recognition of indicators of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence as a prompt for a professional to 
consider asking their client whether they have been affected by any of these issues. 

The aims of “Ask and Act”

Asking patients about abuse in some specialised health care settings is considered 
good practice by professionals in those fields22.  The National Institute of Health and 
Care Excellence (NICE) and the World Health Organisation23 recommend a system 
of targeted (or clinical) enquiry across health and social care to better identify and 
therefore respond to domestic abuse.

The Welsh Government takes this recommendation and identified good 
practice further by supporting the use of such enquiry across the Welsh Public 
Service (to include those in safeguarding roles, Fire and Rescue Authorities, 
education and housing services).  It also proposes a wider focus on gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

A full list of definitions is provided in the definitions appendix of this guidance.  In 
summary: domestic abuse includes physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse where the victim of it is or has been “associated” with the abuser.
Gender-based violence includes violence, threats of violence or harassment arising 
from values, beliefs or customs relating to gender or sexual orientation.  
Sexual violence includes sexual exploitation (which includes offences under Part 1 of 
the Sexual Offences Act 2003), sexual harassment, or threats of violence of a sexual 
nature.

This approach has been taken in consultation with specialist service providers on the 
basis that where a general question is asked about someone’s experience of abuse 
it may lead to a disclosure of several forms of abuse.  It is expected these forms of 
abuse could include:

Pack Page 124



13

 Domestic abuse
 Sexual violence (within and not 

within relationships)
 Female Genital Mutilation
 Forced marriage 

 “Honour” based abuse
 Stalking and harassment (within 

and not within relationships)
 Sexual exploitation

The aims of such an approach are to:

 increase identification of those experiencing gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence;

 offer referrals and interventions for those identified which provide specialist 
support based on the risk and need of the client;

 begin to create a culture across the Welsh Public Service where the experience 
of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is an accepted 
area of business and where disclosure is supported, accepted and facilitated;

 improve the response to those who experience gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence with other complex needs such as substance misuse 
and mental health; and

 pro-actively engage with those who are vulnerable and hidden, at the earliest 
opportunity, rather than only re-actively engaging with those who are in crisis or 
at imminent risk of serious harm.

Increasing identification of those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence

The majority of research into the effectiveness of types of screening for gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence has focussed on healthcare 
settings and primarily relate to domestic abuse. Although there is less data available 
outside of health, similar, innovative projects indicate the effectiveness of such an 
approach across the Public Service.24

Where routine enquiry takes place a greater proportion of abused women are 
identified by healthcare professionals than where screening does not take place, 
although not necessarily more than would be identified by clinical enquiry.25  Enquiry 
typically results in a doubling of identification rates of domestic abuse and it 
increases referrals to outside agencies.26

Where specialist training and support for the clinician is provided to use a low 
threshold for clinical enquiry, primary health care clinicians are three times more 
likely to secure a disclosure of domestic violence than those where no enquiry is 
made.27

Where information about a client is provided or gathered by a professional, which 
“cues” them to investigate issues of domestic abuse, this improves rates of 
identification and disclosures of domestic abuse.28

Pack Page 125



14

Enquiry for domestic abuse in pregnancy, when supported by staff training and 
organisational support, improves screening practices and documentation of domestic 
abuse.

Offering referrals and interventions for those identified which provide 
specialist support based on the risk and need of the client

Professionals who are not trained to identify gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence may overlook, mislabel and misdiagnose people's problems, 
leading to inappropriate plans or ineffective remedies.29 30  Where the primary issue 
for seeking treatment is identified as gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, the services offered can relate to this primary issue, rather than the 
symptoms caused by it.  

Referrals to external resources (e.g. police, specialist services and social care) 
increase as a result of enquiry and this presents an opportunity for advocacy 
intervention, a strategy linked to decreased violence and isolation, increased safety 
practices and a cost benefit.31 The evaluation of the IRIS project (Identification and 
Referral to Improve Safety) found individuals in the intervention were 22 times more 
likely to be referred to advocacy services than those in general practices which did 
not receive the programme.

Studies which have measured rates of domestic abuse as outcomes detect a 
reduction of physical and non-physical abuse with counselling and advocacy support 
for women identified in antenatal clinics.32

The Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) advocacy model (in use across 
Wales) as a service for those at high risk of serious harm due to their experience of 
domestic abuse has been found to be effective in improving the lives of those who 
have been abused and in terms of value for money.33  

The IDVA forms a crucial element of the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC) approach which is also well evidenced as an effective means of 
addressing high risk domestic abuse. The majority of adult victims who engage with 
these services report improved safety and wellbeing outcomes after receiving 
support, including a cessation of abuse, feeling safer and an improved quality of life. 

 63% of the victims who engage with IDVAs report a total cessation of abuse at 
case closure.  

 For every £1 spent on MARACs and IDVAs, at least £2.90 of public money can 
be saved annually on direct costs to agencies such as the police and health 
services.

Beginning to create a culture across the Welsh Public Service where the 
experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is 
an accepted area of business and where disclosure is supported, accepted 
and facilitated

Pack Page 126



15

Being asked about abuse can go some way to remove the shame and stigma some 
associate with the experience.  Those who have experienced gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence also see being asked as a means of 
increasing knowledge, developing a sense of self-validation and getting support.34  
Adopting a clear process of targeted enquiry can remove this sense of stigma by 
demonstrating the service has an awareness of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence and showing professionals are open to having these 
discussions as part of routine areas of work which can be a conduit for specialist 
services.  

Research into the acceptability of targeted enquiry has focussed on the experience 
of women; the majority of whom are in favour of a process of enquiry about domestic 
abuse in maternity settings, provided it is conducted in a safe confidential 
environment.35

Improving the response to those who experience gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence with other complex needs such as 
substance misuse and mental health

The co-occurrence of domestic abuse, mental health and substance misuse has 
been referred to as the “toxic trio”.  Where a parent experiences the three issues 
they are viewed as indicators of increased risk of harm to children and young people.  
The combined experience of these issues by a parent can create a “toxic” care 
giving environment.

Providing and selecting services for these three issues when experienced in 
combination or as part of a dual diagnosis is challenging for practitioners and can 
hamper client engagement.  Practice based reports emphasise the importance of 
addressing each issue separately and utilising the expertise of each related 
profession but also of providing treatment or services in partnership to acknowledge 
the complexity of the clients situation. In order to do this effectively, each issue must 
first be identified.

The risk of developing depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance 
use issues or becoming suicidal is 3 to 5 times higher for women who have 
experienced violence in their relationships compared to those who [have] not.36 70% 
of women psychiatric in-patients and 80% of those in secure settings have histories 
of physical or sexual abuse and child sexual abuse is associated with an  increased  
rate of  mental disorders in adulthood for men and women. 37 38

Whilst substance misuse by either perpetrator or victims of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence is not a causative factor, the two issues do 
frequently co-occur; requiring knowledge and identification by the professional.  44% 
of domestic violence offenders are under the influence of alcohol and 12% are 
affected by drugs when they commit acts of physical violence.  A number of studies 
have found the perpetrators’ use of alcohol, particularly heavy drinking, is likely to 
result in more serious injury to their partners than if they had been sober.39 40

Moreover two thirds of those experiencing abuse began misusing substances 
following this experience.41

Pack Page 127



16

At least half of all women in touch with mental health services have experienced 
violence and abuse, yet the level of awareness amongst mental health professionals 
appears low and, despite guidance to the contrary, women are rarely asked about 
their experience of violence or sexual abuse.42

Screening protocols for domestic abuse within screening/entry assessment for 
alcohol or substance misuse have been found to improve rates of identification of the 
issue.43  The Wales In-Depth Integrated Substance Misuse Assessment Toolkit 
(WIISMAT) includes indirect and direct questions on violence and abuse and 
encourages use of the All Wales helpline.  However, it should be noted, use of 
WIISMAT is not fully mandated and is not always applied in its entirety.

Undertaking a risk assessment is part of the Mental Health Measure guidance to 
support developing a care and treatment plan.44  Asking about violence forms part of 
all risk assessments in Mental Health services in England and Wales, however this 
relates to all forms of violence, not gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence specifically.  Currently this would be explored as appropriate if 
people admitted to a history or thoughts of violence.

Pro-actively engaging with those who are vulnerable and hidden, at the earliest 
opportunity, rather than only reactively engaging with those who are in crisis 
or at imminent risk of serious harm

Early identification and prevention may also help stop gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence from escalating and, therefore, reduce future 
support and criminal justice costs. 

Evidence suggests an improved response through non-criminal justice agencies 
identifies a client group who are not engaging with other services and are therefore 
hidden from other agencies.45

Evidence collected from specialist services which have been situated in acute or 
maternal health services  indicates there is a group of clients, experiencing domestic 
abuse who make fewer reports to the police than other victims but who attend 
emergency health services regularly46. 

In identifying gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence through 
health and co-locating hospital based specialists within clinical settings, a more 
vulnerable group of younger victims are being identified.  These clients are 
experiencing higher severity abuse with additional complex needs, e.g. substance 
misuse, mental health issues.  They tend to still be in a relationship or living with the 
perpetrator and have been in relationships for shorter periods of time than the client 
group who access community based services.47

In many settings, co-location of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence specialists is not realistic. In those settings, it is essential to have explicit 
referral pathways between clinicians and these specialists, often based in third 
sector organisations.  

Pack Page 128



17

Earlier identification of these issues, through non-traditional methods of engagement, 
can facilitate an awareness of service availability at the earliest opportunity and 
safeguard vulnerable people immediately, rather than just at the point of crisis.

Pack Page 129



18

Managing the “Ask and Act” 
process - the role of the 

organisation

Pack Page 130



19

The key requirements of “Ask and Act”

It is the role of the entire Welsh Public Service to provide an effective response to 
those experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 
This involves collaboration in its broadest sense to create consistency and 
standardisation of response, no matter which gateway (housing, health, social care 
etc.) a client uses to access service provision.  Leadership and strategic co-
ordination are key in establishing a process which is suitable to the workforce, the 
organisation and above all, the client

This guidance provides a detailed process of “Ask and Act” to support 
implementation.  However, the working practices through which to offer a consistent 
response will, of course, differ depending on organisational structure and client 
group.  It is not expected the same process of “Ask and Act” be implemented 
by each organisation but each organisation considers how best to offer “Ask 
and Act” within their varying functions and professional roles. 

In doing so, any proposed model of work should be tested against the following four 
key requirements. No matter how a process of “Ask and Act” is operationalised 
it must address each of these key requirements.

1. Culture and leadership
2. Clarity and confidence
3. Recognition and response
4. Follow up and monitoring

As long as these four key requirements are followed, how targeted enquiry is 
implemented is not the issue of greatest significance within this guidance.  Whether 
the process herein or local, bespoke processes are adopted this principle is of 
greatest importance: 

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence require a Public 
Service response.  Professional confidence to identify these issues, to ask 
about them and to respond effectively is fundamental for good clinical and 
social care practice.

Pack Page 131



20

Culture and leadership

Aim: A working culture which acknowledges “Ask 
and Act” as core to the organisational purpose.

Requirements:

 Identification of leadership and strong 
management

 Potential barriers to the implementation of 
“Ask and Act” considered and addressed

 Potential impact to staff recognised and
addressed

Clarity and confidence

Aim: A well equipped workforce; confident and 
accountable, supported by clear policies and 
procedures.

Requirements:

 Confidentiality and information sharing 
policies which are fit for purpose

 Clear lines of accountability between staff, 
management and leaders

 “Relevant” staff identified, trained, with 
clarity of responsibility

Follow up and monitoring

Aim: Strategic oversight and evaluation of a 
process which maps disclosure to population and 
uses local data and collaboration to further 
develop.

Requirements:

 Clear record keeping guidance for 
disclosure

 The establishment of baseline data from 
which to monitor disclosure 

 Strategic oversight of the process and 
regular monitoring 

 Consideration of process application in 
relation to equality and diversity

Recognition and response

Aim: An organisationally tailored process involving 
recognition, targeted enquiry and intervention to 
those who are experiencing gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

Requirements:

 Staff aware of the indicators of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence

 A clear internal process which follows 
recognition and includes targeted enquiry

 A response which ensures efficient, positive 
intervention for the client

 Partnership and collaborative processes 
which offer efficient client access to 
specialist support

P
ack P

age 132



21

Relevant professionals

Relevant authorities should consider the following professional roles to be priorities in 
the function of “Ask and Act”.  Relevant authorities, as employers of these professionals, 
should:

 ensure they are adequately trained (through the National Training Framework);
 supported to implement “Ask and Act” in an empathic and safe way; and
 ensure practice is monitored to ensure the client’s safety and wellbeing is central 

to all work.

Local Health Board
Midwives
Health Visitors
General Practitioners
Accident and Emergency staff
Substance misuse
Community Psychiatric Nurses
Mental Health Crisis team
District nurses
Paramedics
Local Authority
Child Protection Social Workers
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Social Workers
Safeguarding leads in Education
School nurses
Housing, Housing options and Homelessness officers
Youth Offending Team Representatives
Fire and Rescue Authority
All firefighters with community based responsibilities

This list is not exhaustive and there will be additional roles which require training, 
based on local need.  In order to identify whether a profession should be deemed 
“priority” the following criteria should be applied:

“Priority” criteria

A priority professional is:

 in a public facing role, coming into regular contact with the general public; and

 in a role where the experience of their client group of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence complicates and impacts on the nature of 
the clients engagement with the service offered in that role.

Pack Page 133



22

Client confidentiality, data protection and information sharing48

A process of “Ask and Act” will inevitably lead to disclosures of personal and 
sensitive information and, in turn, a requirement of a professional to decide whether 
this information should be shared further.  These can be challenging decisions, 
which require clear leadership, managerial support, overarching protocol and a good 
understanding of the Data Protection Act 1998.

The managerial requirement in relation to client confidentiality, data protection and 
information sharing is twofold; 

1. creating an environment where the legal framework and decision making 
requirements are clarified in process, protocol and guidance; and

2. providing “on the spot” management support to those practicing “Ask and 
Act” and considering individual decisions.

Creating an environment where the legal framework and decision making 
requirements are clarified in process, protocol and guidance.

Organisational policies on data protection, information sharing and confidentiality 
should be up to date, reflect the relevant legal framework and be reviewed regularly.  
The requirements of these policies should be communicated clearly to staff to ensure 
they understand the duty of confidentiality and its limitations.  Close liaison with legal 
and information sharing teams will be required to ensure appropriate processes are 
in place to manage personal data safely and legally.

Systems and processes should be implemented to ensure data is processed in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

It is important leadership and management teams within the public service recognise 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence as an issue affecting 
the workforce as well as the client group.  Each Local Authority, Local Health Board 
and Fire and Rescue Authority have established workplace policies and procedures 
for staff who have been affected by gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.  These policies should ensure staff have the opportunity to address 
issues relating to their own personal experiences, as well as those which may arise 
after contact with clients and colleagues.  

Relevant authorities should develop or adapt clear protocols and methods for 
sharing information, both within and between agencies, about people at risk of 
experiencing, or perpetrating gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence. These should clearly define the range of information which can be shared 
and with whom.

Pack Page 134



23

The Information Sharing framework

Relevant authorities must process information in accordance with the relevant legal 
framework. In addition, relevant authorities may wish to consider any sector specific 
documentation (E.g. the Caldicott guardian principles) which may provide assistance 
in understanding the legal requirements relating to processing information. 

The Wales Accord on the Sharing of Personal Information (WASPI) is a framework 
designed to facilitate the lawful sharing of personal information. It does this by 
establishing agreed requirements and mechanisms for the exchange of personal 
information between all relevant agencies.  

The WASPI framework provides two core outputs; a common set of principles and 
standards under which organisations will share information (known as the 
Accord), and the creation of Information Sharing Protocols (ISPs) which can be 
accessed and utilised for specific purposes.

The WASPI framework is compliant with the Information Commissioner's Data 
Sharing Code of Practice and with other legislative requirements, standards and 
policies.  Significant work has taken place in relation to gender-based violence,
domestic abuse and sexual violence and the framework therefore provides a useful 
resource for leadership across the public sector.

Providing “on the spot” management support to those practicing “Ask and 
Act” and considering individual decisions.

Those with line management or supervision responsibilities may be called upon to 
support professional decision making in individual cases. In these cases, the 
relevant legal requirements must be followed and should be reflected in 
organisational policy and procedure. Managers and supervisors should be on hand
to support a colleague through a decision making process in accordance with the 
law, particularly the Data Protection Act 1998. 

Pack Page 135



24

Risk assessment and care pathways

Specialist services for those who are experiencing gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence are often offered based on risk thresholds and cases are 
prioritised by those who face the highest, most imminent risk of serious and 
significant harm.  A client’s risk, and that of their children, is also something which 
must be considered alongside a professional’s duty of confidentiality.

Risk assessment is a “process of looking at what possible outcomes might be from 
any identified hazard or threat, using a combination of known information and 
judgment.49  This is also referred to as making ‘a structured clinical judgment” of the 
client’s situation50  or “actuarial assessment” and professional judgement. 

A Risk Identification Checklist enables identification and recording of commonly 
recognised risks, rather than a thorough assessment of the client’s individual 
situation. The purpose of the Checklist is to give a consistent and simple tool to 
practitioners who work with victims in order to help them to begin to identify the risk 
faced by their client and offer appropriate, relevant services.  Professionals who 
practice “Ask and Act” should be able to use the tool in a skilful way to offer a service 
based on risk at the earliest opportunity.  

Consistent use of a Risk Identification Checklist across a locality increases the 
likelihood of the victim being responded to appropriately and therefore of addressing 
the risks they face through the use of common criteria and a common language of 
risk.   The Risk Identification Checklist also forms the referral tool which supports the 
Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) process for those at high risk 
of serious harm as a result of domestic abuse.

Addressing the immediate safety of the client and any risk generated by the 
disclosure and subsequent involvement of services must be addressed either by the 
professional to whom the disclosure is made or by appropriate colleagues.  

It is important for the client to be offered the opportunity to participate in detailed 
assessment of the risk posed to them by their abuser.  This opportunity should be 
provided to the client efficiently and immediately if possible, to utilise client 
engagement most effectively.

Relevant authority leaders should consider whether they plan for their staff teams to 
incorporate risk identification into their internal process of “Ask and Act” (i.e. the 
person who undertakes targeted enquiry also completes the Risk Identification 
Checklist) or to establish a referral pathway to specialist services who can offer this 
service with accompanying risk management planning.  

Options to consider within such pathways should include:

 co-location of services to include specialist professionals within non specialist 
teams;

 a “champion” or “lead” role within teams who has received enhanced training 
in gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and has time 
set aside to support colleagues in risk identification;

Pack Page 136



25

 local specialist agencies providing drop in services, clinics or surgeries within 
Public Service organisations;

 clear referral processes to local specialist services, with outlined expectations 
of contact parameters (e.g. guaranteed contact attempted within 24 hours); 
and

 utilisation of the All-Wales Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Helpline –
either through providing immediate access to a phone in order to call or 
arranging for convenient call back to client.

The referral pathway should include age-appropriate options and options which 
support those who may have difficulties accessing services, or are reluctant to do so.  
In many cases this will require assertive and pro-active engagement with clients.

Pack Page 137



26

Safeguarding Children

The All Wales Child Protection Procedures provide common standards for child 
protection practice in Wales, whilst the All Wales Practice Guidance on Safeguarding 
Children and Young People Affected by Domestic Abuse talks specifically to child 
protection linked to concerns of direct or witnessed domestic abuse.  

The procedures reflect the duties under the Children Act 1989 which impose a duty 
on county and county borough councils to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children in need by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those 
children’s needs and where they have cause to believe that the child is suffering, or 
is at risk of suffering, significant harm, to provide an initial assessment of risk and 
need.  Local Health Boards and NHS trusts must also under the Children Act 2004 
make arrangements for ensuring that their functions are discharges having regard to 
the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in their area.

The Practice Guidance also outlines the four central imperatives of any intervention 
for children living with domestic abuse:

 protect the child/ren;
 support the non-abusive parent to protect themselves and their

child/ren;
 hold the abusive partner accountable for their actions and provide them

with opportunities to change; and
 promote resilience in children by nurturing the relationship between the

non-abusive partner and the child.

These imperatives should be considered as part of all services’ interaction with 
children and staff should be trained and skilled to provide for these, this includes 
child protection training to a level commensurate with their role and responsibilities.

Young people in abusive relationships

“Partner violence” has been identified as a significant concern for young people’s 
wellbeing.  A substantial number of young people will experience some form of 
violence from their partner before they reach adulthood.

 Three-quarters of girls in a relationship experience emotional violence;
 a third report sexual violence;
 a quarter experience physical violence;
 Half of boys in a relationship report emotional violence; 
 18 per cent experience physical violence; and
 16 per cent report sexual violence. 

Thus, a substantial number of young people will experience some form of violence 
from their partner before they reach adulthood and for a significant number of young 
women, this abuse is severe.51

Pack Page 138



27

Young women aged 16 to 24 years are most at risk of being victims of domestic 
abuse, one in six girls report some form of severe partner violence. Those young 
women who are under eighteen are legally defined as children and as such fall within 
the support, care and protection that are provided by local authorities under the 
Children Act 1989. However, these young women will be in relationships which are 
likely to be “adult” in nature - they may be in an intimate relationship, they may be 
mothers and they may be living with their partner.  Moreover, research suggests the 
severity and escalation of the abuse they experience will be severe.52

These young people may therefore need coordinated support from a wide range of 
local agencies. Joint intervention between Children’s Services and the specialist 
sector can provide an effective means of addressing the potentially complex needs 
of the young person and meeting their statutory duty to protect them. This should be 
considered when adopting a process of “Ask and Act”.  Specifically relevant 
authorities’ leaders should:

 consider the needs of young people in strategic needs assessments and 
planning;

 formalise close and effective joint working between the collaborative fora on 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and those which 
safeguard children;

 include young people’s services in gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence based partnerships and forums to include expertise on 
the behaviour and needs of this separate client group and to engage 
consideration of wider issues which disproportionately affect young people, 
such as  gangs, sexual exploitation, cyber based abuse and ‘honour’-based 
violence; and

 ensure care pathways focussed on gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence include services specific to young people.

Pack Page 139



28

Vicarious Trauma

It is well acknowledged working with traumatised people, even if this is sporadic, can 
impact on those in a “helper” role.  This impact is often termed Vicarious 
Trauma/tisation or compassion fatigue.53  

Vicarious Trauma describes helper distress arising from emotional stressors at work; 
it is a transformation in the self of a trauma worker or helper.54 Central to the 
experience is the empathic relationship between the professional and client.  Over 
time and cumulatively, professional empathy with another person’s experience can 
blur emotional boundaries and lead to changes in a professionals’ own cognitive 
perspective and belief system.55  This can lead to feelings of:

• being overwhelmed or exhausted;
• isolation and alienation;
• pessimism and  negativity;
• anger and sadness;
• becoming over-involved with a client;
• self-doubt and concerns about competence and guilt; and
• hyper vigilance - an over stimulated sense of threat. 

For a period of time these feelings may persist and tend to parallel those of direct 
trauma.

Some experience of Vicarious Trauma due to work with victims of abuse is inevitable 
although the symptoms will not always be the same.56  A number of contributing 
factors to the development of Vicarious Trauma have been identified:

Organisational Personal

Lack of resources, time, personnel and 
overwork

Lack of workplace support (peer 
support, supervision)

Professional isolation

Differing ethos of agencies/culture 
clashes

Lack of experience/junior position

Personal trauma history

Current personal stress

Unrealistic expectations of role and 
‘making good’

Many Public Service workers will already be in roles which increase susceptibility to 
Vicarious Trauma (Social Workers, Police Officers etc.) and relevant authorities have 
a responsibility to limit the impact of this difficult work on professionals.  

The implementation of a process of “Ask and Act” is likely to lead to more of those in 
the relevant authorities working with clients who have been open about their 
experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  

Pack Page 140



29

There is no expectation for relevant authorities’ employees to develop a specialist 
working role in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence.  However, it is inevitable a disclosed experience of abuse will impact on the 
working relationship and therefore the professional.  As an employer, therefore, 
relevant authorities’ leaders should ensure (if they are yet to implement such 
practice) a series of mitigating factors to limit the impact of Vicarious Trauma on 
staff.  

As leaders:

• acknowledge Vicarious trauma and make clear the experience is not a sign of 
poor professional practice;

• ensure less experienced staff have more support;
• formalise a buddy/safety net provision;
• ensure team meetings address the emotional consequences of work, and 

spend time reviewing particularly difficult cases/processes;
• consider clinical supervision for staff;
• advocate good self-care and maintenance of professional networks; and
• encourage staff to self-assess their levels of stress as part of case 

management57

As employees:

• acknowledge distress, see it as normal, consider further support if it persists;
• review coping strategies/ask for support/obtain supervision;
• review your workload;
• give yourself permission to have a break; and
• ensure time for social activities, relaxation, sleep58.

The majority of staff who experience Vicarious Trauma will experience factors which 
are uncomfortable but perfectly manageable and which will generally resolve over 
time.

Active workplace acknowledgment of the potentially  distressing nature of the work 
and provision for those who find it more troubling, can lead to greater awareness of 
potential for distress and the activation of coping strategies which increase 
resilience.

Vicarious trauma is not an endpoint or an inevitable negative experience and should 
not be presented as such within the workplace.  Whilst the potential impact of work 
with troubled, abused and vulnerable people should be acknowledged, where this is 
managed well, with strong staff support, Vicarious trauma can lead to Vicarious 
Transformation; a process of transforming vicarious trauma into professional 
development. Vicarious transformation is a process of active engagement with the 
negative changes which come about through trauma work and can lead to deepened 
commitment to work and to vulnerable client groups.59

Pack Page 141



30

Monitoring and Review

A process of “Ask and Act” should be evaluated against the aims outlined in the 
Rationale chapter of this guidance.  This will involve monitoring relevant data and 
reviewing wider outcomes and outputs.  

Identification of any issue of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence must result in appropriate interventions and levels of support 
and, over a longer period of time, decrease further cases of violence and 
abuse and associated health consequences.

In the immediate term, strengthening the response of frontline professionals within 
relevant authorities to “Ask and Act” should achieve the following: 

 To Increase identification of those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Monitoring considerations

 Can baseline data on disclosures of this type be established?
 Does each organisation have a suitable case management system 

through which to record disclosure, count how often indicators are 
recognised, how often targeted enquiry is implemented and what 
percentage of questions result in disclosure?

 To offer referrals and interventions for those identified which provide 
specialist support based on the risk and need of the client.

Monitoring considerations

 How is action taken following disclosure recorded
 Are referral options taken monitored and how will outcomes for the client 

be monitored thereafter? 
 How can local Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC), and 

any other local fora, data be used to assess whether referrals into the 
process are increasing from all Public Sector organisations?

 To begin to create a culture across the Welsh Public Service where the 
experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
is an accepted area of business and where disclosure is supported, 
accepted and facilitated.

Monitoring considerations

 Do all local services have a workplace policy on gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence?

 Is anonymised data of disclosures made under these policies being 
monitored?

Pack Page 142



31

 To improve the response to those who experience gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence with other complex needs such as 
substance misuse and mental health.

Monitoring considerations

 At the point of disclosure is any co-occurrence of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence with substance misuse and mental 
health issues noted?

 Is the engagement of substance misuse and mental health agencies within 
multi agency fora and referrals from such agencies to fora monitored?

 To pro-actively engage with those who are vulnerable and hidden, at the 
earliest opportunity, rather than only reactively engaging with those who 
are in crisis or at imminent risk of serious harm.

Monitoring considerations

 Is the length of relationship at point of disclosure being noted?
 Is the risk level at point of disclosure being noted?
 Is repeat access to service related to gender-based violence, domestic abuse 

and sexual violence being monitored?

Equality and diversity

The collection of demographic information will also be important to inform future 
planning.  

It is important data related to disclosures is monitored carefully to ensure it is 
representative of the local population. Consider gaps in disclosure- for example, in 
relation to minority groups, and implement support measures for the workforce to 
increase reporting of these issues within identified groups.

Pack Page 143



32

Training

The Welsh Government will introduce a National Training Framework on gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence. Guidance will be issued under 
section 12 of the Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(Wales) Bill to assist relevant authorities to access and fully benefit from the National 
Training Framework. “Ask and Act” training is offered through level 2 of the National 
Training Framework.

Aim

The aim of the training is to support the learner to:

 recognise indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence;

 respond appropriately to unprompted disclosure; 
 ask appropriate questions; and
 respond effectively to the answer.

Delivery

“Ask and Act” training will be funded and offered to approximately 35,000 priority 
professionals between 2015 and 2018.

Welsh Government funded training will be offered through a regional dissemination 
model which utilises the skill and expertise of local practitioners and provides a 
sustainable model for ongoing provision.  

A Welsh Government commissioned training programme and package of supporting 
materials will be procured.  The package will contain generic content on core 
practice related to “Ask and Act” and tailored materials which are audience specific.  
The commission to create a training programme and package of supporting 
materials will also include a separate requirement to write and deliver a “Train the 
Trainer” programme.  

Calls for nomination of local professionals, who are representative of region, 
specialist knowledge and audience will be issued.  These nominated professionals 
will be trained on the Train the Trainer programme which will cover the key 
messages of the “Ask and Act” training and support and skills training on how to 
deliver these messages regionally.

These trained trainers will form the first membership of regional training consortia.  
These consortia will form part of the delivery model of several levels of the National 
Training Framework and will allow regions and organisations to take a flexible 
approach to training local professionals whilst addressing the needs of the targeted 
priority audiences.

Pack Page 144



33

The consortia will be asked to develop and implement regional training plans, 
staggered over three years through which to reach an agreed number of 
professionals.  Progress and outcomes will be monitored by the Welsh Government,
through the Ministerial Adviser.

Separate guidance on the National Training Framework has been published by the 
Welsh Government.  Please refer to this for further information on the training on 
“Ask and Act”.

Pack Page 145



34

Content

Following completion of 
this training participants 

will:

Proposed assessment criteria

Recognise the signs and 
symptoms of gender-
based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual 
violence

The learner can recognise the signs and symptoms of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence

The learner can describe how gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence can affect 
anyone and the experience of it is not linked to any 
particular culture, religion or socio-economic status.

Understand the purpose 
of targeted enquiry and 
the reasoning for it

The learner can state the reason the targeted enquiry 
is required and their role in this work.

Demonstrate knowledge 
of information sharing 
legislation and the duty of 
confidentiality

The learner can reference information sharing 
legislation 

The learner demonstrates understanding of their 
duties/ ethical considerations in relation to 
confidentiality and data sharing.

Be able to demonstrate 
how to broach the subject 
of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.

With client safety as primary concern; the learner can 
ask questions of those displaying signs and symptoms 
which relate to their possible experience of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

The learner displays confidence to ask the question 
safely.

The learner can respond to the client’s response 
appropriately.

The learner can describe additional diverse and 
complex needs they will consider as they ask 
questions.

Be able to identify risk in
appropriate cases of 
gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and 
sexual violence

The learner understands the purpose of Risk 
Identification Checklists.

The learner can use a nationally agreed Risk 
Identification Checklist with the client to identify the 
level of risk they are facing.

The learner understands the importance of immediate 
risk identification and can utilise pathways to facilitate 
this.

Pack Page 146



35

Be able to implement the 
targeted enquiry care 
pathway60

The learner is aware of the service choices, referral 
options and multi agency fora available to those 
experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence

The learner can explain these to their clients and 
facilitate referrals based on the choice of the client.

Where the client or related person is at risk of serious 
harm the learner can demonstrate the action they will 
take to safeguard those at risk, including children.

Pack Page 147



36

Cost benefit

The costs of domestic abuse in Wales are estimated to be £303.5 million annually -
£202.6m for service costs and £100.9m in lost economic input.61

It is likely “Ask and Act” will initially see an increase in referrals to specialist services 
including the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA) service.  This model, 
integrated within Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences provides evidenced 
cost saving of at least £2.90 for every £1 of public, direct costs.  

If a process of “Ask and Act” is fully implemented it should be expected more people 
who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence will be 
identified and provided with support. This may increase short-term costs, in terms of 
existing workforce capacity and support services. However, it may also lead to 
longer term savings for a range of organisations.  

It is difficult to accurately describe these savings as local practice varies significantly 
and such savings will be tied to the characteristics of local service provision and 
process.  Walby’s research on the costs of domestic violence suggest increased 
utilisation of Public Services in tackling these issues does increase the cost of 
services.  However she also links the development of and increased utilisation of 
Public Services with a decrease in domestic violence, as a result of which, the costs 
for business and the wider society of domestic violence have declined.62

Therefore, expectations of the cost effectiveness of the “Ask and Act” model include 
additional savings associated with reduced costs to the criminal justice system, the 
economy and in relation to the additional quality-adjusted-life-years for those 
affected by gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence. Small scale 
pilots of similar processes to “Ask and Act” indicate the cost, in both human and 
economic terms, is so significant that to take any action to intervene will be cost 
effective.63

Pack Page 148



37

Delivering “Ask and Act” – the 
role of the frontline practitioner

Pack Page 149



38

Professional 
recognises signs 

Information which 
suggests the client 
is experiencing an 
issue is provided to 
the professional

4.
P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l e

ns
ur

es
 s

af
e,

 c
on

fid
en

tia
l a

nd
 p

riv
at

e 
sp

ac
e 

 is
 u

se
d 

fo
r c

lie
nt

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n

5. Either using a 
screening tool or 
through interview: 

Professional asks 
client direct and 

sensitive questions 
about their 
experience.

2.
C

on
fid

en
tia

lit
y 

po
lic

y 
ex

pl
ai

ne
d 

an
d 

w
rit

te
n/

ve
rb

al
 c

on
fir

m
at

io
n 

of
 e

xp
la

na
tio

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
.  

C
on

fid
en

tia
lit

y 
 

po
lic

y 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

 s
ta

te
s 

as
k 

an
d 

ac
t r

es
po

ns
ib

ili
ty

.

6. Client discloses 
experience of 

historical or current 
abuse

6. Client does not 
disclose abuse 

8.Risk 
assessment

9. Referral 
options 
offered and
made

10.Consider 
safeguarding 
issues 

10. Consider 
safeguarding 

issues

11. Record 

11. Record 

7.
 E

ith
er

 b
y 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

 o
r t

hr
ou

gh
 im

m
ed

ia
te

 
re

fe
rr

al
 to

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t.

1.
 T

ra
in

ed
, c

on
fid

en
t r

el
ev

an
t p

ro
fe

ss
io

na
ls

Professional is in 
setting where 

asking all 
clients/patients is
considered good 

practice

Professional 
recognises
symptoms

Ask and Act: The process

3.
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l r

ec
og

ni
se

s 
in

di
ca

to
rs

 o
f d

om
es

tic
 a

bu
se

, g
en

de
r-b

as
ed

 v
io

le
nc

e,
  a

nd
 s

ex
ua

l 
vi

ol
en

ce

9. Consider 
duty of 

confidentiality 
and risk

P
ack P

age 150



39

The following chapter provides practice based information for each stage of this 
process.  Supported by the organisational guidance in the previous section of this 
document it supports the implementation of a process of “Ask and Act”.  

As outlined at the beginning of this document, amended processes may be 
implemented to suit organisational need, utilise partnerships and specialist support.  
However a process is implemented, each stage here will still require careful 
consideration.  This chapter provides general process implementation advice and 
specific guidance for professionals.

Trained, confident relevant professionals

To “Ask and Act” requires listening skills, an ability to respond calmly and 
empathically to a client who may be distressed and a basic knowledge of local 
services accessed via agreed local pathways.  

For those professions who already work with a client group, where these skills have 
been taught as part of pre-qualifying education and honed through client 
relationships, completing the actions required by a process of “Ask and Act” should 
not differ greatly from those already undertaken as part of their role.  These 
professionals will be expected to practice “Ask and Act” and be prioritised for access 
to “Ask and Act” training in order to formalise what should already be good practice.

There are other professions within relevant authorities who do not work consistently 
with a client group and who may find the process of “Ask and Act” new and perhaps 
intimidating. The process of “Ask and Act” should, however, be simple and evidence 
suggests undertaking such a process is acceptable to service users.  

The “Ask and Act” process is not aimed at those professions who are not in existing 
client facing roles or in a role where the experience of their client group of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence complicates and impacts on the 
nature of the client’s engagement with the service offered in the role.

Through a regional training programme delivered through the National Training 
Framework on gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, there 
will be an intensive offer of Welsh Government funded “Ask and Act” training 
between 2015-2016 and 2017-2018.  This will be offered initially to the priority 
professional groups outlined in the previous chapter.  Thereafter, it is intended “Ask 
and Act” training forms an ongoing part of regional training plans to meet locally 
identified needs, to sustain staff turnover within trained professions and to allow 
flexibility to meet local and organisational need.

Pack Page 151



40

The confidentiality policy

The confidentiality of an individual’s information is not absolute and there may come 
occasions where disclosures are made, as a result of targeted enquiry, where a 
professional will have to make a judgement about whether to share information and if 
so, what information to share.

In some cases, such as those where a local authority believes a child is likely to 
suffer harm, and that child lives or proposes to live in the area of another authority,
there is a duty on local authority to inform the other authority.  In other cases, such 
as where a single adult with no additional vulnerability is potentially at risk, it is not 
mandatory to share this information.  

It is imperative each client is aware of the confidentiality policy of the organisation 
with which they are engaging and is therefore able to make informed decisions about 
what information they choose to share with the professional they are working with 
and have reasonable expectations of how this information will be treated.

Those from minority backgrounds, with diverse needs stress the importance of 
transparent and clear information on how their personal information will be treated in 
order to improve their experience of services.64

In practice

Confidence to apply local information sharing protocols and specifically, the Data 
Protection Act 1998 is key in relation to “Ask and Act”.  

Pack Page 152



41

Recognition of indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence

“Ask and Act” is a form of targeted rather than routine enquiry.  

Routine enquiry refers to asking all service users about their experience of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence regardless of whether or not 
there are any signs of abuse, or whether abuse is suspected. 

Targeted enquiry involves relevant professionals applying a "low threshold for 
asking" whether the client is experiencing domestic abuse when the client presents 
certain indicators of abuse.  “Indicators” is used to describe all of the signs, 
symptoms, cues or situations through which gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence can be identified.

Gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence takes place in 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bi-sexual and transgender relationships and can involve 
other family members, including adolescents, young people and children. Whilst 
some groups are more vulnerable to experiencing gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence than others, anyone can experience it, regardless of race, 
ethnic or religious group, social economic status, or lifestyle.  Evidence would 
indicate however, some forms of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence are more prevalent within some communities and the professional should 
pay due regard to this, whilst avoiding un-informed or partial judgments based on 
stereotyping or myth.

It is crucial the process of “Ask and Act” is based on consistent application of known 
indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, rather 
than judgments, personal perspectives or any form of stereotyping.  The recognition 
of known indicators requires the application of informed, open minded discretion on 
the part of the professional and as such, training to recognise the indicators of abuse 
and to respond appropriately is vital.  “Ask and Act” training will be provided through 
the National Training Framework.

In practice

Anyone can be a victim of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence and a process of “Ask and Act” should reflect this; ultimately each person 
experiencing any form of abuse should gain access to the services they require, 
whether accessed via public or specialist services and the indicators of these 
experiences should be monitored across the entire client group.

Pack Page 153



42

For the purposes of this guidance the term indicators is used to encompass four 
triggers for enquiry with clients about their experience of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence; signs, symptoms, cues and settings.

Whilst clients will manage their experience of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence differently these are commonly recognisable indicators of 
the issue which professionals should be aware of and which should prompt further 
enquiry.

These indicators could reflect a range of issues and also prompt safeguarding 
concerns for children or associated vulnerable adults.  As such, acknowledgment 
and exploration of them should already be an integral part of good practice.

No matter the other characteristics of the client, where one of the four indicators is 
observed, this is an indicator of the potential experience of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence and the professional should follow the 
continued stages of the process of “Ask and Act” as outlined below.  

Pack Page 154



43

The four types of indicator

Pack Page 155



44

Signs:

The potential outward and physical signs someone is experiencing gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence will be both physical and linked to the 
demeanour and behaviour of the client.  They may include attitudinal change.

Socio cultural signs Physical signs
Changes in attitude or behaviour: 
becoming very quiet, anxious, 
frightened, tearful, aggressive, 
distracted, depressed etc.

Constant accompaniment by partner, 
even where this seems supportive 
and attentive 

Partner exerting unusual amount of 
control or demands over interactions 
with service, including constant 
accompaniment 

Reliance on partner for decision 
making-lack of free will and 
independence

Obsession with timekeeping 

Secretive regarding home life 

Worr ied about leaving children at 
home with partner or family

Partner or ex-partner exerting unusual 
amount of control or demands over 
clients schedule 

Social isolation from family/friends

Unexplained injuries

Change in the pattern or amount of 
make-up used 

Change in the manner of dress: for 
example, clothes which do not suit the 
climate which may be used to hide 
injuries 

Substance use/misuse

Fatigue/sleep disorders 

Pack Page 156



45

Symptoms:

As the term would indicate it is expected the identification and subsequent enquiry 
based on symptoms will be rooted within clinical and medical practice.  Symptoms 
which should trigger an enquiry include:

 Depression
 Anxiety
 Chronic pain (unexplained)
 Tiredness

 Alcohol or other substance use 
 Self harm
 Suicide attempts
 Eating disorders

 Unexplained chronic 
gastrointestinal symptoms

 Unexplained reproductive 
symptoms, including pelvic 
pain, sexual dysfunction

 Adverse reproductive 
outcomes, including multiple 
unintended pregnancies and/or 
terminations, delayed
pregnancy care, adverse birth 
outcomes

 Gynaecological problems65

 Unexplained genitourinary 
symptoms, including frequent

bladder or kidney infections or 
other

 Repeated vaginal bleeding and 
sexually transmitted infections

 Problems with the central 
nervous system – headaches, 
cognitive problems, hearing loss

 Repeated health consultations 
with no clear diagnosis

 Intrusive partner in 
consultations

Cues:

A cue describes either a piece of information or pattern of behaviour which merits 
enquiry.  This could include taking an overview of a client’s engagement with 
services over time and querying the reasons behind sporadic or crisis based 
engagement.  It might also include information provided by a partner agency, based 
on referral or shared via use of local Information Sharing Protocols which indicates 
concern, suspicion or unsubstantiated intelligence the client might be experiencing 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

To “Ask and Act” is not to interrogate, but where a cue is observed or received a 
professional should make appropriate enquiry.

Settings:

There is evidence which suggests in some settings routine enquiry is appropriate as 
the reason for the clients engagement within the setting is also a trigger for enquiry 
in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Professionals working in the following settings should routinely ask all clients 
whether they are experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence due to the known co-occurrence of domestic abuse with the core purpose of 
the service they provide (mental health issues, pregnancy, child maltreatment):

Pack Page 157



46

 Mental health 

The risk of developing depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance 
use issues or becoming suicidal is 3 to 5 times higher for women who have 
experienced violence in their relationships compared to those who [have] not.66

 Maternal and post partum settings

30% of domestic violence starts in pregnancy and is associated with low birth weight 
and pregnancy complications including miscarriage and still-birth67 68.

A process of “Ask and Act”, with additional training will further strengthen the existing 
maternity care pathway which uses an evidence based approach to asking all 
women about domestic abuse in the antenatal period.   

 Concerns about child maltreatment

Nearly three quarters of children on the 'at risk' register live in households where 
domestic violence occurs and 52% of child protection cases involve domestic 
violence.69

62% of children exposed to domestic abuse are also directly harmed.  Missed 
opportunities to identify gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
are missed opportunities to identify risk to children. 

In addition to the four types of indicator, it is also well evidenced some groups of 
people are more vulnerable to the experience of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence than others and they form part of a wider experience of 
gender based abuse; acts of violence committed against women expressly because 
they are women, or as a result of gender based constructs. 

Pack Page 158



47

Provision of a safe, confidential and private space for client consultation

The process of “Ask and Act” must be implemented within a culture and environment 
where the confidentiality, privacy and data of the client group is respected and 
treated very carefully.  Essentially this will require: 

 the creation of a service which promotes the safety of the client as a priority 
and provides transparency in relation to confidentiality; and 

 the creation of internal processes whereby private spaces can be utilised 
efficiently to ask required questions in settings which the client deems safe 
and confidential.

In practice

The professional should address two important considerations prior to asking the 
question:

 the environment; and
 their rapport with the client.

Environment

The space you provide in which to ask the client about their experience gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence must be safe and whether it is 
safe is down to the judgment of the client.  Ensure they feel safe in the space you 
provide and ask them what would make them feel safer to have the discussion.

Do not broach the subject if other people are around or if your conversation can be 
overheard.  The client must be completely alone. 

Clearly display information in waiting, communal areas and other suitable places 
about the support on offer for those affected by domestic violence and abuse. This 
should include contact details of relevant local and national helplines. 

Ensure materials are displayed which indicate inclusivity of those clients who may 
identify as minority or with diverse needs (see Applying “Ask and Act” to those 
with additional diverse needs).

Pack Page 159



48

Ensure the information on where to get support is available in a range of formats and 
locally used languages. The former could include Braille and audio versions and the 
use of large font sizes. There may also be more discreet ways of conveying 
information, for example, by providing pens or key rings with a helpline number.

Do not assume anyone is a “safe” family member or friend. Some forms of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence involve multiple perpetrators 
including family members of all genders and extended social networks.  This may be
particularly true in relation to “Honour” based abuse and within tight knit communities 
such as those of travellers.  It is not appropriate to use a family member or friend 
as an interpreter.

A client is less likely to disclose if their children are present as they may try and 
protect them from this information, minimise the violence and will be aware their 
children are being used by a perpetrator to keep a tab on their action.

Do not assume the sex or gender of the client or the client’s partner and avoid using 
labels wherever possible.

LGBT clients may not be “out” to the person accompanying them and may be 
reluctant to disclose anything about their private life.

The client must feel they have the full attention of the professional.

Rapport

It is important to normalise the process of “asking the question”. The best way to 
encourage the individual to open up to you is to adopt a considerate questioning 
approach. Try to avoid “shutting down” disclosure through adopting either an 
apologetic approach or being too forthright.

Talking about gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence can be 
an emotionally charged event for both the person being abused and the confidante 
and needs to be handled sensitively.

The professional must appear confident to ask the question.  A professional who 
appears nervous to ask may convey to the client they are not able to deal with the 
answer.

The professional should be aware of their non verbal communication to ensure they 
appear “open” to receiving the answer to their question.

The professional should use their active listening skills to ensure the client feels they 
are being given their full attention.

Pack Page 160



49

The questioning style

The indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence could 
reflect a range of issues and also prompt safeguarding concerns for children or 
associated vulnerable adults.  As such, acknowledgment and exploration of them 
should already be an integral part of good practice.

Targeted enquiry typically results in a doubling of identification rates of domestic 
abuse and it increases referrals to outside agencies.70  As such it has the potential to 
provide a positive impact on the lives of many victims of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence and those of their children.  The priority of all 
services engaged with “Ask and Act” should be to address the needs and the safety 
of these victims.

The majority of women are in favour of a process of enquiry about domestic 
violence, provided it is conducted in a safe, confidential environment.71  Practice 
based feedback indicates those who experience gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence want professionals to ask them about their experience 
and it is easier for a client to respond to a direct question than to offer the information 
up independently.  

In practice

Screening techniques should be adapted to best suit the needs of the professional 
setting and client group.  If tools are used, these should be brief, yet comprehensive 
and tested across a diverse population.  Partnerships between healthcare providers 
and local specialist organisations should be solidified in order to provide more 
comprehensive delivery of policy and practice.72

Screening tools should not be confused with risk identification or assessment tools 
which serve a different purpose than the identification of the issue and provide a 
subsequent step in a process of “Ask and Act”.

The question

The information below provides guidance for relevant professionals on how to begin 
a conversation with a client where they observe indicators they are experiencing
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

 explain to the client what you have observed;

Pack Page 161



50

 explain to the client you are concerned about what the observation/s you have 
made could be linked to.

Indirect questions 

Given the indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence
could also be indicators of wider social and public health issues, the professional 
may wish to approach targeted enquiry through a conversation involving indirect 
questions.  This will further establish the rapport with the client.

These questions may include an explanation of why they are being asked such as:

“I have noticed these signs/symptoms”

“I have been provided with this piece of information”

Which are then followed with an indirect question such as:

Are there any problems or reasons which may be contributing to these signs 
and symptoms? 

Is there anything going on for you which are causing these signs and 
symptoms?

These questions may prompt disclosures of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence or of other issues requiring support and in such cases provide a 
gentle, conversation based approach to targeted enquiry.

However, for some clients, such an approach will lack the required clarity for 
understanding or will not be enough to overcome their personal barriers to 
disclosure.  It is therefore important professionals also follow up indirect questioning 
with direct questioning where necessary. The professional must be certain they have 
asked the question required of “Ask and Act” and this question has been understood 
by the client.

Direct questions

Whilst direct questions must be clear and concise they must also be asked with great 
sensitivity and care.  It is important the professional practices and thinks through the 
questions which can be asked comfortably and clearly in a way which normalises the 
process for the client.  

The following are some examples of direct questions to begin the development of 
professional practice in this area but this should not be used as a script.

“Abuse at home is very common and can sometimes result in people 
behaving or feeling the way you have described today.  Abuse is a term used 
to describe a partner or family member hurting or upsetting you - this might 
mean physically hurting you, it might mean controlling finances or it might 

Pack Page 162



51

mean calling you names or being hurtful through the things they say.  It might 
also mean pushing you to do things you don’t want to sexually.  Is this 
happening to you”?

Some of the things you have told me today have worried me and I am 
concerned about what you might be experiencing in your personal life.  Is 
somebody hurting you in any way or are you afraid somebody might hurt you 
in the future?

“Some of the things you have described are indicators a person is suffering 
harm or abuse by a partner or family member.  Is it happening to you”?

Many of those who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence do not recognise it in this way.  As such it is important the professional is 
able to explore what this term means and to break it down into questions on 
behaviour, rather than terminology.  This will be particularly true for younger people 
who tend to normalise the experience of intimate partner violence.

Below are some examples of behaviour based questions:

Does your partner/ family member(s) get jealous of you seeing friends, talking to 
other people, going out? If so, what happens?

Does your partner/ family member lose their temper with you? If so, what 
happens to you as a result?

Has anyone in your family threatened to hurt you or make you do anything you 
don’t want to do?

Do you feel frightened of anyone in your life?

Who makes decisions in your family/about what you can and can’t do?

Do you have access to your own money and free choice about how to spend it?

It is important the professional does not over-focus on physical violence to the 
detriment of emotional, psychological, financial and other aspects of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, all of which are damaging and 
harmful and should be taken seriously.

Where a client makes some reference to gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence or partly acknowledges their experience, it is important the 
professional does not pressurise them to fully disclose if the client is uncomfortable 
with this.

Pack Page 163



52

Dealing with disclosure

The response which is provided by the professional is as important as the question 
which is asked.  This may be the first time the client has disclosed and they are likely 
be fearful for the implications of doing so.  The professionals response will be crucial 
in reassuring the client.

In practice

Client discloses experience of current or historical abuse

Where a client discloses the experience of abuse, it is important the professional 
believes and validates the information the client provides.  Many clients will fear they 
won’t be believed and it is important the professional validates the experience, 
acknowledges gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are
serious issues and taken very seriously by the organisation.

Validating statements must be congruent to professional demeanour and therefore 
should not be scripted, however, some examples of validating statements are:

“It takes huge strength to share what you have today”

“No-one deserves to be abused. There is no excuse for violence and you 
deserve better”

“I am concerned about your safety and well-being but there are options and 
resources available to you”

“You are not alone”

“The abuse / violence is not your fault”

Reassure the client the organisation has an understanding of how abuse and 
violence may affect them and the support which can be offered.

It is also important the professional considers the following:

 the immediate safety of the client and of any associated people; 
 whether immediate medical attention is required for any injury; 

Pack Page 164



53

 the safety of the client to return home and what can be offered to mitigate risk; 
and 

 how the disclosure will be addressed, either within the organisation or using 
partnerships (see the remaining stages of the process for additional 
information).

 Options for continuity of care

Client does not disclose abuse

There will be cases where an indicator of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence is observed where a client does not disclose abuse.  In this case 
it is important to consider the following:

“Ask and Act” is not an interrogation

A professional may still be concerned for the client but challenging them on their 
answer is unlikely to improve their engagement.  A client should always have choice 
about what they choose to disclose and they may not be ready to share information.

Do not dismiss your professional judgement

There will be cases where a client does not disclose but where a professional 
remains concerned for their safety and wellbeing.  A professional’s intuition can be 
one of their greatest skills and as such should not be dismissed.  A professional 
should consider what their concerns are and what evidence they have for their 
concern.  This should be further raised with a manager to consider whether the 
concern would satisfy legal criteria to share information and what actions can be 
taken to safeguard the client.

Indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
also indicators of other vulnerabilities and concerning behaviour.

It is important to remember the experience of the client may not relate to gender-
based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, but could be a sign of another 
vulnerability. A follow up question as to whether there is anything else the client 
would like to share could be effective as will a general service directory linked to 
other complex needs such as substance misuse, mental health or self harm.

All organisations should have basic awareness raising materials for local services 
which can be handed to clients (if safe to do so) should they wish to use them in the 
future.

Above all, it is crucial “Ask and Act” is not considered a single intervention.  Those 
who experience gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
often described as moving through Stages of Change in their view of their 
situation.73 The stages determine how able and ready a client feels to make a 
change in their life, in relation to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence this may mean their readiness to recognise their situation, to disclose 
information or to take action to escape the abuse they are experiencing.

Pack Page 165



54

Examples of Stages of Change in relation to the experience of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence involve the following:

Pre contemplation: A client not recognising their experience as abuse or not 
recognising why services have concerns.

Contemplation: A client recognising an issue in their relationship, having some 
concerns but not necessarily wishing to do anything about it or not knowing what to 
do.

Preparation: : A client recognising abuse, wanting things to change and considering 
what could make the difference-this may involve reading leaflets, thinking about 
options to leave or identify help.

Action: A client makes a change.  This may involve calling the helpline or calling the 
police for the first time.

Maintenance: A client has made a change, for example leaving an abusive partner 
and is maintaining the change by refraining from contact and reporting ongoing 
incidents.

Lapse/relapse: A client has previously made a change and maintained it for a 
period of time.  However they have now either reverted slightly back to their old 

Pack Page 166



55

situation, for example by answering phone calls form an abuser or completely 
reverted to previous behaviour, for example by returning to the family home to restart 
a relationship with the abuser.

It is important for the relevant authority to offer services and apply targeted enquiry 
at every relevant opportunity.  In doing so opportunity is increased to offer services 
at the point in time when they are most likely to be accepted or to ask questions 
when the client is ready to answer them.  Whilst a client who is pre-contemplative 
may not disclose abuse, one who is in contemplation or preparation may be 
receptive to the question and in asking it, a professional can offer a raft of services 
which can further stabilise the change the client wishes to make and improve their 
safety.

Pack Page 167



56

Risk Identification

The aims of “Ask and Act” include identification of gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence.  As outlined in the rationale and the definitions sections 
of this guidance this includes a wide variety of behaviours, perpetrated by partners, 
ex partners and family members or strangers and acquaintances including:

 Domestic abuse
 Sexual violence (within and not 

within relationships)
 Female Genital Mutilation

(FGM)
 Forced marriage 

 “Honour” based abuse
 Stalking and harassment (within 

and not within relationships)
 Sexual exploitation

For a number of these experiences a process of risk identification has been 
established.  This process does not identify who is most likely or at risk of 
experiencing these issues, it is to be used when it is known someone is 
experiencing these issues.  The risk being assessed relates to particular types of 
behaviour which are linked to serious harm and death and the escalation of abuse.

There are a number of risk identification tools in existence internationally and they all 
apply to a combination of domestic abuse, sexual abuse (within relationships), forced 
marriage, honour based abuse and stalking and harassment.  They are not linked to 
the specific experience of Female Genital Mutilation, sexual violence committed by a 
stranger or acquaintance or other forms of gender based violence.

Female Genital Mutilation

Whilst there is no formal model of risk assessment for FGM it is crucial that 
professionals are alert to what might increase a young woman’s risk of being 
subjected to this abuse.

The All Wales Protocol on Female Genital Mutilation should be adhered to.  

Professionals should particularly consider:

 any girl born to a woman who has been subjected to FGM must be considered to 
be at risk, as must other female children in the extended family;

 any girl who has a sister who has already have undergone FGM must be 
considered to be at risk, as must other female children in the extended family; 
and

 the family comes from a community that is known to practice FGM e.g., 
Somalian, Sudanese and other African countries where FGM is practised widely. 
It may be possible that they will practice FGM if a female family elder is around.

Pack Page 168



57

Where a disclosure of the experience of Female Genital Mutilation or threat to 
mutilate is disclosed, this must be reported to the police as a crime. Where
experienced by an under eighteen year old, FGM constitutes child abuse.

Across Wales, in relation to domestic abuse, sexual abuse (within relationships), 
forced marriage, honour based abuse and stalking and harassment, one risk 
assessment tool is used by the majority of criminal justice agencies, specialist and 
some relevant authorities.

This tool is known as the DASH (Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Harassment and Honour 
Based Violence) Risk Identification Checklist.  It is published by the charity Co-
ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA) and was developed in 
partnership with Laura Richards on behalf of the Association of Chief Police Officers 
and in consultation with CAFCASS, Respect and independent subject experts.74

Aim of the DASH (Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Harassment and Honour Based 
Violence) Risk Identification Checklist: 

 To help frontline professionals to identify risk in cases of domestic abuse, stalking 
and ‘honour’-based violence.

 To decide which cases should be referred to the Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC) and what other support might be required. A completed 
form becomes an active record which can be referred to in future for case 
management.

 To offer a common tool to agencies which are part of the MARAC process and 
provide a shared understanding of risk in relation to domestic abuse, stalking and 
‘honour’-based abuse.

 To enable agencies to make defensible decisions based on the evidence from 
extensive research of cases, including domestic homicides and ‘near misses’, 
which underpins most recognised models of risk assessment.

For the reasons set out below, it is this tool the Welsh Government recommends for 
use in the public service in Wales.

The DASH Checklist was introduced as a multi agency risk assessment tool in 2009 
and combines a number of pre-existing risk assessment models, including the 
integrated tool used by the police.

The Checklist has been designed for use by both domestic abuse specialists and 
practitioners working across the public service.  The Welsh Government is keen 
to see consistency of use of an agreed Checklist across Wales.

The DASH Checklist is evidence based.  The risk factors included are drawn from 
extensive research by leading academics in the field into domestic homicides and 
‘near misses’. The research base for each factor can be found in the tool’s practice
guidance, a link to which is provided in the useful links section of this guidance.  The 
listed indicators can be organised into factors relating to the behaviour and 
circumstances of the alleged perpetrator(s) and to the circumstances of the victim. 
Most of the available research evidence, upon which the risk factors are based, is 

Pack Page 169



58

focused on male abusers and female victims in a current or previous intimate 
relationship. Generally the risk factors refer to the risk of further assault, although 
some are also linked to the risk of homicide.   

In practice
When to use the checklist

 The Checklist should be used with every client who discloses current 
domestic abuse, stalking and ‘honour’-based violence  to a professional. 

Someone is a victim of ‘current’ abuse where there has been any form of abuse 
(including psychological, financial, sexual and physical abuse) occurring within the 
last three months. However this is not an absolute; risk can change and each client’s 
situation will differ. Therefore it is essential professionals consider each case based 
on its own circumstances.

The checklist includes questions about static and dynamic risk factors: 

 the static risk factors are those which will not change. For example, if the 
perpetrator has ever threatened to kill the victim or someone else or have they 
ever threatened or attempted suicide. 

 the dynamic risk factors, such as pregnancy, financial issues or sexual abuse. 

Where the questions on the checklist refer to ‘current’ (e.g. “has the current incident 
resulted in injury” as outlined above) a timeframe of up to three months should be 
used to define this term.  For this reason, in practice the checklist will not easily 
apply to historical cases, i.e. if the abuse has ceased and the client is in need of 
general support to recover from a historical trauma. 

Who should the checklist be used with?

The checklist is designed for use with adult victims of domestic abuse, stalking and 
‘honour’-based violence (those who are over eighteen).  A specific, amended form 
for use with young people is also available.75

How to use the checklist:

 It is very important to ask all of the questions on the checklist to get a 
comprehensive view of the risks somebody is experiencing.   If a question is 
missed there is a danger something significant could be missed, resulting in 
an inadequate response to a client.   

Pack Page 170



59

 The professional should be familiar with the checklist before they use it with 
their first client to feel confident about the relevance and implications of each 
question.

 The professional should be sure they have an awareness of the risk 
management and service safety measures they can offer and must be familiar 
with local and national resources for the client.

Pack Page 171



60

Applying the Risk Identification Checklist in practice.

Specialist service provision

Thresholds

Confidentiality policy of organisation  
explained

Policy to “Ask and Act” explained

Indicator of abuse identified

Safe space provided

Question asked

Disclosure made

Arrange for immediate contact with a 
specialist service provider for initial risk 
identification and service options 
explanation

Introduce and explain the Risk 
Identification Checklist

Ask client if questions on the form can be 
asked

Explain results of form

Consider service options with client

Go through form

Explain service which can be offered 
through Public service Explain service which can be offered by 

specialist service

Where possible complete the checklist 
on your first contact with the client.

9 ticks or less* 10 ticks or more 14 ticks or more

Professional judgment and escalation

Specialist services IDVA services

Specialist services

IDVA and MARAC

Prior to completing the checklist a 
professional should establish:

How much time the client has to talk to 
them. 

The safe contact details of the client in 
case the call is terminated or they have to 
leave in an emergency.

Whether the perpetrator is around, due 
back or expected back at a certain time. 

If this is a telephone call, whether it is safe 
for them to talk right now.

And:

Introduce the concept of risk to your client 
and explain why you are asking these 
questions.

*It is up to each individual service to take a decision on thresholds for service provision and for local 
partnerships to agree threshold for multi agency fora.

This can be facilitated in a number of 
ways, depending on the circumstances 
of the organisation:

 Through a co-located service
 Through effective local referral 

pathways
 Through use of the national 

Domestic and Sexual Abuse 
helpline

Pack Page 172



61

The Risk Identification Checklist can be used to set thresholds which can form the 
basis of how local services are structured and to create the gateway for local multi 
agency fora.  Agreeing appropriate thresholds which meet local need is a matter for 
local partnerships, however an outline (based on CAADAs recommended threshold) 
is provided below:
Professional judgment

The practitioner’s professional judgment is crucial in all cases; the results 
from a checklist are not a definitive assessment of risk. The results provide a 
structure to inform judgment and act as prompts to further questioning, 
analysis and risk management.  The checklist does not demonstrate any scale 
of risk.76

If a professional has serious concerns about a victim’s situation, they should refer 
the case to MARAC and to the Independent Domestic Violence Advisor service 
attached to MARAC. 

There will be occasions where the particular context of a case gives rise to serious 
concerns even if the victim has been unable to disclose the information which might 
highlight their risk more clearly. This could reflect extreme levels of fear, cultural 
barriers to disclosure, immigration issues or language barriers particularly in cases of 
‘honour’-based violence. This judgment would be based on the professional’s 
experience and/or the victim’s perception of their risk even if visible risk factors and 
escalation are not observed. 

‘Visible high risk’: the number of ‘ticks’ on the checklist. If 10 or more ‘yes’ boxes 
are ticked, the case should be considered “high risk”.  However, the majority of local 
MARACs set their criteria higher than this, at 14 ticks, to provide for a workable, 
appropriate threshold for this forum.

The ‘don’t know’ option is included on the form where the victim does not know the 
answer to a specific question. It should be used when ticking ‘no’ would give a 
misleadingly low risk level. 

Potential escalation: the number of known incidents of abuse experienced by a 
victim as a result of domestic abuse in the past 12 months. This criterion can be 
used to identify cases where there is not a positive identification of a majority of the 
risk factors on the list, but where abuse appears to be escalating and where it is 
appropriate to assess the situation more fully by sharing information. 

Most MARACs set their thresholds at three or more incidents taking place in a 12 
month period but this will need to be reviewed depending on local volume and level 
of police reporting.

Pack Page 173



62

Service generated risk
The term “Service generated risk”   is used in the Caledonian System’s Women’s 
Services’ Framework for Safety Planning as part of this perpetrator programme in 
Scotland.77  The term is used to name the scenario in which systems or practice of 
professionals creates or increases the perpetrator’s risk to the client, or creates 
additional obstacles for the client.  

By working together and including a step in planning which asks whether the actions 
intended will increase the perpetrator’s risk or difficulties the client faces, the 
professional (and subsequent multi agency fora) can ensure they are working to 
mitigate risks as they become clear.

Identifying a service-generated risk is not a reason to step back from action, but a 
requirement to safety plan further in an individual case and to address and alter any 
structures which regularly generate such risks. 

Explaining risk identification to clients and explaining the results of the risk 
identification work

Explaining risk and confidentiality

A professional should remind their client of their organisation’s confidentiality policy 
prior to completion of the checklist. This will create transparency and clarity for the 
client about how and when the information they disclose might be used and shared. 
It can also be useful to explain completion of the checklist will help to understand 
their situation better and make decisions on the most appropriate services to offer 
them.  

Before you begin the checklist it may be useful to also gather:

 How much time the client has to talk to you. 
 The safe contact details of the client in case they have to leave in an 

emergency.
 Whether the perpetrator is around, due back or expected back at a certain 

time. 
 If a telephone call, whether it is safe for them to talk right now.

Explaining the results of risk identification

It is important this is handled in a sensitive and careful manner to ensure the client 
doesn’t become frightened or overwhelmed at the outcome of the risk assessment 
or, conversely feel like their situation is being minimised.  It is imperative the client 
does not feel embarrassed for seeking help or unsupported in dealing with the 
outcome. 

Consider the following principles as you explain the result of the form to the client:

Pack Page 174



63

Provide your evidence
It is important you state what your concerns are exactly by using the answers the 
client gave to you and by explaining your professional judgement. 

Be clear about the action you will take
It is important you explain what the next steps are to be, i.e. risk management, safety 
plans, referrals to MARAC and child protection agencies. 

Ensure you address the client’s immediate safety concerns
In many cases, the victim will need reassurances there are systems in place to 
ensure family members or the wider community will not be contacted or informed. 
Such contact may put the victim at greater risk.  

Using the tool with different forms of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence

The Risk Identification Checklist is based on the experience of domestic abuse, 
stalking and harassment and “Honour” based violence in all of its forms.  As stated 
above the evidence base for the form is made up primarily of female victims of male 
perpetrators, as such professionals should make additional considerations when 
using it with clients whose situation is different from the primary evidence base.

The form is not suitable in cases of slavery, sexual violence perpetrated by a 
stranger or acquaintance or for Female Genital Mutilation.  No equivalent risk 
assessment exists for these forms of abuse.  However it will provide use for 
domestic abuse, sexual violence within family or intimate relationships, “honour 
based abuse, and stalking and harassment.

‘Honour’ based violence

The questions on the Risk Identification Checklist include the possibility a client is at 
risk from more than one perpetrator as it is common for multiple perpetrators to be 
present in cases of honour based abuse.  Further, there are direct questions about 
‘honour’ based violence in the guidance for the checklist which will help practitioners 
to identify these cases. 

A professional’s judgement will be crucial in identifying risks in relation to ‘honour’-
based violence as many of the questions in the  checklist cover wider criminal 
behaviour which may be absent in these cases.  In such cases the score on the 
checklist is unlikely to meet the actuarial threshold for referral to MARAC despite the 
situation being gravely serious.  In such cases professional judgement should still 
prompt a referral to MARAC.

The security issues around information sharing are particularly relevant in cases of 
‘honour’-based violence.

Stalking

The checklist is designed for use in cases of intimate partner and wider family 
violence and thus is not appropriate for use in cases where stalking occurs and there 
has been no previous relationship. 

Pack Page 175



64

In cases where stalking is identified as part of the domestic abuse, this should be 
taken very seriously.  The Checklist guidance also lists additional questions to 
consider where stalking is identified and specialist services will utilise additional 
stalking risk assessment tools upon receipt of referral.

LGBT victims

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual or Transgender (LGBT) individuals accessing services will 
have to disclose both their experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence and their sexual orientation or gender identity. Creating a safe 
and accessible environment where victims feel they can do this and by using gender 
neutral terms such as partner/ex-partner is essential.

Some questions on the Risk Identification Checklist relate only to the experience of 
women, for example the question on pregnancy.  Male clients should not be asked 
this question and the client should personalise the completion of the checklist as far 
as possible to facilitate conversation rather than as a question-answer exercise.  

However, the professional should also be aware this removes a question (and 
therefore a score) on the checklist and makes the professional judgment of the 
practitioner crucial.

Family violence

As risk, identified through use of the Risk Identification Checklist, relates to the risk 
faced by an adult victim, based, in part, on their perception of the risk posed by their 
abuser, the checklist is suitable for use in cases of inter-generational violence where 
the victim is over 18 (even if the person using the abusive behaviour is under 18).   
The form should be completed and assessed in the same way as for an intimate 
partner case.   

The local Safeguarding Children team should be involved where a child is 
identified as using abusive behaviour.

Young people and children

This form will provide valuable information about the risks children are living with but 
it is not a full risk assessment for young people and children. The presence of 
children increases the wider risks of domestic violence and step-children are 
particularly at risk. If risk towards children is highlighted you should make a 
safeguarding referral to obtain a full assessment of the children’s situation.

Specific tools are available to understand the risk faced by young people who are the 
direct victims of abuse within their own relationships.  Where a young person is 
identified as in this situation, their risk should be taken very seriously and specialist 
services should be alerted immediately.78

Pack Page 176



65

Consider whether risk requires the sharing of client information

Sharing information is essential when working with victims of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence.  All professionals must be able to demonstrate 
defensible decision making which means information shared and actions taken are 
lawful, necessary and proportionate in protecting the safety of the client and, in many 
cases, their children.

General guidance on information sharing is that data should generally only be 
shared with the consent of the client.  However, ‘consent’ is just one of the methods 
under the Data Protection Act 1998 by which personal data may be shared and the 
Act recognises and allows for situations where data may be legitimately shared 
where a professional does not have the explicit consent of the client.

The Welsh Government will publish separate guidance on information sharing.  This 
guidance, local protocol and the legislative framework should be considered by the 
practitioner in relation to data protection and information sharing.  

In practice

There are three possible scenarios following the disclosure of the experience of 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence:

1. Risk identification indicates high risk to an adult victim, child or other.

 The client consents to their information being shared

 The client does not consent to their information being shared

2. Risk identification does not indicate high risk and the client consents to their 
information being shared.

3. Risk identification does not indicate high risk and the client does not consent 
to their information being shared, or consent cannot be obtained for their 
information being shared.

Each of these scenarios will require different considerations and each decision must 
be based on the detail of the individual case.  Consider the forthcoming Welsh 
Government guidance, alongside the legislative framework in your decision making.

Pack Page 177



66

Referral options offered and made

Public and specialist services at a local level should be integrated so as to provide:

 robust identification of those who are experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence;

 clear and efficient referral pathways  (within organisations or externally); and 
 interventions at all stages of a client’s experience and to manage those who 

perpetrate abuse.  

These referral pathways should also ensure people who misuse alcohol or drugs or 
who have mental health problems and are affected by gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence are also referred to the relevant public and 
specialist services.

In practice

Professionals who “Ask and Act” must have knowledge of both local and national 
services who can offer support to those who experience gender-based violence,
domestic abuse and sexual violence and their employing organisations should be 
part of working agreements which facilitate swift access to such services.

A list of the types of service available across Wales is provided below.  A directory of 
local contact details is available at www.livefearfree.org.uk

Floating support

Domestic violence service providers have developed a range of services to reach out 
and offer support and help to women whether or not they are staying in refuge 
accommodation. Floating support is a specific type of outreach service which is 
designed to support women who wish to remain in their own homes (regardless of 
the type of tenancy they have), or who are in emergency or other temporary 
accommodation.

Independent Domestic Violence Advisors

The main purpose of independent domestic violence advisors (IDVA) is to address 
the safety of victims at high risk of harm from intimate partners, ex-partners or 
family members to secure their safety and the safety of their children.  Serving as a 
victim’s primary point of contact, IDVAs normally work with their clients from the 
point of crisis to assess the level of risk, discuss the range of suitable options and 
develop safety plans. 

Pack Page 178



67

They are pro-active in implementing the plans, which address immediate safety, 
including practical steps to protect themselves and their children, as well as longer-
term solutions. These plans will include actions from the MARAC as well as 
sanctions and remedies available through the criminal and civil courts, housing 
options and services available through other organisations. IDVAs support and work 
over the short- to medium-term to put them on the path to long-term safety.  They 
receive specialist accredited training and hold a nationally recognised qualification.

Since they work with the highest risk cases, IDVAs are most effective as part of an 
IDVA service and within a multi-agency framework. The IDVA’s role in all multi-
agency settings is to keep the client’s perspective and safety at the centre of 
proceedings.  

Studies have shown when high risk clients engage with an IDVA, there are clear 
and measurable improvements in safety, including a reduction in the escalation 
and severity of abuse and a reduction or even cessation in repeat incidents of 
abuse79. 

Outreach support

Outreach services provide a range of new initiatives including information services in 
rural areas, and specialist outreach services for women from minority ethnic 
communities.

Refuge

A refuge is a safe house where those who are experiencing domestic abuse can 
stay. Refuge addresses (and sometimes telephone numbers) are confidential. There 
are over 50 refuges and support services in Wales, the majority of which are women
only.  A small proportion of the available units are accessible to men.

Some refuges are specifically for women from particular ethnic or cultural 
backgrounds (for example, Black or Asian women). Many refuges have disabled 
access and staff and volunteers who can assist women and children who have 
special needs.

Sexual Assault Referral Centre

Sexual Assault Referral Centres provide specially trained, experienced professionals 
to support and advise men, women, children and young people who have 
experienced sexual violence.  SARCs have been developed in partnership with the 
police, health and voluntary services.

The SARC often employs Independent Sexual Violence Advisors (ISVAs) who 
can offer specialist support and advocacy to those who have experienced sexual 
violence from anyone.  They offer expertise in the Criminal Justice System and can 
support those whose perpetrators are prosecuted support through the Court process.

Pack Page 179



68

Consider safeguarding issues

Children who live in households where there is domestic abuse are exposed to a 
significant risk of harm (Working Together Under the Children’s Act 2004).  Section 
120 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 expands the definition of harm in section 
31 of the Children Act 1989 (care and supervision orders) to include ‘for example, 
impairment suffered from seeing or hearing the ill treatment of another’.

In practice

Every professional with a responsibility to “Ask and Act” should:

 Understand their role and responsibilities to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children;

 Be familiar with and follow their organisation’s procedures and protocols for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and know who to contact 
in their organisation to express concerns about a child’s welfare;

 Be alert to indicators of abuse and neglect;

 Have access to and comply with the All Wales Child Protection Procedures;

 Understand the principles and practice contained in Safeguarding Children: 
Working Together under the Children Act 2004;

 Know when and how to refer any concerns about child abuse and neglect to 
social services or the police;

 Know a child, parent, caregiver, relative or member of the public who 
expresses concerns about a child’s welfare to a professional and /or agency 
employee must never be asked to make a self referral to social services or the 
police. The professional and/or agency employee must make the referral.

If any person has knowledge, concerns or suspicions a child is suffering, has 
suffered or is likely to be at risk of harm, it is their responsibility to ensure the 
concerns are referred to social services or the police, who have statutory 
duties and powers to make enquiries and intervene when necessary.

This is not a matter for individual choice.80

Pack Page 180



69

Recording

All professionals must record the questions they ask the client and the response 
accurately in relevant case notes.  Clients have a general right of access to their own 
personal data under the Data Protection Act 1998 so it’s vital that the records are 
relevant and accurate.  

These records should be:

 Concise yet detailed enough for it to be useful to manage and progress the 
case 

 Legible so others within the team can access them in your absence or in 
emergencies. 

 Accurate distinguishing between fact and opinion
 Relevant to your case work81

It is particularly important decisions made following a client’s disclosure are 
recorded, principally where a decision to share their information without their consent 
is deemed necessary in improving their safety. 

In practice

As outlined in the section above there are three possible responses to a question on 
the experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

1. Risk identification indicates high risk to an adult victim, child or other.

The client consents to their information being shared

The client does not consent to their information being shared

Where a client is identified as being at high risk it is likely a multi agency response 
will be required to improve their safety and to protect their children.  In order to co-
ordinate this response it is likely the professional will need to share the client’s 
information with relevant partners to initiate a response.  

Where children are involved this may not be a decision where individual choice is 
required: If any person has knowledge, concerns or suspicions a child is suffering, 
has suffered or is likely to be at risk of harm, it is their responsibility to ensure the 
concerns are referred to social services or the police.

Pack Page 181



70

However the decision is more complex where child protection is not a factor, in 
cases such as these, to share information is not mandatory but “permitted.82  In 
these cases a professional will need to make a judgment about whether, and what 
information can be shared legally, and with whom.  However it is important to 
remember:

“It cannot be ethically justified if we hold information that we know could prevent 
serious harm to others and yet knowingly decide not to share it.”83

Should a professional choose not to share information based on a disclosure they 
should:

 Record the decision, including the reasons it was made
 Consider ways to reduce the risk to the client and their children
 Consider proactive way to assist the client to access help from other 

agencies.

Should a professional choose to share information based on a disclosure they 
should:

 Record their decision and their reasons for it
 Make decisions/enquiries about the information to disclose, how and to whom
 Discuss with the client, if appropriate and safe
 Note when and whether the client was informed and reasons why, if not.

2. Risk identification does not indicate high risk and the client consents to 
their information being shared.

Where a client provides explicit consent to share their information it is important a 
record of this is kept on file, stating which information is to be shared, with whom and 
for what purpose.

3. Risk identification does not indicate high risk and the client does not 
consent to their information being shared or consent cannot be obtained for 
their information being shared.

Where there is no clear and legitimate purpose for sharing clients’ information this 
information should not be shared. In such cases:

 A professional should record actions on file
 Reassure client of ongoing offer of services.
 Mark/flag file to ensure sensitive, heightened response provided, should client 

return to service.

Pack Page 182



71

Applying “Ask and Act” to those with additional diverse needs

An organisational process of “Ask and Act” must take account of the diversity of the 
population it serves and the known research on gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence. Acknowledgement of this diversity should be woven into 
all areas of practice and form part of a response to each client.  

Training on “Ask and Act” must include consideration of a multitude of client groups 
which mirrors the population of Wales and which draws out any specialist needs and 
responses required (this will be included in the National Training Framework).

Partnership between specialist and public services offers can offer an effective 
response to minority communities. 

Consideration of the diverse needs of a client should not be an “add on” to 
service provision, nor should assumptions be made as to the experience of 
any client-each should be treated individually.   However in order to ensure the 
typical considerations required by professionals are set out, this chapter summarises 
some of the barriers individuals may experience to disclosing an experience of 
abuse. The content is not exhaustive, nor is their any suggestion the experience of 
these barriers will be inevitable. It is hoped the observation of them will influence a 
professional’s likelihood to trigger enquiry:

Those at risk of “honour” based abuse84

The terms “Honour” or “izzat”  relate to issues of family honour, reputations and 
personal reputations.  One could bring shame to one’s family through behaviour 
which is judged by one’s family or community to damage reputation.

Remaining true to one’s culture and maintaining family reputation within society is 
central to “honour” or “izzat”.  Maintenance of family honour has been linked to 
personal shame. Those who are brought up in cultures where “honour” is prioritised 
can feel trapped in difficult or abusive relationships.   Moreover, fear of reflected 
shame and loss of izzat are regarded as key reasons why those who feel 
responsible to uphold family “honour” do not seek help.

An additional barrier for those who are at risk of “honour” based abuse is fear 
professionals will not keep confidentiality or records are kept securely enough to 
maintain confidentiality.85

Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic, Refugee individuals86

There is under-reporting of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence by people from Black and Minority Ethnic, Refugee (BAMER) communities 
in the general population. Some of the additional barriers to reporting faced by them 
could be:

• language barriers - interpretation;
• immigration status and no recourse to public funds;

Pack Page 183



72

• racism (either a perception or fear of a racist response or an actual racist 
response from a service provider);

• cultural beliefs and practices; fear of rejection by their community; and
• mistrust of authorities.

Violence in the country of origin - Asylum-seeking and refugee people may have 
experienced abuse or violence prior to their arrival in the UK. 

The asylum system has been frequently criticised for a lack of sensitivity towards, 
and understanding of, women’s claims for asylum within a system which has 
historically been geared towards male experiences. A lack of confidence in and 
dissatisfaction with the asylum system in relation to gender based violence are 
frequently raised.

The asylum interview can be a traumatic experience for those who have experienced 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence which is material to 
their claim, and some may not feel able to disclose information, particularly around 
sexual violence, due to cultural taboos and a lack of preparation and support. 

Older people from ethnic minority communities may be less likely than younger 
people to speak or understand English, and/or may have been kept from learning 
about availability of sources of help and support.

Divorce or separation may seem impossible to contemplate and concern about
family “honour” may particularly influence some people from BAMER communities.

Male victims

Male victims of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence may be 
reluctant to disclose their experience due to fear of being ridiculed, not being 
believed or being treated unfairly by agencies.  They may have misguided notions of 
masculinity which cause additional feelings of shame and embarrassment at 
experiencing gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.

Much of the imagery and public information on gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence presents it as a problem of heterosexual relationships 
with the woman as the victim. Male victims of either male or female abusers may be 
less likely to identify themselves as experiencing abuse if the imagery used to 
describe the experience does not include them.

Young people at risk of forced marriage

The age of 16 is a high risk trigger point for forced marriage due to the ending of 
formal education and the age of consent in the UK. It is not the only age of risk and 
professionals should be vigilant towards all young people.  

In cases where the concept of ‘honour’ is at stake, there is a significantly increased 
potential for multiple perpetrators.  The client may be frightened of a range of people, 
including both male and female relatives, as well as others from the wider community 
or figures of authority, and they may find it extremely difficult to trust anyone. As a 

Pack Page 184



73

result, social isolation becomes one of the biggest problems for young people at risk 
of forced marriage.

Older people87

Older people may find it particularly difficult to disclose given a traditional notion 
people should keep quiet about their problems, particularly if they involve family 
members.88  Some older people will be experiencing abuse by their children for 
example.  This dynamic may make it harder to speak out and ask for help. 

The choices and options available to those experiencing gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence in the past were limited in comparison to the 
spectrum of services available currently.  Older people may have limited knowledge 
and expectations of the help available to them and be less likely to seek help as a 
result. 

Older people are, however, more likely to be involved with public services and reliant 
on these for support.  Their reliance on these services and the carers who provide 
them may increase their risk of abuse and make them less likely to disclose abuse of 
any form.

A “public story” of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence is 
also applicable to older people; images portrayed in the media frequently feature 
younger people and may convey the impression gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence is not expected to affect those in later life.

Young people

Younger women (aged 16-24 years or under) are most likely to experience physical 
abuse from an intimate partner.89

A person is most likely to experience domestic abuse in their first relationship and 
the majority of these will occur during teenage years.   There is also a high level of 
normalisation of abuse, violence and controlling behaviour amongst young people. A 
young client may not recognise the abuse and may minimise the harm they are 
experiencing. 

There can also be overlaps between gang involvement and sexual exploitation and 
these disproportionately affect young people.  These experiences may broaden the 
number of potential perpetrators and have links to organised crime. As such young 
people may fear speaking out due to the experience of facing multiple threats.

Young people are more likely than others to be using social media. Social 
networking sites provide those using abuse with additional opportunities for control 
and online tracking.  Young people’s use of new technologies makes young victims 
more vulnerable to being controlled, e.g. through threats to circulate humiliating 
visual images.   This may prove a further barrier to disclosure.

Pack Page 185



74

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Trans individuals

Much of the imagery and public information on gender-based violence, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence presents it as a problem of heterosexual relationships; 
physical violence perpetrated by the bigger, ‘stronger’ heterosexual man against the 
smaller, ‘weaker’ heterosexual woman. LGB and T individuals may be less likely to 
label themselves as experiencing abuse if they are unable to identify with the 
characteristics this “public story” presents.90 Although 80% of respondents to the 
Scottish Survey of Transgender People’s Experiences of Domestic Abuse identified 
having experienced some form of abusive behaviour from a partner or ex-partner, 
only 60% of respondents recognised the behaviour as domestic abuse.91

Assumptions women are not violent, or violence taking place between two women or 
two men is less serious than in heterosexual relationships or is likely to be mutual 
abuse can result in practitioners misunderstanding or minimising the risk 
experienced by LGB and T victims.

Research into the experience of abuse for LGB and T people describes a “gap of 
trust” between those in same-sex relationships and public services. This is typically 
based on a fear these agencies may be homophobic or transphobic, will not be 
sympathetic or will not understand the experiences of the client.92  For some clients, 
this will arise from previous experience of real or perceived trans or homophobia 
from service providers. Moreover, some services may appear heterosexist (i.e. they 
assume all clients are heterosexual) and, as such, inadvertently exclude LGB and T 
individuals.

In order to disclose the experience of abuse an LGB or T person will be required to 
‘out’ themselves to services. This can also lead to concerns around confidentiality if 
the client is not ‘out’ in every part of their life (e.g. to colleagues or family).  This may 
be information they are not yet prepared to share, or they may fear repercussions if 
the ‘wrong’ people hear about their sexuality or gender identity.93

Trans people commonly describe their gender identify being used as part of their 
experience of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence.  The 
type of abuse most frequently experienced by trans people is transphobic emotional 
abuse, with 73% of the respondents experiencing at least one type of transphobic 
emotionally abusive behaviour from a partner or ex-partner.94

Disabled people
Disabled people are more likely to be physically vulnerable than a non-disabled 
people and less able to remove themselves from an abusive situations.
Disabled women are twice as likely to experience domestic abuse as non-disabled 
women.95 They are also likely to experience abuse over a longer period of time and 
to suffer more severe injuries as a result of the violence. 

Threats to withhold care or remove mobility or sensory devices required for 
independence limit disabled people’s ability to disclose, further compounding the 
social  isolation of some disabled people. 

Pack Page 186



75

Examples of current practice

Wales will be the first part of the UK to take steps to actively encourage a national 
process of targeted enquiry across the public service.  However, smaller scale, 
similar projects are running which meet the key requirements of ““Ask and Act”.

Depending on budget and aim, these projects may provide examples of models for 
local adoption.

Identification and Referral to Improve Safety- IRIS

IRIS is a General Practice-based domestic violence training, support and referral 
programme for primary care staff. It is a targeted intervention for female patients 
aged 16 and above experiencing current or former domestic abuse from a partner, 
ex-partner or adult family member. 

The model rests on one full-time advocate educator working with 25 GP practices. 
The advocate educator is a specialist worker who is linked to the practices and 
based in a local, specialist domestic abuse service. 

At each practice a lead professional is identified to be the IRIS practice champion. 
This person is the main point of contact for the advocate educator and can be any 
member of the practice team and is not limited to one professional.

Practices also utilise an electronic prompt in the medical record called HARKS 
(Humiliate, Afraid, Rape, Kick and Safety) and is linked to health symptoms of 
domestic abuse.  This pop up is installed centrally via the practice’s existing 
electronic medical record system and provides a practical reminder to ask about 
abuse, a safety tool based on risk and a mechanism for recording disclosures of 
abuse.96

The Peabody model

Peabody, one of London’s oldest and largest housing charities, is leading the way in 
improving how housing providers respond to domestic abuse. Over the last 5 years it 
has introduced domestic abuse training for frontline staff, and members of 
associated trades (for example gas inspectors, maintenance contractors) to raise 
their awareness of the issue and improve their response. It has also developed a 
more efficient case management system, strengthened links with local authorities 
and added two qualified independent domestic abuse advisers to its community 
safety team.

This work has been driven by analysis of existing provision, improving policy and 
practice and rolling the approach out to other housing associations and councils. So 
far, Peabody has trained 552 housing professionals and has seen a notable increase 
in identification and referrals. Since 2009 on average, a quarter of the Community 
Safety Team case load has been domestic abuse. Between 2006 and 2009 an 
average 7 cases of domestic abuse a year were identified within Peabody.  
Following implementation of the training and support programme an average of 81 
cases per year are now identified.

Pack Page 187



76

Definitions

Abuse (as defined by the Bill):  Physical, sexual, psychological, emotional or 
financial abuse

Act: A term used to describe the process followed by the relevant professional 
depending on the response of the client to being asked.

Ask and Act”: A process of targeted enquiry by relevant authorities in relation to 
gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and a process of 
routine enquiry within maternal and midwifery services.

Ask: A term used to describe the recognition of potential indicators of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence and subsequent enquiry with the client 
by this professional.

Association (as defined by the Bill): A person is associated with another person 
for the purpose of the definition of “domestic abuse” if they fall within the definition 
set out in section 21(2) and (3) of the Bill.

Domestic abuse (as defined by the Bill): abuse where the victim of it is or has 
been associated with the abuser

Gender-based Violence (as defined by the Bill):
(a) violence, threats of violence or harassment arising directly or indirectly
from values, beliefs or customs relating to gender or sexual orientation;
(b) female genital mutilation;
(c) forcing a person (whether by physical force or coercion by threats or other 
psychological means) to enter into a religious or civil ceremony of marriage 
(whether or not legally binding)

Female Genital Mutilation: an act that is an offence under sections 1, 2 or 3 of the 
Female Genital Mutilation Act 2003 (c. 31)

Harassment: A course of conduct by a person which he or she knows or ought to 
know amounts to harassment of the other; and for the purpose of this definition:

(a) a person ought to know that his or her conduct amounts to or involves
harassment if a reasonable person in possession of the same information
would think the course of conduct amounted to or involved harassment of
another person, and
(b) “conduct” includes speech;

Indicators: For the purposes of this guidance the term indicators is used to describe 
all of the signs, symptoms, cues or situations through which gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence can be identified.  In this respect it does not 
refer to indicators as measurements of performance.

Cues: The presence of some other information which suggest the experience 
of abuse.

Pack Page 188



77

Signs: The potential outward and physical signs someone is experiencing 
domestic abuse.

Situations: Such as when there are concerns about child maltreatment or in 
mental health settings where asking all clients/patients would be considered 
good practice.

Symptoms: Symptoms of abuse or of associated impacts (such as anxiety or 
depression).

Local Authority (as defined in the Bill): a county or county borough council.

Relative (as defined by the Bill): in relation to a person, means that person’s 
parent, grandparent, child, grandchild, brother, half-brother, sister, half-sister, uncle, 
aunt, nephew, niece (including any person who is or has been in that relationship by 
virtue of a marriage or civil partnership or an enduring family relationship).

Sexual Violence (as defined by the Bill) : sexual exploitation, sexual harassment, 
or threats of violence of a sexual nature.

Sexual exploitation (as defined by the Bill): something that is done to or in respect 
of a person which:

(a) involves the commission of an offence under Part 1 of the Sexual Offences
Act 2003 (c. 42), as it has an effect in England and Wales, or
(b) would involve the commission of such an offence if it were done in
England and Wales;

The public service: Public Services are services delivered for the benefit of the 
public. This can include services delivered through the third sector, through social 
enterprise or through services that are contracted out. 

Relevant authorities:  Local Authorities, Local Health Boards, Fire and Rescue 
Authorities and NHS trusts. 

Screening tools: A short focussed questionnaire which aids professional 
identification of the occurrence of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.

Violence against women: The experience of gender based violence (as defined in 
the bill) by women.

Pack Page 189



78

Screening tools 

There are many screening tools for various forms of gender-based violence, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence available.  These tools have been tested in 
various settings (although these are primarily clinical settings) and evaluated in 
various ways.  

This chapter lists a small selection of such tools which have been selected as they 
are known to be in use within UK based settings or have been subjected to multiple 
evaluations.97  Inclusion on this list should not be taken as endorsement or 
preference by the Welsh Government.  

HITS98 Tool for Intimate Partner Violence Screening: 

This tool is a short instrument, designed in the US for “domestic violence screening”.  
It purposeful brevity is such that it can be easily remembered and administered by 
family physicians.  It is a four-item questionnaire which asks respondents how often 
their partner physically Hurt, Insulted, Threatened with harm, and Screamed at them. 
These four items make the acronym HITS.

The HITS tool has been evaluated through a two phase study which compared the 
verbal and physical aggression items of the Conflict Tactics Scale (CTS) with the 
HITS tool.   The conclusion of this evaluation suggests the HITS tool is promising as 
a domestic violence screening mnemonic for family practice physicians.  The HITS 
tool has been found to also be sensitive and useful in relation to abuse experienced 
by men.99

The tool includes 4 questions: How often does your partner? 

1. Physically hurt you
2. Insult or talk down to you 
3. Threaten you with harm 
4. Scream or curse at you 

Those responding to the questions are asked to respond with either “never”, “rarely”, 
“sometimes”, “fairly often” or “ frequently”. Each of these responses is scored from 1-
5. A score of greater than 10 is considered to be a disclosure of abuse.

Pack Page 190



79

The HARK screening tool100

The HARK screening tool is commonly used as an electronic prompt within medical 
records.  It is a mnemonic for Humiliate, Afraid, Rape, Kick and Safety and is linked 
to health symptoms of domestic violence and abuse.

The aim of HARK is to provide a practical reminder to clinicians to ask about 
domestic violence and abuse, to flag the requirement to any of the behaviours on the 
patient record, to link to safety and the assessment of immediate risk.  One point is 
given for every yes answer.

The four HARK questions have been found to accurately identify women who have 
experienced Intimate Partner Violence within in the past year.  The most 
straightforward way of using HARK is as a simple test with a cut off score of 1 or 
less.   A score of 1 has been found to identify 81% of women affected by Intimate 
Partner Violence.  There is an 83% probability a woman with this score has 
experienced Intimate Partner Violence in the past year and she is 16 times more 
likely to have been affected by Intimate Partner Violence in the last year than some-
one with a score of 0.101

The tool contains 4 questions:

HUMILIATION: Within the last year, have you been humiliated or emotionally abused 
in other ways by your partner or your ex-partner?

AFRAID: Within the last year, have you been afraid of your partner or ex-partner?

RAPE: Within the last year, have you been raped or forced to have any kind of 
sexual activity by your partner or ex-partner?

KICK: Within the last year, have you been kicked, hit, slapped or otherwise 
physically hurt by your partner or ex-partner?

The Woman Abuse Screening Tool (WAST)102

The eight-item WAST was originally developed for General Practice and has also 
been tested in emergency care settings.  The WAST has been found to have good 
internal reliability to differentiate the experience of abused and non-abused women.

No fixed scoring is assigned to this tool-relying on professional judgement. However, 
the tool is often used by asking the first two questions which ask general relationship 
questions as opposed to specific questions about violence.  Where a respondent 
answers with "a lot of tension" and "great difficulty" to these questions, they should 
be followed with completion of the remaining questions.  The WAST has been found 
to be a reliable and valid measure of abuse in family practice settings, with both 
patients and family physicians reporting comfort with it being part of the clinical 
encounter.103

Pack Page 191



80

1. In general, how would you describe your relationship?
 A lot of tension
 Some tension
 No tension

2. Do you and your partner work out arguments with:
 Great difficulty?
 Some difficulty?
 No difficulty?

3. Do arguments ever result in you feeling down or bad about yourse1f?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

4. Do arguments ever result in hitting, kicking or pushing?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

5. Do you ever feel frightened by what your partner says or does?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

6. Has your partner ever abused you physically?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

7. Has your partner ever abused you emotionally?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

8. Has your partner ever abused you sexually?
 Often
 Sometimes
 Never

Pack Page 192



81

Related documents and useful links 

This guidance should be read in conjunction with additional Welsh Government 
published guidance on Multi Agency fora, the National Training Framework and 
Information Sharing.

Information sharing and data protection

Caldicott guidelines

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=950&pid=51917

Wales Accord on the Sharing of Personal Information Framework

http://www.waspi.org/

Policy and guidance

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines on Domestic 
Violence and Abuse – How services can respond effectively

http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PHG/44

Responding to Intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women.  World 
Health Organisation clinical and policy guidelines (2013)

http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/violence/9789241548595/en/

Building effective responses: An independent review of violence against women, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence services services in Wales (2014)

http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/building-effective-responses-independent-
review-violence-against-women/?lang=en

Practitioner resources

Live Fear Free 

http://livefearfree.org.uk/splash?orig=/

The CAADA DASH Risk Identification Checklist

http://www.caada.org.uk/marac/RIC_for_MARAC.html

Safeguarding children

All Wales Child Protection Procedures

All Wales Protocol: Safeguarding Children and Young People Affected by Domestic 
Abuse

Pack Page 193

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=950&pid=51917
http://www.waspi.org/
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/PHG/44
http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/violence/9789241548595/en/
http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/building-effective-responses-independent-review-violence-against-women/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/building-effective-responses-independent-review-violence-against-women/?lang=en
http://livefearfree.org.uk/splash?orig=/
http://www.caada.org.uk/marac/RIC_for_MARAC.html
http://www.teamworksdesign.com/clients/ciw-awcpprg/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Domestic-Abuse-Protocol-Final-27-04-11-Pdf.pdf
http://www.teamworksdesign.com/clients/ciw-awcpprg/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Domestic-Abuse-Protocol-Final-27-04-11-Pdf.pdf


82

All Wales Protocol: Female Genital Mutilation 

http://www.awcpp.org.uk/home/wales-protocols/

HM Government Multi-Agency Practice Guidelines: Female Genital Mutilation 
(Foreign & Commonwealth Office 2011) 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalas
set/dh_124588.pdf

Pack Page 194

http://www.awcpp.org.uk/home/wales-protocols/
http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_124588.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/digitalasset/dh_124588.pdf


83

Appendices

Appendix 1:  Evidence base for screening

Research into the variety of screening techniques is limited in its number, by the 
variation of practice and the lack of longer term work. As with many areas of work to 
tackle gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual violence, additional work 
in this area would be useful in refining future practice.

Overall, the majority of studies relate to both routine and targeted enquiry and are 
before and after studies.  Data on medium to longer term outcomes is often missing. 

The majority of studies also focused on abuse of women by a male partner. Very few 
studies examined the impact of identification interventions or approaches for diverse 
sub-populations of women or screening for: perpetrators, children who witness 
violence, ‘honour’ based violence, and elders. 

The majority of the evidence originates within health based practice, there is a lack 
of research examining the identification of the issues within social care settings, 
education, housing or within integrated approaches to identification across various 
health and social care settings. 

Much of the evidence for processes of targeted and routine enquiry relate to 
domestic abuse, often termed Intimate Partner Violence (IPV).  There are some 
descriptive accounts which relate to identification of sexual violence but there are no 
existing evaluations which specifically relate to the identification of sexual violence, 
forced marriage, Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), slavery or prostitution. It is 
reasonable, however to assume many of the evidenced-based interventions for 
identifying and referring domestic abuse, discussed could be applied to other forms 
of violence.104

Most of the studies did not measure rates beyond initial implementation.

Further research is required to examine and address the barriers providers face in 
identifying and responding to gender-based violence, domestic abuse and sexual 
violence. Furthermore, interventions are required which include a post-identification 
intervention and which measure health outcomes for participants. 

Pack Page 195



84

Appendix 2: Potential barriers to “Ask and Act” 

The benefits of implementation of a process of “Ask and Act” are outlined throughout 
this guidance.

Whilst recognition of the indicators of gender-based violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence should form part of good clinical and social care practice already, it 
is acknowledged the introduction of a formal process to support this could be met 
with challenges.  This chapter outlines the barriers to effective implementation of 
targeted enquiry and proposals through which to mitigate for them.

Barriers to implementation can relate to professional attitude, organisational 
structure and the clients feelings and fears.

Professional attitude

Concern Response Mitigation
Targeted 
enquiry may 
offend the client 
or cause 
emotional 
distress and 
discomfort

In general minimal  adverse 
effects of screening have been 
identified105

Practice in this area suggests 
those who are asked about their 
experience of violence or abuse 
are generally supportive of the 
process.106 This is particularly 
true of those who have  
experienced violence and 
abuse. 

Research also suggests women 
were much more likely than 
professional to support 
screening practices. 

Practice based feedback 
includes several examples of 
clients who experienced 
domestic abuse for decades but 
who didn’t seek help due to lack 
of knowledge of fear but who 
would have if they had been 
asked.

Training on “Ask and Act” will 
best be co-delivered by a 
professional with strong 
audience knowledge (working in 
the same or similar field) and by 
a professional with strong 
knowledge of the experience 
and impact of gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.  

The aim of such a delivery style 
will be to offer expert and 
practice based feedback to the 
training audience to increase 
their confident to practice 
targeted enquiry.

Targeted 
enquiry might 
further 
endanger the 

It is first important to recognise, 
if it is done privately and 
safely, asking about the 
experience of violence of abuse 

As above - the co-delivery by 
audience and subject experts 
will assist in increasing 

Pack Page 196



85

client. will not make it happen.  
Moreover all clients have a 
choice as to whether or not to 
disclose.  The choice ultimately 
lies with them.

However, a process of targeted 
enquiry may generate risks 
where it is not practiced 
properly or where it is not 
followed up appropriately with 
action.

professional confidence.

Be aware of service generated 
risks and ensure staffs have the 
skills and tools through which to 
mitigate them.

Ensure the organisation is 
signed up to a relevant 
Information Sharing Protocol 
which outlines a professionals 
duty of confidentiality and when 
and why this ma be breached. 

Ensure the organisation is 
working to clear referral 
pathways through which to offer 
options/take action to safeguard 
adults and children.

Organisational  structure

Lack of capacity 
within client 
facing time to 
ask the client 
questions or 
respond 
adequately.

Targeted enquiry should be 
supported through the 
implementation of policy and 
organisational changes which 
facilitate the process.  

Relevant authorities should 
work with staff teams and 
external partners to agree the 
process of ““Ask and Act”” 
which is most appropriate to 
their service function.

Lack of 
training/educati
on/experience 
leads to:

Staff feeling 
under-skilled 
and unconfident

A lack of 
knowledge of 
available 
resources

Evidence shows comprehensive 
programs – those which support 
a process of targeted enquiry at 
different levels; through 
practitioner training, institutional 
support and infrastructure and 
investment reach higher levels 
of intimate partner violence 
identification than non-
comprehensive ones.

Welsh Government funded 
training on the process of “Ask 
and Act” will be offered through 
the National Training 
Framework on gender-based 
violence, domestic abuse and 
sexual violence.  

Leaders in relevant authorities 
will also be offered support 
through this framework to 
demonstrate leadership on this 
issue and to develop 
infrastructures to support the 
practice.

Lack of access 
to effective  
interventions for 
VAWDASV

No agency can tackle gender-
based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence effectively
alone.  All work should be 
rooted within a multi agency 
response.

Ensure the organisation is 
working to clear referral 
pathways through which to offer 
options/take action to safeguard 
adults and children.

Pack Page 197



86

It is not the role of relevant 
professionals to become 
experts on the issues of gender-
based violence, domestic abuse 
and sexual violence, or to 
become specialist workers.  
These roles will exist locally and 
effective practice will involve 
robust and sustainable 
partnerships between the Public 
services and the specialist 
sector.

These referral pathways may 
involve co-location, although for 
many this will be unrealistic.

Consideration should also be 
given to drop in clinics, direct, 
efficient referrals to local 
services and utilisation of the 
National Helpline.

Difficulty in 
providing a safe 
space

Targeted enquiry should be 
supported through the 
implementation of policy and 
organisational changes which 
facilitate the process.

A safe space is a setting in 
which complete privacy can be 
assured.  This will never be the 
case in a public waiting room or 
in a space which is only 
shielded by a curtain.  

Organisation leaders should 
consider the accommodation 
resources available which offer 
private and safe spaces for 
client consultation.  This may 
involve the use of interview 
rooms or creative use of other 
space.

For some professional groups 
this may involve ensuring 
conversations which take place 
in client’s homes or in public 
places cannot be overheard.

The clients feelings and fears

Fear of 
reprisals, of 
response, of not 
being believed 
or response of 
organisation/pro
fessional.

An empathic, strong response to 
a client’s disclosure which 
conveys belief and validates 
their experience will offer 
immediate reassurance to a 
client.

Concern over a 
loss of privacy

It is imperative each client is 
aware of the confidentiality 
policy of the organisation with 
which they are engaging and is 
therefore able to make informed 
decisions about what 
information they choose to 
share with the professional they 
are working with and have 
reasonable expectations of how 
this information will be treated.

Ensure organisational policies 
on data protection, information 
sharing and confidentiality are 
up to date, legal and reviewed 
regularly.

Ensure all staff understand the 
duty of confidentiality and can 
explain it clearly to their clients.

Pack Page 198



87

Concern 
disclosing may  
make situation 
worse

The safety of the client and 
their children must be held 
central to any process of “Ask 
and Act”.

No action should ever be taken 
which will knowingly put the 
client at risk and professionals 
should raise any concerns with 
their supervisor or manager if 
this is the case.

Clients will often have been 
managing their own safety for 
some time prior to disclosing the 
abuse. 107  Professionals should 
hold in mind the client will know 
the person abusing them better 
than anyone and their own 
judgment of their situation must 
be taken very seriously.  A 
client is more likely to under 
estimate their risk than over 
state it.  

Whilst seeking permission to 
share information on a client’s 
situation should not be sought 
when they or their children are 
at risk, it is good practice to 
work with consent and to be led 
by client choice, wishes and 
feelings wherever possible.  

Ensure opportunity is provided 
to identify risk shortly following 
disclosure (either through 
internal or external pathways).

Ensure all staff understand the 
duty of confidentiality and can 
explain it clearly to their clients.

Lack of 
awareness of 
services

Relevant professions should not 
be part of a process of “Ask and 
Act” unless they have been 
sufficiently trained in the 
availability of local services.  To 
“act” will invariably require an 
explanation of or referral to local 
and national specialist services.

Training on “Ask and Act” must 
include information on the 
availability of specialist 
services, thresholds and 
referral processes.

Pack Page 199



88

References

                                               
1 Responding to Intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women.  
World Health Organisation clinical and policy guidelines (2013)
2 Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 
organisations they work with can respond effectively. NICE public health guidance 
50 (February 2014)
3 Berry V et al (2014) Building effective responses: An independent review of 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence services in Wales
4 Ibid
5 Between January and December 2011, the unit dealt with 1,468 cases
6 Foundation for Women's Health, Research and Development – FORWARD (May 
2013) via Women’s Aid Statistical Bulletin
7 CAADA (2014) In Plain Sight: Effective help for children exposed to domestic 
abuse.
8 Ibid
9 CAADA (2010) Saving Lives Saving Money
10 World Health Organisation (2013) Factsheet No. 239 
http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs239/en/
11 Home Office
12 CAADA (2012) A Place of Greater Safety
13 Ramsey and Richardson et al (2002) Should health professionals screen for 
domestic violence? BMJ 2002:324:1-6
14 http://www.rcog.org.uk/news/intercollegiate-group-draws-ground-breaking-
recommendations-tackling-female-genital-mutilation
15 Lewis and Drife, (2001, 2005); McWilliams and McKiernan, (1993). 
16 Ramsay J, Carter Y, Davidson L, Dunne D, Eldridge S, Feder G, Hegarty K, Rivas 
C, Taft A, Warburton A. Advocacy interventions to reduce or eliminate violence and 
promote the physical and psychosocial well-being of women who experience 
intimate partner abuse. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009 Jul 8;(3):CD005043
17 Department of Health, 2002; Farmer and Owen, 1995.
18 https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Acceptances-
and-Other-Decisions/HouseholdsAcceptedAsHomeless-by-PriorityNeed-Period
19 Websdale (1999);  Regan, Kelly, Morris and Dibb, (2007) If Only We’d Known: An 
exploration study of 7 intimate partner homicides in Engleshire. CWASU
20 Wilson and Daly, 1993; ACPO Findings from the Multi-agency Domestic Violence 
Homicide Review Analysis, 2003
21 CAADA(2013) Themis interim report

Pack Page 200



89

                                                                                                                                                 
22 Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 
organisations they work with can respond effectively. NICE public health guidance 
50 (February 2014
23 Responding to Intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women.  
World Health Organisation clinical and policy guidelines (2013)
24 The Peabody model has seen a notable increase in identification and referrals by 
Housing professionals
25 Taft A, O'Doherty L, Hegarty K, Ramsay J, Davidson L, Feder G. Screening 
women for intimate partner violence in healthcare settings. Cochrane Database Syst 
Rev. 2013 Apr 30;4:CD007007.BMJ 2002:325:314-8 (Ramsey et al Systematic 
Review:2002)
26 Ibid
27 Feder, et al. (2011) Evaluation of the IRIS project
28 Some differences noted between samples being compared (e.g. urban versus 
suburban participants
29 Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 
organisations they work with can respond effectively. NICE public health guidance 
50 (February 2014
30 Norwich Union Healthcare (2003), Doctors orders: Health of the nation index, 
Norwich Union: London showed eight out of ten doctors said they prescribed more 
antidepressants than they should, mostly to women.
31 Devine A, Spencer A, Eldridge S, Norman R, Feder G. Cost-effectiveness of 
Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS), a domestic violence training and 
support programme for primary care: a modelling study based on a randomised 
controlled trial.
32 Ramsey et al (2002) Should health professionals screen women for domestic 
violence? Systematic review. BMJ Open. 2012 Jun 22;2(3).
33 Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 
organisations they work with can respond effectively. NICE public health guidance 
50 (February 2014
34 Feder, G. et al (2009) How far does screening women for domestic (partner) 
violence in different healthcare settings meet criteria for a screening programme? 
Systematic review of 9 UK National Screening Committee Criteria.
35 (Price 2004; Leeds Inter-agency Project, 2005).
36 Trevillion K, Oram S, Feder G, Howard LM. Experiences of domestic violence and 
mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 
2012;7(12):e51740.
37 (Phillips, 2000; Department of Health, 2002). 'Women's Mental health: Into the 
Mainstream: Strategic Development of Mental Health Care for women'.

Pack Page 201



90

                                                                                                                                                 
38 Spataro, Mullen et al (2004) Impact of child sexual abuse on mental health
Prospective study in males and females. British Journal of Psychiatry
39 Budd, T., 2003. Alcohol Related Assault: Findings from the British Crime Survey, 
Home Office Online Report 35/03]
40 Brecklin, L., 2002. The role of perpetrator alcohol use in the injury outcomes of 
intimate assaults, Journal of Family Violence, 17 (3), 185-196]
41 Humphreys, C. & Regan, L., 2005. Domestic Violence and Substance Use: 
Overlapping Issues in Separate Services, Final Report
42 Department of Health (1999), Secure futures for women: Making a difference, 
Department of Health: London
43 DoH (2003)
44 http://www.mentalhealthwales.net/mhw/mental_health_measure.php
45 CAADA (2013) Interim report of the Themis Project
46  ibid
47 Ibid
48 This chapter summarises additional Welsh Government guidance on data 
protection and information sharing.
49 Regan, Kelly, Morris and Dibb, (2007) If Only We’d Known: An exploration study of 
7 intimate partner homicides in Engleshire. CWASU
50 Murray J (2010) Clinical judgment in violence risk assessment. EJP
51 Barter C (2009) Partner exploitation and violence in teenage intimate relationships
52 Ibid and CAADA (2014) In Plain Sight: Effective help for children exposed to 
domestic abuse.
53Robertson N “Evidence is your raw material’: the potential impact of undertaking 
DHRs”.  Presentation to Local Government Association May 2013
54 Pearlman (1990)  Vicarious Trauma . A framework for understanding.... Journal of 
Traumatic Stress. 
55 The Headington Institute: 
http://www.headington-institute.org/topic-areas/125/trauma-and-critical-
incidents/246/vicarious-trauma
56 ibid
57 Robertson N “Evidence is your raw material’: the potential impact of undertaking 
DHRs”.  Presentation to Local Government Association May 2013
58 Ibid
59 The Headington Institute: http://www.headington-institute.org/topic-
areas/125/trauma-and-critical-incidents/246/vicarious-trauma
60 This will be tailored per profession.
61 Walby, Sylvia.  The Cost of Domestic Violence: Update 2009
62 Walby, Sylvia.  The Cost of Domestic Violence: Update 2009

Pack Page 202



91

                                                                                                                                                 
63 Domestic violence and abuse: how health services, social care and the 
organisations they work with can respond effectively. NICE public health guidance, 
UCLAN
64 Harvey S, Mitchell M et al  (2014) Barriers faced by Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Trans People in Accessing Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Harassment and Sexual 
Violence Services.  NatCen Social Research
65 Gynaecological problems are the most consistent, longest lasting and largest 
health difference between women who have and have not experienced abuse (Feder 
et al (2009) via Priorities for the Violence Against Women (Wales) Bill. Wales 
Violence Against Women Action Group (2011)
66 Trevillion K, Oram S, Feder G, Howard LM. Experiences of domestic violence and 
mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 
2012;7(12):e51740.
67 Lewis and Drife, 2001, 2005; McWilliams and McKiernan, 1993. 
68 Ramsay J et al. (2009) Advocacy interventions to reduce or eliminate violence 
and promote the physical and psychosocial well-being of women who experience 
intimate partner abuse. Cochrane Database Systematic Review
69 Department of Health, 2002; Farmer and Owen, 1995.
70 Taft A, et al (2013) Screening women for intimate partner violence in healthcare 
settings. Cochrane Database Systematic Rev. (Ramsey et al Systematic 
Review:2002)
71 (Price 2004; Leeds Inter-agency Project, 2005).
72 Coulthard et al (2010)
73 Prochaska, J. and DiClemente, C.(1983) Stages and processes of self-change in 
smoking: toward an integrative model of change. Journal of Consulting and Clinical 
Psychology
74 Jan Pickles, Dr Amanda Robinson, James Rowlands and Jasvinder Sanghera.
75 www.caada.org.uk
76 This is captured in a separate tool (known as the severity of abuse grid) which is 
used by specialist practitioners to assess the severity of the abuse.
77 http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1032/0099922.pdf.  
78 http://www.caada.org.uk/Young_People/YP_RIC.htm
79Howarth, E, Stimpson, L., Barran, D., Robinson, A., Safety in Numbers: A Multi-
Site Evaluation of Independent Domestic Violence Advisor Services, November 
2009.  
80 Taken from the All Wales Child Protection Procedures (2008)
81 CAADA Case Management Pack http://www.caada.org.uk/dvservices/resources-
for-domestic-abuse-practitioners.html
82 Fincken C Striking the Balance: Practical Guidance on the application of Caldicott 
Guardian Principles to Domestic Violence and MARACs 

Pack Page 203



92

                                                                                                                                                 
83 Ibid
84 Based on findings of Wales Migration Partnership (2013), ‘’Uncharted Territory: 
Violence against migrant, refugee and asylum seeking women in Wales.’’
85 Gilbert, Gilbert, Sanghera (2004) A focus group exploration of the impact of izzat, 
shame, subordination and entrapment on mental health and
service use in South Asian women living in Derby Mental Health, Religion & Culture 
Volume 7, Number 2, June 2004, 109–130
86 Based on findings of Wales Migration Partnership (2013), ‘’Uncharted Territory: 
Violence against migrant, refugee and asylum seeking women in Wales.’’
87 As with all categories listed here, older people are not a homogeneous group.  
They may not be of the same generation and there be large variance in the age 
range of those defined as older people.  Life stage and life history may be more 
significant than age and, as with all minority groups, it is important never to make 
assumptions.
88 Older women and domestic violence: An overview  (Women’s Aid)
www.womensaid.org.uk/downloads/olderwomenanddvreport(1).pdf
89 Office of National Statistics (2011-2012) Focus on: Violent Crime and sex offences
90 Donovan & Hester, 2010)-via CAADA Practice Guidance on engaging and working 
with lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) clients
91 Roch, Ritchie and LGBT Youth Scotland (2010) Out of Sight Out of Mind.  
Transgender People’s Experiences of Domestic Abuse
92 (Donovan & Hester, 2011) via CAADA Practice Guidance on engaging and 
working with lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) clients
93 Harvey S, et al (2014) Barriers Faced by Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
People in Accessing Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment, and Sexual 
Violence Services. National Centre for Social Research
94 Roch, Ritchie and LGBT Youth Scotland (2010) Out of Sight Out of Mind.  
Transgender People’s Experiences of Domestic Abuse
95 1995 British Crime Survey
96 http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
97 “Even the most common tools were evaluated in only a small number of studies. 
Sensitivities and specificities varied widely within and between screening tools. 
Further testing and validation are critically needed” 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2034562/ .97
98 Sherin K et al (2003) HITS.  A domestic violence screening tool for use in the 
community.www.orchd.com/violence/documents/HITS_eng.pdf
99Rabin et al (2010) Intimate Partner Violence Screening Tools. 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2688958/
100Sohal et al (2007) The sensitivity and specifity of four questions (HARK)to identify 
Intimate Partner Violence: a diagnostic accuracy study in General Practice
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2034562/

Pack Page 204

http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/
http://www.irisdomesticviolence.org.uk/iris/


93

                                                                                                                                                 
101 ibid
102 Rabin et al (2010) Intimate Partner Violence Screening Tools. 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2688958/
103 Brown et al (2000) Application of the Women Abuse Screening Tool (WAST) and 
WAST short in the family practice 
setting.http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11052161
104Berry V et al (2014) Building effective responses: An independent review of 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence services in Wales.
105 Feder, G. et al (2009) How far does screening women for domestic (partner) 
violence in different healthcare settings meet criteria for a screening programme? 
Systematic review of 9 UK National Screening Committee Criteria
106 The research is mainly focussed on the experience of women

Pack Page 205

http://research-information.bristol.ac.uk/en/persons/gene-s-feder(f4e74f26-bfb7-4422-959a-5f4caf2c717a).html


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 206

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



17 July 2014 - Papers to Note 

Paper 

No: 

Issue From Action Point 

2 

 

 

 

 

Housing (Wales) 

Bill 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Minister for 

Housing and 

Regeneration 

 

 

 

Additional information following 

the in-year scrutiny session on 

June 19 2014 

3 Holiday Caravan 

Sites (Wales) Bill  

 

Darren Millar AM  

 

Additional information in relation 

to the Holiday Caravan Sites 

(Wales) Bill 

 

 

Pack Page 223

Agenda Item 3



 

Carl Sargeant AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio 
Minister for Housing and Regeneration 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

                Correspondence.Carl.Sargeant@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: SF/CS/1028/14  

Christine Chapman AM 
Chair 
Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 

National Assembly for Wales 
 
   

 
Dear Christine 
 

In year Scrutiny Session: 19 June 2014 

 
Thank you for your letter of 26 June following my evidence session on 19 June. 
 
During the session we agreed that I would write to you on the following issues: 
 
Affordable Housing 

 
The definition of affordable housing in Wales, used for the purposes of the data collection 
for the 10,000 affordable housing target, is included within Planning Policy Wales – 
Technical Advice Note 2:- 
 

“The definition of ‘affordable housing’ for the purpose of the land use planning 
system as described in this Technical Advice Note is housing where there are secure 
mechanisms in place to ensure that it is accessible to those who cannot afford 
market housing, both on first occupation and for subsequent occupiers. However, it is 
recognised that some schemes may provide for stair casing to full ownership and 
where this is the case there must be secure arrangements in place to ensure the 
recycling of capital receipts to provide replacement affordable housing. Affordable 
housing includes: 

• Social rented housing; 
• Intermediate housing. 

 
Social rented housing is that provided by local authorities and registered social 
landlords. Intermediate housing is that where prices or rents are above those of 
social rent but below market housing prices or rents” 

 
Whilst the planning policy definition is broadly the same in the UK Government’s 
Communities and Local Government (CLG) National Planning Policy Framework, the 
approach to funding affordable housing development is very different. 
 
 

08 July 2014 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
CELG(4)-23-14 Paper 2 

Pack Page 224



In the UK the Affordable Homes Programme is described by the CLG as being available for 
“Affordable Rent” with some for affordable home ownership, supported housing and in some 
circumstances, social rent. They go on to describe Affordable Rent as requiring a rent of no 
more than 80% of the local market rent. As a result of the direction of this programme the 
vast majority of properties developed under this programme are at a much higher, 
intermediate rent, which is higher than social rent.  
 
Whilst the Welsh Governments Social Housing Grant programme does include the option 
for intermediate rent at or below 80% of local market rents (but at or below local housing 
allowance), the vast majority of the programme supports the delivery of social rented 
housing, which is provided for those in greatest housing need.  
 
Welsh Housing Quality Standard achievement  

 
All the local authorities have up to date business plans which show achievement of WHQS 
by 2020 or before. These plans, together with annual statistical returns on WHQS progress, 
are carefully monitored to ensure the target is met. The table below sets out completion 
dates: - 
 
Local Housing Authority Stock at March 2013 Achievement of WHQS 
Cardiff 13,661 2012 
Anglesey 3,806 2012 
Pembrokeshire 5,670 2013 
Denbighshire 3,458 2014 
Carmarthenshire 9,073 2015 
Vale of Glamorgan 3,911 2017 
Powys 5,407 2018 
Caerphilly1 10,912 2019/20 
Wrexham 11,322 2020 
Swansea 13,590 2020 
Flintshire 7,402 2020 
1
 We are currently assessing the latest business plan for Caerphilly and details so far indicate that they will still 

meet WHQS by 2019/2020 

 
 
Help to Buy Wales by Local Authority 
 
I attach a spreadsheet which includes a detailed breakdown of the scheme by local 
authority. 
 
 
Intermediate Care Fund Plans and Projects 
 
The Intermediate Care Fund is designed to promote new ways of working and integrate 
provision of services between health, social services and housing providers. £15 million of 
the £50 million budget relates to capital projects and forms part of my portfolio. All six 
regions submitted strong bids for new and innovative proposals which will require close 
monitoring to ensure they deliver the outcomes aspired to of long lasting service change 
and improved outcomes for people who need our support. I have attached an Annex which 
sets out details of projects. 
 

                       

 

Pack Page 225



Section 180 Review of the Homelessness Grant Programme 

 
The Housing White Paper (2012) committed to a major review of the Section 180, 
Homelessness Grant Programme. The purpose of the review was to ensure the deployment 
of funding is in line with the prevention goals of the new legislation. The review process has 
now been completed. My officials are working on the recommendations and are meeting 
with organisations individually to build a clear picture which will, in turn inform my decisions 
on changes to some projects. 
 
In addition to the reductions as a result of individual projects, all organisations funded 
through the grant have been advised of a reduction of 3% from 2013/14 levels of funding, 
with effect from 1st October 2014. All of the funding released as a result of the review and 
the flat rate reduction will be reinvested in line with the prevention agenda of the Housing 
(Wales) Bill. 
 
 
Evaluation of the Supporting People Programme 

 
We have started a programme of audit to ensure that Supporting People funding is being 
spent in accordance with Grant Conditions and is providing value for money. As part of this 
work Welsh Government officials have reviewed two local authorities and one provider. Two 
of the final reports of these reviews are in preparation, and one has been submitted to me 
for consideration.  
 
Overall there has been good evidence of services being reviewed by both the authorities 
and the provider. In one of the authorities and in the provider case there was clear evidence 
of changes being made to a service to ensure it was the best use of funding. This work will 
continue and all authorities will be reviewed in a similar way as part of the wider review and 
evaluation of the Supporting People programme. The evidence from the audits is being 
used to shape the work of local authorities and Regional Collaborative Committees.  
 
You have also asked for more detail on the subjects below. 
 
 
Tenant Participation 

 
I have agreed the majority of the recommendations set out in the 2014 research study 
Support for Tenant Participation. I am monitoring progress on the implementation of the 
recommendations by stakeholders, including Welsh Tenants, TPAS, social landlords, the 
Welsh Local Government Association, and Community Housing Cymru. 
 
The recommendation to tender a national contract for support to the Welsh Government is 
perhaps the most significant recommendation in the report.  Its rationale is understood and 
broadly supported. However, procuring such a contract will take time and I aim to do it in 
consultation with stakeholders. Meanwhile, we are core-funding to support tenant 
participation and continue to work with TPAS and Welsh Tenants on the most effective way 
to use and to monitor this funding.   
 
We envisage core funding remaining in place until a contract is able to be tendered. Future 
years’ core funding would not be immune to further reductions as all Welsh Government 
funding programmes are under pressure. 
 

Pack Page 226



 
Home Adaptations 
 
As regards the Review of Home Adaptations and the Framework for Action on Independent 
Living, the review of adaptations is underway.  
 
The contract for the review was let in February 2014. A consortium involving Shelter, Tai 
Pawb and Cardiff Metropolitan University, amongst others, will explore and test potential 
changes to the structural and delivery mechanisms for independent living adaptations. 
Specifically, it will explore options for a system which can achieve the Welsh Government’s 
goal of consistently accessible, good quality adaptations delivered in all areas of Wales.  
The aim is to ensure that adaptations can be delivered more speedily to those who need 
them and, in doing so, help to reduce inherent inequalities in the current system by ensuring 
joined up solutions, prevention and early intervention activity. The research team is currently 
gathering evidence before formulating recommendations with a view to submitting their final 
report in the autumn.  
 
 
Framework for Action on Independent Living 

 
I note the Committee’s comments about the Framework and am fully apprised of the need 
to ensure that the review takes account of the Framework.  I have asked officials to remind 
the research team to keep the Framework in mind when developing recommendations. I 
look forward to seeing the final report and will make sure the Committee is provided with a 
copy.  
 
I trust this information assists the Committee’s considerations and I look forward to 
continuing to work closely with it. 
 
 

 
 
 
Carl Sargeant AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio 
Minister for Housing and Regeneration 
 

Pack Page 227



Annex 
 

Intermediate Care Fund Projects 
 
Cardiff 
A ‘Smart House’ has been created to raise awareness and provide an opportunity for 
older people and their family to see and try out what can be provided in the home 
environment. It will showcase the potential for independent living to prospective 
clients, and can also be used for staff training. It aims to encourage more 
independence, and an awareness of what can be done in the home, without care. 
 
Cardiff and the Vale 

A new project will be piloting preventative intervention through the Gateway service. 
The project will pilot a preventative approach by training a network of well positioned 
stakeholders (including GPs, Community Alarm Wardens, Care and Repair staff) to 
identify appropriate people to be referred to the Gateway.  The region is also 
developing a range of preventative and accommodation solutions to support older 
people at times of crisis (e.g. Hospital Discharge) or in response to the emerging 
physical requirements of older people. It will also be driven forward through the 
establishment of Interim Care Flats supported by care provider staff, and additional 
care support team. Preventative intervention and enablement services: Including 
working with Care and Repair and RNIB to deliver integrated services. 
 
Cwm Taf 

The integrated '@home' service will make better use of existing resources, as well as 
harness additional resources in the programme. The outcome will be more people 
offered support, care and treatment at home. This is as part of its “create a whole 
system approach”, promoting healthy interdependence for older people. 
 
Also in Cwm Taf, work will enhance housing options and adaptations services. This 
will involve placing housing, people's need for well-planned accommodation and/or 
adaptations as a critical feature of people being and feeling safe to remain in their 
own home.  
 
North Wales  
Step up and step down provision will be increased and the Rapid Response 
Adaptations Service will be expanded to minor adaptations and repairs for 
individuals, focussing on timely discharge and admission.  
 
In Anglesey two Community Hubs will also be developed on two designated 
sheltered accommodation complexes.  
 
Gwynedd will pilot co-located health and social care offices in acute hospitals to aid 
communication, reduce handovers and share capacity as key outcomes.  
 
In Wrexham “Wander Guards” will be installed within all council sheltered units to 
enable independent living for tenants with dementia.  
 
In Denbighshire a Sheltered Housing Unit will be refurbished to pilot a range of 
services, including step up and step down provision, provision of respite for carers, 
and an alternative setting whilst adaptations are carried out at home. This will be 
supported by a 7 days support multidisciplinary team from Enhanced Care at home, 
Community Therapies and Reablement. 
 

Pack Page 228



 

Bae Caerdydd 

Caerdydd 

CF99 1NA 

Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Ffôn / Tel: 029 2089 8731 

E-bost / Email: darren.millar@wales.gov.uk 

Web/Gwe: www.darrenmillaram.com  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 

CELG(4)-23-14 Paper 3 
 
 

  
 
 

 

 

Dear Christine 
 
Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill  
 
I am writing following my appearance before the Committee on 25 June.  
 
As I outlined during the meeting, there is general support for the need to update the licensing 
regime for holiday caravan sites and for many provisions in the Bill including: 
 

 Requirements for written agreements between site and caravan owners; 

 Powers for local authorities to charge fees for site licences; 

 The requirement to consult with flood-risk management agencies when issuing a site 
licence;  

 The removal of a duty requiring local authorities to automatically issue a site licence 
where planning permissions exist.  

 
However, some other issues have been the subject of much discussion.  During the meeting 
I outlined a number of changes that I proposed to make to the Bill to should it progress to 
Stage 2 to address these issues.  The changes I outlined will ensure that the Bill is a 
proportionate response to the need to modernise legislation in this area. 
 

Darren Millar AM / AC 

Ref: CA/SG/CC 
 
9th July 2014 

 
Christine Chapman AM 
Chair 
Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Tŷ Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff   
CF99 1NA                                                                                      

Pack Page 229



2 

 

To assist the Committee’s consideration of the Bill, I thought it would be helpful to summarise 
the main changes I intend to bring forward.  
 
Fit and Proper Person Test 
 
The Test set out in the Bill is based on the similar one in the Mobile Homes Act 2013, with 
some additional protection on trading standards issues.   
 
I remain of the view that an appropriate Fit and Proper Person Test is needed to protect 
vulnerable consumers and ensure that sites are safe and well managed.   
 
However, a number of witnesses and Members have made the point that the inclusion of 
breaches of housing law in the test is overly prescriptive and is not appropriate given that 
holiday caravans are not permanent dwellings. I think there is considerable merit to that 
argument. 
 
Therefore, if the Bill proceeds to Stage 2, I intend to bring forward an amendment to Section 
34 to remove references to housing law as a factor in the Fit and Proper Person Test.   
 
I will also consider bringing forward other amendments to ensure that the test is focused on 
the key issues of fraud, dishonesty, and equality, which I think are the essential protections 
appropriate to this sector. 
 
Frequency of Inspections 
 
Frequency of Inspections is another issue that has been raised by witnesses and Members.  
The Bill currently sets a maximum period between inspections of 3 years.  I continue to 
believe that it is important that there should be a statutory maximum period of time between 
inspections. 
 
However, there are concerns that local authorities may have difficulty in carrying out 
inspections every three years – particularly if they also carry out more frequent, risk-based, 
inspections of some sites - and that it could be an excessive intrusion on well-run caravan 
sites.   
 
Again, I have been persuaded by these arguments. Therefore, to address these concerns 
should the Bill proceed to Stage 2, I intend to bring forward an amendment to Section 16 to 
increase the maximum period between inspections from 3 years to 5 years. 
 
The provisions already in the Bill [S16(2)], which require the Welsh Government to consult 
industry bodies and others before commencing the duty to inspect, will also help to ensure 
that the new inspection regime will be introduced sensitively and over an appropriate 
timescale.  
 
Residence Test 
 
I have noted the scepticism from some quarters regarding the evidence in relation to the 
residential misuse of holiday caravans. I continue to maintain that there is evidence that 
points to people using holiday caravans as their main home and note Professor Forthergill’s 
evidence to the Committee, which supports this view.  I also believe that this is a problem 
that has the potential to damage the holiday caravan industry and, consequently, the wider 
tourism economy in the longer term.  
 
 

Pack Page 230



3 

 

The provisions in Part 4 of the Bill regarding requirements for written agreements between 
holiday caravan owners and site owners will help to deter and redress the problem of 
residential misuse to some extent, but I remain convinced that  there also needs to be a 
robust mechanism for addressing the issue of permanent residency, when it is identified. 
 
I have considered whether this can be addressed through updating the model standards, 
which were last updated in 1989, or through issuing Ministerial guidance.  The legal advice I 
have received, which I outlined at the meeting, is that the model standards cannot make any 
provision in relation to residency; nor can they require written agreements between site 
owners and caravan owners.   
 
I have also been advised that there does not seem to be any obvious and clear Ministerial 
power that would allow Ministers to direct local authorities to enforce the law more rigorously 
in this area.  
 
Whilst Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to local authorities on any matter, that guidance 
cannot address the need for additional resources via the introduction of a fee regime for site 
inspections, nor can it be used to place duties on local authorities regarding inspection or 
enforcement. 
 
Nevertheless, I have listened carefully to what witnesses have said, and I have reconsidered 
how the Bill can best achieve the right balance in this area. Therefore,  should the Bill 
proceed, I intend to bring forward amendments to Part 3 of the Bill to remove the compulsory 
residence test and replace it with a discretionary power for local authorities to conduct 
residence tests where they have a suspicion that residential misuse is a factor on a site. 
 
This will be in keeping with the risk-based approach to inspection elsewhere in the Bill and 
ensure that particular local and regional problems can be dealt with effectively, while not 
requiring an intrusive approach in areas where permanent occupation has not been identified 
as a problem. 
 
These changes to the frequency of inspections and the application of a residence test will 
reduce costs of licensing fees over 5 years by approximately 24%. As a result, an estimated 
annual licence fee of £122 per site is expected, just £2.61 per pitch per annum. The overall 
estimated costs of the Bill over 5 years would be reduced by 28%.  I attach further details 
about the basis for these figures, which I hope you will find helpful. 
 
Written Statements 
 
In addition to the above changes, Jocelyn Davies asked me during the meeting about the 
application of Section 55 of the Bill.  In particular the requirement that site owners must 
provide occupiers with a written statement of the particulars of a holiday caravan agreement 
no later than 28 days before the date on which the agreement is made. There was a concern 
that this would put the industry in Wales at a competitive disadvantage compared to other 
parts of the UK where no such time constraint existed.  As I indicated during the evidence 
session, this was the first time that concerns regarding these provisions had been raised with 
me. 
 
As I explained in response to Jocelyn Davies, the 28 day period can be shortened to any 
shorter period with the consent of the proposed occupier.  This should ensure that 
agreements could be entered into quickly if both sides agreed.  However, under Section 
55(3), this would not apply where the holiday caravan is being sold by the site owner to the 
proposed occupier. 
 

Pack Page 231



4 

 

I believe that the requirement for a written statement of particulars, provided in advance, 
remains an important safeguard for caravan occupiers. However, it was not part of my 
intention that this should become a way of frustrating site owners and occupiers from 
reaching earlier agreement where they wished.  Therefore, should the Bill proceed to Stage 
2, I intend to bring forward an amendment to delete the final part of S55(3) so that the 28 day 
period can be reduced by agreement in all circumstances.   
 
I am very grateful to the Committee for helping me to identify this issue and I trust that the 
solution I propose will address the concerns expressed. 
 
Exemptions 
 
Finally, in your letter of 9 May you sought clarification on the exemptions in the Bill for certain 
sites and organisations. I’m afraid through an oversight I did not respond to this point in my 
letter to you of 29 May.  Please accept my apologies for this. 
 
The exemptions in question are set out in Schedule 1 of the Bill.  This maintains all of the 
exemptions previously contained in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960, 
without substantive changes.   
 
I have noted a concern raised by the Caravan Club that paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 refers to 
holiday caravan sites ‘owned’ by an organisation which holds a certificate of exemption.  
They have pointed out that the equivalent part of the 1960 Act refers instead to sites 
‘occupied’ by organisations with exemption certificates. 
 
The use of ‘owner’ does not make any substantive change to the position as set out in the 
1960 Act.  This is because the Bill (Section 5) defines the meaning of ‘owner’ in the same 
substantive way that ‘occupier’ is defined in the 1960 Act.  The change in terminology is 
simply for consistency with that used in the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 and to reflect 
modern legislative drafting conventions. 
 
I trust that this letter is of assistance to the Committee. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Darren Millar AM  

Pack Page 232



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 233

Agenda Item 5By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 237

Agenda Item 6By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 242

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill:  Evidence  Session 1: Lesley Griffiths, Minister for Local Government and Government Business
	Policy Intent Statement for Gender-based Violence Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill (A) PDF (3).pdf
	Policy Intent Statement for Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill (A).docx

	Multi Agency Fora Guidance - English (A) pdf.pdf
	Multi Agency Fora Guidance - English (A) for pdf.doc

	National Training Framework Guidance - English (A) PDF.pdf
	National Training Framework Guidance - English (A) for PDF.doc

	Ask and Act guidance - English (A) PDF.pdf
	Ask and Act guidance - English (A) for PDF.doc

	Research Service Briefing

	3 Papers to note
	CELG(4)-23-14 Paper 2
	CELG(4)-23-14 Paper 3

	5 Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill -  Discussion of evidence and future evidence sessions
	6 Holiday Caravan Sites (Wales) Bill: Key Issues
	Summary of evidence




